

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

4-10-2024

Strategies to Reduce Business Costs Associated with Employee Financial Stress

Gordon Ward Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Walden University

College of Management and Human Potential

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Gordon B. Ward

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. William Stokes, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Gregory Uche, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2024

Abstract

Strategies to Reduce Business Costs Associated with Employee Financial Stress

by

Gordon B. Ward

MS, Baruch College, 1999

MS, Carnegie Mellon University, 1991

BS, College of William & Mary, 1986

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

April 2024

Abstract

Employee financial stress has a negative impact on employees' mental health, productivity, benefit plan costs, and organizational profits. Employers are increasingly concerned with developing strategies to reduce the business costs resulting from employee financial stress. Based on self-determination theory, the purpose of this qualitative pragmatic inquiry study was to explore strategies to reduce business costs associated with employee financial stress. The participants were five human resources/benefit managers who developed strategies to reduce the business costs associated with employee financial stress. Data were collected using semistructured interviews and a review of organizational information collected through public sources. Through thematic analysis, three themes were identified: employee financial wellbeing, diversified delivery, and external collaboration. A key recommendation is for human resource/benefit managers to develop strategies based on a blended learning approach specific to their respective organizations. The implications for positive social change include the potential to empower employees to make informed decisions about their finances, providing economic benefits that extend beyond the workplace to the local community.

Strategies to Reduce Business Costs Associated with Employee Financial Stress

by

Gordon B. Ward

MS, Baruch College, 1999

MS, Carnegie Mellon University, 1991

BS, College of William & Mary, 1986

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

April 2024

Dedication

This piece of academic work is dedicated to my parents, Juanita O. Ward and Eric J. Ward. As former educators within the New York City Board of Education system, my parents instilled in me a love of learning for which I am eternally grateful. To my daughters Alyssa, Ashley, and Ariana, thank you for your love and encouragement. I am also grateful to my brothers E. Jay Ward and Bruce A. Ward, in addition to numerous friends who supported me throughout this journey.

Acknowledgments

I sincerely thank my doctoral chair, Dr. William B. Stokes, for providing his guidance, support, and patience to help me complete this very important journey in my life. Earning my doctorate has been a lifetime goal of mine, and I am forever indebted to Dr. Stokes for helping me achieve this personal milestone. I would also like to thank my other committee member, Dr. Gregory N. Uche, for his insightful edits. I was fortunate to have both Dr. Stokes and Dr. Uche guide me through this process. Lastly, I want to thank God, for without Him, this achievement would not have been possible.

Table of Contents

Section 1: Foundation of the Study1
Background of the Problem
Problem and Purpose
Population and Sampling
Nature of the Study4
Research Question6
Interview Questions6
Conceptual Framework6
Operational Definitions7
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations
Assumptions
Limitations9
Delimitations
Significance of the Study10
Contribution to Business Practice
Implications for Social Change
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature
Literature Review
Motivation and Self-Determination Theory
Intrinsic and Extrinsic Motivation
Shortcomings of Intrinsic and Extrinsic Motivation

	Different Viewpoints on Motivation	. 28
	Maslow's Hierarchy of Needs	. 29
	Herzberg's Two-Factor Theory	. 30
	Expectancy-Value Theory	. 31
	Motivation Theories: Different Approaches Same Assumptions	. 32
	Employee Financial Stress	. 33
	Employee Financial Stress Impact on Productivity	. 36
	Absenteeism	. 39
	Presenteeism	. 40
	Employers' Motivation to Address Employee Financial Stress	. 43
	Employee Financial Wellness Programs	. 46
	Financial Education and Literacy	. 49
	Financial Wellness Programs Limitations	. 51
	Conclusion	. 52
T	ransition	54
Section	on 2: The Project	56
P	urpose Statement	56
R	ole of the Researcher	56
P	articipants	60
R	esearch Method and Design	66
	Research Method	. 67
	Research Design.	. 69

Population and Sampling	74
Ethical Research	76
Incentives to Participate	78
Protecting Research Participants	80
Data Collection Instruments	83
Data Collection Technique	86
Data Organization Technique	89
Data Analysis	90
Reliability and Validity	92
Reliability	93
Validity	94
Credibility	94
Transition and Summary	97
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	98
Introduction	98
Presentation of the Findings	99
Theme 1: Employee Financial Wellbeing	100
Theme 2: Strategy Diversification	104
Theme 3: External Collaboration	107
Research Triangulation	110
Applications to Professional Practice	111
Professional Practice and Employee Wellbeing	112

Professional Practice and Learning Styles	113	
Professional Practice and Partnerships	114	
Implications for Social Change	115	
Recommendations for Action	118	
Recommendations for Further Research.	119	
Reflections	121	
Conclusion	122	
References		
Appendix: Interview Protocol1		

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Financial stress refers to the distressed emotional reaction associated with individuals' perceived likelihood of the occurrence of unwanted and threatening events related to income loss and financial difficulties (Petitta et al., 2020). Similarly, Ren et al. (2021) defined financial stress as an individual's perception of financial inadequacy and financial concerns and worries. Furthermore, financial stress is a category of stress that deals specifically with peoples' perspective of their financial situation (George & Kane, 2016). According to Bonner (2016), financial distress affects individuals both mentally and physically, which impacts the quality of an individual's personal life and work. Consequently, employers are examining the business costs associated with employee financial stress given that workers' financial problems and the accompanying stress have a negative impact on employees' behavior, productivity, benefit plan costs and organizational profits (Bonner, 2016).

Background of the Problem

Financial stress has direct negative effects on costs and profitability (Drake et al., 2019). For example, employees distracted by financial issues are less mentally present and productive at work (Despard et al., 2020). Furthermore, Ren et al. (2021) found that financial concerns contributed to presenteeism and absenteeism at work of employees. George and Kane (2016) reported that the inability to focus on work is one of the symptoms of financial stress, and human resources professionals agree that financial stress has an impact on their employees' performance in the workplace. In addition, personal financial stress is evident at the workplace through absenteeism, turnover,

presenteeism, wage garnishments, employee theft, and 401(k) loans (Drake, 2019). Given the negative impact of employee financial stress, few organizations can afford to have employees mentally and emotionally absent and not be engaged on the job due to financial distractions (Pyron & Pettus, 2019).

Bonner (2016) placed the cost of workplace stress in the United States at nearly \$300 billion a year. In terms of employee financial stress, George and Kane (2016) claimed that the cost of employee financial stress to an employer is around \$5,000 per employee per year. Alternatively, Bonner cited a lower employer cost and reported that employee financial stress costs to an employer in the range of \$750 to \$2,000 per employee annually. From a productivity standpoint, individuals experiencing financial stress lose significantly more hours of productivity than those who do not experience financial stress (Winick, 2019). Factors such as absenteeism, presenteeism, turnover, and health-related costs can all contribute to reduced employee productivity, with estimates that these combined costs can total as much as 15% to 20% of a company's total compensation paid to its employees (Menard, 2017). Therefore, due to the negative financial impact that employee financial stress has on organizational costs, employers need to develop strategies to reduce employee financial stress.

Problem and Purpose

The specific business problem is human resources managers lack successful strategies to reduce business costs associated with employee financial stress. Therefore, the purpose of this qualitative, pragmatic inquiry study is to explore strategies used by human resources managers to reduce business costs associated with employee financial

stress. I will conduct this study using a pragmatic inquiry research design. According to Kelly and Cordeiro (2020), pragmatic inquiry recognizes that individuals within social settings (including organizations) can experience action and change differently, and this encourages them to be flexible in their investigative techniques. Moreover, a pragmatic approach means strategically combining and borrowing from established qualitative approaches to meet the needs of a given study (Ramanadhan et al., 2021).

Population and Sampling

The targeted population will consist of five human resources managers who have sponsored initiatives within their respective organizations to address employee financial stress. The sample size for this study consisted of four organizations that were selected using a purposive sample method. A purposive sample is one whose characteristics are defined for a purpose that is relevant to the study (Andrade, 2021). The selected participants are employees of these organizations who have sponsored company-wide financial wellness financial education onsite meetings and webinars. I collected data for this study from several sources including interview data obtained from virtual interviews with these individuals, in addition to company documents obtained through public sources. I gained access to the human resource managers through the retirement plan provider's senior relationship manager assigned to this organization who contacted the human resource managers on my behalf to inquire about their willingness to participate in the survey. As the researcher, I am also an employee of the retirement plan provider.

Nature of the Study

The choice of research methodology is a vital element within a doctoral study (McKenna et al, 2021). Quantitative research methods deal with numbers and amounts for describing an event that support the hypotheses and predication modal, whereas qualitative research refers to subjective non-quantitative data, using different methods of collecting data, analyzing data, and interpreting data (Pawar, 2020). Mixed method research, according to Pawar (2020), includes the mixing of both qualitative and quantitative data. I used a qualitative method for this study to explore the strategies used by human resource managers to reduce employee financial stress. The qualitative method is appropriate for this study because qualitative research can be defined as a systematic and subjective approach to describe or understand life experiences and make sense of them (Delgado-Hito & Romero-García, 2021). Thus, a quantitative research method was not chosen as quantitative research is used to determine the relationship between variables (Yue & Xu, 2019). Furthermore, mixed method was not selected as mixed method research involves at least one quantitative method and one qualitative method (Liu, 2022).

Researchers may use such qualitative research designs as narrative research, phenomenological research, grounded theory research, ethnographic research, pragmatic inquiry research, and case study research (Renjith et al., 2021). I selected a pragmatic inquiry design. Researchers use the phenomenological design to examine an individual's life experience and are appropriate in studies about the life experiences of a concept or phenomenon experienced by one or more individuals (Mohajan, 2018). Additional

research designs such as ethnographical research, is utilized when the researcher engages in prolonged observations from a group, and these group behaviors, values, and interactions are studied, described, and interpreted by the researcher, as claimed by Mohajan (2018). Lastly, narrative research focuses on people's narratives either about themselves or a set of events and concentrates on the sequential unfolding of someone's story so there is an emphasis on characters (Mohajan, 2018). While these types of research designs are appropriate for certain types of qualitative studies, for the purpose of this doctoral study, a pragmatic inquiry design is the more appropriate choice.

The rationale behind this choice is that pragmatism, as a paradigm, is based upon the premise of utilizing the best methods to investigate real-world problems, allowing for the use of multiple sources of data and knowledge to answer research questions (Allemang et al., 2022). Furthermore, a pragmatic inquiry was selected as an appropriate research design given that pragmatist thinkers have always sought to engage directly with and be relevant to workplace management (Simpson & den Hond, 2022). Therefore, according to Allemang et al. (2022), the goal of pragmatic research is to utilize human experience as the primary means for building knowledge and understanding the world. This is strengthened through presentation and analysis of pragmatism that when applied to research on organizational processes, provide the rationale for pragmatism as a worthy and useful paradigm to guide research (Kelly & Cordeiro, 2022).

Research Question

What strategies do human resources managers use to reduce business costs associated with employee financial stress?

Interview Questions

- 1. What were the motivating factors that caused you to implement strategies to address employee financial stress?
- 2. What types of strategies do you utilize to address employee financial stress?
- 3. How does you determine the effectiveness of these strategies?
- 4. What strategies are the most effective to address employee financial stress?
- 5. What strategies are the least effective to address employee financial stress?
- 6. What do you hope that employees gain from participating in strategies that address financial stress?
- 7. What do you hope to gain by offering strategies that address financial stress?
- 8. What do you think you could do to improve the effectiveness of your financial stress strategies?
- 9. What role do any external partners play in participating in your financial stress strategies?
- 10. What else would you like to share about your financial stress strategies?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework for this study is the self-determination theory which was developed in 1985 through the findings of psychologists Edward Deci and Richard Ryan (Deci & Ryan, 2008). Self-determination theory focuses on different types of

motivation based on the different reasons or goals (Ryan & Deci, 2000). According to Rigby and Ryan (2018), self-determination theory describes several types of motivation based on various motivational forces underlying a person's behaviors.

Self-determination theory is a comprehensive theory of human motivation that examines how social contexts and individual differences facilitate different types of motivation, which can expand to assist in an individual's learning, performance, positive experiences, and well-being (Wang et al., 2020). Kramer et al. (2021) stated that individuals' actions are derived from intrinsic motivations, whereby rewards are primarily feelings of satisfaction resulting from the activities or from exercising one's capacities, and extrinsic motivations whereby some external reward or approval is obtained.

Therefore, as applied to this study, self-determination theory will enable me to examine the motivational factors behind employers offering strategies to assist employees undergoing financial stress.

Operational Definitions

Absenteeism: Absenteeism is defined as absence due to a work-related health problem (Bae, 2021). Furthermore, absenteeism can be defined as physical removal from a particular workplace, either for part of a day, an entire day, or permanently (Sanchez-Gomez et al., 2021).

Employee financial wellness programs: Employee financial wellness program is defined as a new strategy for dealing with the financial stress experienced by many employees (Malkowska et al., 2022). Employee financial wellness programs benefits

include financial counseling, small-dollar loans, and savings programs that address employees' nonretirement financial needs (Despard et al., 2020).

Financial literacy: Financial literacy involves a combination of awareness, knowledge, skills, attitudes, and behaviors that are needed to make sound financial decisions and ultimately to achieve individual financial well-being (Németh et al., 2022). Moreover, financial literacy empowers an individual to achieve a better understanding of financial markets and the risk and return associated with various investment avenues (Gupta & Hanagandi, 2022).

Financial stress: Financial stress is a category of stress that deals specifically with peoples' perspective of their financial situation (George & Kane, 2016). In addition, financial stress is defined as a combination of physical arousal and emotional responses influenced by financial stimuli (Choi et al., 2020).

Presenteeism: Presenteeism is a loss of productivity caused by workers presenting to work despite having a health problem (Bae, 2021). Additionally, presenteeism is defined as health-related productivity loss while at paid work (Mori et al., 2022).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions in research are findings based on previous experience, according to Hagger and Chatzisarantis (2009). Almasri and McDonald (2021) stated that researchers, whether knowingly or unknowingly, bring assumptions to their research. For this reason, assumptions can result in erroneous research conclusions due to over-generalizations of validity and reliability when such generalizations are unfounded (Hagger &

Chatzisarantis, 2009). Coates (2021) claimed that for researchers, reporting assumptions is required for serious reflection on the foundation of the research, and to support the researcher in developing a clear framework that can direct practice and reduce biases. Thus, three assumptions have been identified for this research. The first assumption is that the selected participants would have the knowledge base to represent and respond to their respective organizations. The second assumption is that the participants would willingly share their experiences and perceptions of their respective strategies to reduce employee financial stress. Lastly, the third assumption is that the participants' responses are truthful.

Limitations

Limitations of any study generally concern potential weaknesses beyond the researcher's control, and are closely associated with the chosen research design, statistical model constraints, funding constraints, or other factors, as identified by Theofanidis and Fountouki (2018). Moreover, study limitations represent weaknesses within a research design that may influence outcomes and conclusions of the research (Ross & Bibler Zaidi, 2019). One such research limitation, bias, can be found in research studies through a commitment to a theory, the selection of research questions, choice of research methods, and evaluation and interpretation of data (Ellsworth, 2021). One limitation of this study includes research bias, in which bias occurs when researchers influence the results of an empirical study based on their expectations, either consciously or unconsciously (Romano et al., 2021). Selection bias is an additional type of research bias and occurs when subjects are prospectively identified after cluster randomization;

and participant bias in which participants may provide biased input by responding to questions they believe are favorable to the researcher rather than their authentic response (Li et al., 2022). Attempts were made to reduce such biases. Selection bias is a limitation to this study as participants selected are from organizations that have indicated an interest in addressing their employees' financial well-being.

Delimitations

Delimitations are concerned with the definitions that the researchers decide to set as the boundaries or limits of their work so that the study's aims and objectives do not become impossible to achieve (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). According to Coker (2022), the delimitations of a study come from the limitations in the scope of the study that define the study's boundaries and by the deliberate exclusionary and inclusionary decisions made during the study's development. Moreover, Theofanidis and Fountouki (2018) stated that delimitations are the definitions that researchers decide to set as the boundaries or limits of their work so that the study's goals and objectives do not become impossible to achieve. In addition, delimitations need to be outlined in terms of what will, and will not, be researched as well as a conscious, rational choice to make the proposed research project manageable (Coker, 2022). One delimitation of this study includes population and organizational size, as the participants are all clients of the same defined contribution record keeper with at least \$500 million in retirement plan assets.

Significance of the Study

This qualitative study is significant because employee financial stress severely affects an organization's bottom line. The goal of this study is to explore strategies used

by human resources managers to address employee financial stress within their respective organizations, and to better understand how reducing employee financial stress could provide positive social change to the broader business community. Addressing employee financial stress could contribute to the general business practices of specific organizations and have implications for positive social change on a broader scale.

Contribution to Business Practice

The purpose of this study is to explore strategies human resource managers use to address employee financial stress. Verne (2014) stated that financial stress affects many employees in the United States, therefore addressing this issue should be a concern to every employer. Absenteeism, turnover, presenteeism, wage garnishments, employee theft, and 401(k) loans are several impacts connected to personal financial stress, as employee financial stress has direct negative effects on costs and profitability (Drake et al., 2019). The findings of this study have the potential to help similar organizational leaders to develop successful strategies to reduce employee financial stress within their respective organizations. These strategies can be used by company leaders to increase productivity and reduce healthcare costs associated with employee financial stress.

Implications for Social Change

The implications for positive social change of this study include providing organizations with knowledge of successful strategies to reduce employee financial stress. According to Sinclair and Cheung (2016), money is the most important resource derived from work and the most important source of stress for employees. Thus, it can be socially optimal to raise financial knowledge for everyone, as financial literacy should be

recognized as a skill essential for participation in today's economy (Lusardi & Mitchell, 2014). Furthermore, according to Kurowski (2021), persons who are financially literate make healthy everyday decisions regarding the management of a household budget and adequate financial education of a society may contribute to the better preparation of households for a crisis period. Therefore, the benefits of assisting employees address their financial stress extend beyond the walls of the workplace and can provide benefits to society, in general.

Financial stress causes depression, anxiety, poor academic performance, unscheduled absence from work and negatively affects individual health, self-esteem, marriage satisfaction, parenting role and family functions (Jayasekara et al., 2020). Moreover, economic hardship places stress on family relationships which can make some more vulnerable to abuse and violence (Friedline et al., 2021). According to Fenton-O'Creevy and Furnham (2021), the determinants of adult financial distress and financial well-being matter because they affect a person's health and general welfare. Furthermore, in addition to the positive benefits that organizations can receive by addressing employee financial stress, promoting better financial management for households could assist in saving resources from the government (Friedline et al., 2021). Therefore, there is a need for financial education to prevent serious financial problems and distress (Fenton-O'Creevy & Furnham, 2021).

Results of this study could increase individuals' knowledge of financial literacy.

Increasing individual financial literacy knowledge provides societal benefits as financial education programs and counseling services can enable individuals to learn and develop

coping strategies to manage their financial worries (Ryu & Fan, 2023). Given that employee financial stress also negatively impacts government costs, public health and policy interventions should be developed and implemented to promote protective factors that decrease the risk of psychological distress following experiences of financial worries (Ryu & Fan, 2023). Thus, there should be a focus on the development and improvement of financial literacy programs for society, as financial literacy is one of the relevant facts in improving the economy (Dewanty & Isbanah, 2018). Moreover, these programs could focus on providing sufficient resources for and attention to individuals who are especially vulnerable to financially related psychological distress, such as the unmarried, unemployed, low-income households, and renters (Dewanty & Isbanah, 2018). However, earlier prevention (in the form of education) is a better solution than post-treatment (in the form of economic policy activity), as adequate financial education of a society may contribute to the better preparation of households for a crisis period (Kurowski, 2021).

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this qualitative, pragmatic inquiry is to explore strategies used by human resources managers to reduce business costs associated with employee financial stress. Therefore, this literature review covered the processes required to search for past and current topics, discussion on the associated issues between employee financial stress and the negative impact this stress has on organizations, and how self-determination theory might provide an explanation on why human resource managers develop strategies to address employee financial stress. This will be followed by a review of recent articles on the impact that employee financial stress has on organizations. The search for material

supporting this study consisted of journals, reports, and scholarly books in the Walden University Library. Search engines utilized included Business Source Complete, ABI/INFORM Complete, Emerald Management, and Academic Search Complete. In addition to resources provided by Walden University, additional articles were found using Google Scholar. The primary search terms used for research were *employee financial stress, financial well-being, employee financial wellness programs, and financial literacy*. Over 95% of the total research material used in my study was published within the last 5 years, with 85% of the research material coming from peer reviewed sources from the period of 2018 to 2023. The information obtained from the multiple sources demonstrates the association between employee financial stress and costs to organizations, employee financial wellness programs, and financial literacy. From a timeframe standpoint, the scope of literature ranged from 2000 to 2023.

Literature Review

The purpose of this qualitative, pragmatic inquiry is to explore strategies human resource managers use to reduce business costs associated with employee financial stress. Addressing employee financial stress has become an important issue for organizations as a study conducted by PricewaterhouseCoopers estimated that \$3.3 million per year is lost due to employee financial stress (Sabri & Cheng-Xi Aw, 2020). Given the impact that employee financial stress on organizations, there is an urgency for companies to address employee financial stress (Despard et al., 2020). In addition, addressing employee well-being is a critical factor to organizations that are attempting to help employees stay happy and motivated at work (Sabri et al., 2020).

According to Sabri et al. (2020), a happy workforce means not only a productive workforce, but also a productive workplace. Maintaining a productive workplace is financially important to organizations, as Verne (2014) reported that employees distracted at work results in \$300 billion in lost productivity annually. Consequently, employers are interested in developing strategies to boost productivity and express care and concern for employees struggling with financial concerns (Despard et al., 2020). The interest in employers helping employees struggling with financial stress can be based on Copeland's (2018) belief that increasing workers' financial well-being can be beneficial not only to workers, but to the employer as well.

Motivation and Self-Determination Theory

The financial health of employees is increasingly becoming important in many organizations, as Fouché and Manyaapelo (2020) claimed that personal financial wellness not only contributes to the overall well-being of employees, but also affects their job productivity. Deci and Ryan's (2000) self-determination theory was the conceptual framework for this study. Self-determination theory was chosen as this theory examines the motivational factors behind employers offering strategies to assist employees undergoing financial stress. Moreover, self-determination theory could also examine employees' motivation to accept the strategies offered by employers to change individual employee financial behavior. Employee acceptance, and utilization, of employers' strategies is required if employer's strategies to reduce employee financial stress are to be successful.

Self-determination theory is a broad framework for understanding factors that facilitate or undermine intrinsic motivation, autonomous extrinsic motivation, and psychological wellness (Ryan & Deci, 2020). The first comprehensive statement of selfdetermination theory appeared in 1985 (Ryan & Deci, 2008). According to Ryan and Deci (2020), self-determination theory is an organismic theory that assumes people are inherently prone toward psychological growth and integration, and thus toward learning, mastery, and connection with others. self-determination theory is widely viewed as a prominent, macro theory of motivation (Heyns & Kerr, 2018). Based on selfdetermination theory, individuals' actions are guided from intrinsic motivations, where rewards are mainly feelings of satisfaction derived from the activities or from exercising one's capacities, and extrinsic motivations where an external reward or approval is gained, such as career opportunities and social activities (Kramer et al., 2021). However, additional views on self-determination theory indicated that instead of there being two types of motivation, rather there is a continuum of human motivation ranging from amotivation (not motivated), to extrinsic motivation (somewhat motivated), and lastly, to intrinsic motivation (most motivated) (Yee & Smith, 2022). The sentiment that under self-determination theory there exists a continuum is shared by Matsumoto and Takenaka, who stated that there is a continuum that designates autonomous motivation and controlled motivation (Matsumoto & Takenaka, 2022).

Autonomous motivation is composed of three types, namely, intrinsic motivation, integrated regulation, and identified regulation, while controlled motivation comprises introjected regulation and external regulation. According to Ren et al. (2021),

autonomous motivation is made up of both intrinsic motivation and identified motivation in which people identify with an activity's value and ideally have integrated this value into their sense of self. In contrast, controlled motivation, consists of both external regulation in which one's behavior is a function of external contingencies of reward or punishment, and introjected regulation, in which the regulation of action has been partially internalized and is energized by factors such as an approval motive, avoidance of shame, contingent self-esteem, and ego-involvements (Ren et al., 2021, p.2). Under autonomous motivation, as reported by Abdulla et al (2022), the action is performed for the fun and enjoyment of the action where there is a sense of volition and choice to perform this action, whereas in controlled motivation there exists a sense of pressure and instrumental demands. According to Akosile and Ekemen (2022), self-determination theory is the difference between controlled motivation and freedom, or autonomous, motivation.

Matsumoto and Takenaka (2022) stated that there are four different extrinsic motivations ranging from the most to the least self-determined. First, integrated regulation is the most self-determined and describes the behavior itself that is aligned with other core values assimilated with the person's identity (Matsumoto & Takenaka, 2022). Identified regulation is the second type of extrinsic motivation which encompasses the personal importance of engaging in an activity, as claimed by Matsumoto and Takenaka. Thirdly, introjected regulation coerces behavior to avoid negative emotions, for example, guilt or shame, or fuel contingent self-worth, as reported by Matsumoto and Takenaka. Lastly, Matsumoto and Takenaka reported that external regulation manages

behavior through a desire to appease outside demands, such as punishments and surveillance. However, while Matsumoto and Takenaka reported four types of extrinsic motivations, Ajlouni et al. (2022) claimed that extrinsic motivation, ranked from least to most, encompasses only three types of extrinsic motivation: (a) external regulation; (b) introjected regulation; (c) identified regulation. Under Ajlouni et al.'s analysis of extrinsic motivations integrated regulation is not mentioned. Ren et al. (2021) appear to agree with Ajlouni et al. and only referenced identified regulation, introjected regulation, and external regulation in their study.

The core rationale of self-determination theory, as stated by Liu et al. (2022), is that individuals have three innate psychological needs, and their degree of satisfaction is a prerequisite for boosting positive behavior at work and wellbeing. Matsumoto and Takenaka (2022) reported these three basic psychological needs are autonomy, competence, and relatedness, which scholars consider to be the building blocks for optimal motivation (Abdulla et al., 2022). Ajlouni et al. (2022) defined these basic psychological needs as: a) autonomy, in which individuals feel internally assent regarding their behavior and feel free of external constraints on behavior; b) competence, in which the individuals feel connected or skilled in their behavior and, c) relatedness, in which the individuals meaningfully feel connected or involved with others Furthermore, according to van der Vyver and Geduld (2022), these three basic psychological needs must first be met before individuals will experience the intrinsic motivation to learn, to engage with others, to perform in academic and organizational settings and to grow psychologically. As a result, self-determination theory considers the psychological needs of autonomy,

competence, and relatedness to be universal and innate needs, which all humans strive to meet and maintain (Bowling et al., 2020).

Intrinsic and Extrinsic Motivation

As stated earlier, self-determination theory divided motivation into intrinsic motivation and extrinsic motivation (Ren et al., 2021). According to Bowling et al. (2020), intrinsic motivation involves engaging in a task for sheer enjoyment or interest in it, whereas extrinsic motivation is engaging in a task due to a stimulus entirely outside of the task itself. Similarly, van der Vyver and Geduld (2022) stated that intrinsic motivation is evident when the drive behind a person's actions lies in the execution of a specific task, when the task is inherently interesting or enjoyable, even when no external rewards are required. Therefore, under this definition, employers would be motivated to assist employees undergoing financial stress based entirely on the satisfaction received from the employer for aiding the employee. Under this scenario, no other benefit to the employer is required. In contrast, extrinsic motivation is observable when an activity is performed to attain a specific outcome, not because of inherent satisfaction but in reaction to some external stimulus or reward which may be in the form of negative or positive reinforcement (Ryan & Deci, 2000). Positive reinforcement includes rewards, while negative reinforcement includes punishment. Thus, managers may be motivated in aiding employees undergoing financial stress to receive a reward such as a bonus or promotion, or to avoid punishment such as a demotion or termination.

According to Lee et al. (2022), motivation is derived from the Latin verb movere "to move," and is explained as the mental drive that causes a behavior or that determines

the direction and characteristic of the behavior. In Latin, intrinsic motivation is 'preparationem cordis intrinsecus' and the Latin term for extrinsic motivation is 'causam extrinsecam' (Lee et al., 2022). Motivation, as defined by Ramalingam and Jiar (2022), is a strong desire or strong spirit in a person that motivates him/her to strive and do something to achieve his or her objectives. Motivation is a term that relates to three fundamental questions concerning behavior regulation: what energizes action, how it is directed, and to what extent it is voluntarily controlled (Semedo et al., 2022). Further, Morris et al. (2022) claimed that motivation is an integral component of human experience.

As motivation pertains to work, Haque et al. (2014) reported that work motivation may be regarded as a set of internal and external forces that initiate work-related behavior, and determine its form, direction, intensity, and duration. Work motivation has been a central topic in organizational studies (Semedo et al., 2022). Moreover, Chien et al. (2020) stated that work motivation is an essential organizational research priority as it provides information that helps to understand employee performance and encourages employees to do their job and moves them toward attaining both personal and organizational goals. Importantly, the function of labor motivation is an essential structural element of the general system of company (Rudov et al., 2017). Therefore, additional research needs to examine if human resources managers are motivated to assist employees experiencing financial stress because of intrinsic motivation, extrinsic motivation, or possibly, both types of motivation.

Self-determination theory research began with a focus on intrinsic motivation (Ryan & Deci, 2020). Intrinsic motivation manifests when the drive behind a person's actions lies in the execution of a specific task, when the task is inherently interesting or enjoyable, even when no external rewards are required (van der Vyver & Geduld, 2022). Moreover, an individual can be driven by intrinsic motivation originating within the self and resulting from an individual's interest in the activity itself (Liu et al., 2022). Under these scenarios, the rationale behind assisting employees with financial stress can be attributed to an employer's desire to help others based on the satisfaction that they will receive for providing this help. Chien et al. (2020) cited achievement, accomplishment, challenge, and competence which are derived from performing one's job well as examples of intrinsic motivation. According to Kramer et al. (2021), self-determination theory suggests that intrinsic motivations lead to higher satisfaction than extrinsic motivations. However, while intrinsic motivation may lead to higher satisfaction than extrinsic motivation, Ryan and Deci (2000) stated that most of the activities people do are not, strictly speaking, intrinsically motivated. This can certainly be applied to work motivation where the assumption can be made that an individual's primary motivation to go to work in the first place is based on external rewards such as a paycheck.

Extrinsic motivation, under self-determination theory, refers to undertaking an action because it leads to a separable outcome (Ryan & Deci, 2000). According to Bowling et al. (2020), extrinsic motivation is engaging in a task due to a stimulus entirely outside of the task itself. In contrast to intrinsic motivation, extrinsic motivation as explained by Chien et al. (2020), relates to external factors such as work environment,

salary, and other external influencers. Additionally, salary, fringe benefits, enabling policies, and various forms of supervision are prime examples of extrinsic motivation (Chien et al., 2020). However, Derfler-Rozin and Pitesa (2020) explained that paying for performance is detrimental to intrinsic motivation, and that it can enhance extrinsic motivation, which was assumed to be lower in quality and not as sustainable long term in terms of performance and well-being. Similarly, Wang, et al. (2019) stated that, because extrinsic motivation is guided on environmental, or external, reinforcements, motivation based exclusively on extrinsic motivation is not self-sustainable. However, under the concept of internalization external factors can be assimilated and transformed into users' internal endorsed regulations (Sun et al., 2022). Furthermore, Sun et al. (2022) claimed that when extrinsic motivation implies one's self-worth and achievement can be acknowledged by the performance of one's contributing knowledge, it may internalize into intrinsic motivation and subsequently heighten individuals' desire to contribute. As a result, an activity that might have been initially extrinsically motivated could potentially develop into being intrinsically motivated. Therefore, intrinsic and extrinsic motivations are not necessarily mutually exclusive (Zhang & Liu, 2022).

According to self-determination theory, paradoxical leaders could simultaneously initiate a top-down, extrinsic mechanism to enforce requirements and a bottom-up, intrinsic mechanism to stimulate individual discretion (Zhang & Liu, 2022). In this scenario, an individual can be motivated to undertake an activity based on both intrinsic and extrinsic motivation. Therefore, employers can be motivated to assist employees with financial stress based on the satisfaction received by helping employees, in addition to an

external reward provided to the employer for reaching organizational goals due to reducing employee financial stress. In addition, the driving force behind an individual's motivation can change from intrinsic to extrinsic and vice versa. For example, a person might originally get exposed to an activity because of an external regulation (e.g., a reward), and (if the reward is not perceived as too controlling) such exposure might allow the person to experience the activity's intrinsically interesting properties, resulting in an orientation shift (Ryan & Deci, 2000). Alternatively, Ryan and Deci (2000) stated that a person who has identified with the value of an activity might lose that sense of value under a controlling mentor and move "backward" into an external regulatory mode. Given that motivation is dynamic, efforts to understand the needs of employees must be accompanied by the formulation of effective work policies and procedures, as efforts to motivate employees one year may not be as effective the following year (Ramadhan et al., 2021).

As motivation pertains to the workplace, work motivation has been a central topic in organizational studies (Semedo et al., 2022). According to Rudov et al. (2017), the function of labor motivation is an essential structural element of the general system of the company. Chien et al. (2020) reiterated that work motivation is an essential organizational research priority as it provides information that helps to understand employee performance and encourages employees to do their job and moves them toward attaining both personal and organizational goals. Along those lines, Ramadhan et al. (2021) stated that the importance of motivation for employees is to mobilize and direct the potential and workforce and organization to be willing to work successfully, so that

they can achieve and realize the goals that have been set before whether it is the employee's wishes or the desire of the organization. However, given that motivation is a personal condition in a person who encourages an individual's desire to carry out certain activities to achieve goals (Ramadhan et al., 2021), organizations that are looking for human resource managers to implement strategies to reduce employee financial stress need to understand the motivational needs of these managers. Thus, efforts to understand the needs of employees must be accompanied by the formulation of effective work policies and procedures (Ramadhan et al., 2021).

Shortcomings of Intrinsic and Extrinsic Motivation

According to the self-determination theory, intrinsic motivation encourages employee engagement because intrinsic motivation satisfies an individuals' basic psychological needs such as the need for autonomy, competence, and relatedness (Ghosh et al., 2020). However, Locke and Schattke (2019) argued that the concept of intrinsic motivation should be limited to referring to the pleasure gained from an activity, divorced from any further elements. Thus, the enjoyment is in the doing, and the doing can range from passive to active (Locke & Schattke, 2019). In agreement with the role that the activity plays in motivation, Ghosh et al. (2020) stated that existing research has largely overlooked the possibility of other mechanisms linking intrinsic motivation and employee engagement, namely the role of creativity. This is a serious omission, as the authors stated that intrinsic motivation is the major contributor to creativity, and creativity should be involved in the intrinsic motivation–employee engagement process (Ghosh et al., 2020).

Creativity, according to Ghosh et al. (2020), prompts the satisfaction of innate psychological needs, which in turn provides job resources, explaining the mechanism through which intrinsic motivation is related to employee engagement. In addition, self-determination theory explicitly confounds intrinsic motivation (enjoying the task) and achievement motivation (pursuing goals and challenges), when describing intrinsic motivation as "the inherent tendency to seek out novelty and challenges, to extend and exercise one's capacities, to explore, and to learn" (Locke & Schattke, 2019). Based on these arguments, employers would implement strategies to assist employees with financial stress based on the enjoyment received from developing the strategies without regard to whether these strategies were helpful in alleviating employee financial stress.

According to Wang et al. (2019), extrinsic motivation is based on environmental reinforcements and is not self-sustainable. Specifically, behavior is a result of intrinsic motivation and adding extrinsic reward for engaging in the behavior will decrease the intrinsic motivation for that behavior (Peters et al., 2022). According to Derfler-Rozin and Pitesa (2020), pay for performance is detrimental to intrinsic motivation, and that it can enhance extrinsic motivation, which was assumed to be lower in quality and not as sustainable over the longer periods of time in terms of performance and well-being. However, Locke and Schattke (2019) argued that extrinsic motivation, has been focused heavily on the effect of withdrawing a monetary incentive and that this focus is far too narrow, and that extrinsic motivation should be generally defined as doing something as a means to an end. Furthermore, an extrinsic motive would focus attention on the reward

and distract attention from and absorption in the activity, making intrinsic motivation less likely (Locke & Schattke, 2019).

As stated by Peters et al. (2022), intrinsic interest decreased when money was used as a reward and increased when verbal praise was used, suggesting that external rewards may have negative effects. However, Derfler-Rozin and Pitesa (2020) stated that perhaps one of the most widespread and prominent management myths is that extrinsic motivation is generally detrimental to intrinsic motivation. Furthermore, the myth that extrinsic motivation erodes intrinsic motivation specifically has been among of the most prominent in management literature (Derfler-Rozin & Pitesa, 2020). Along those lines, Locke and Schattke (2019) reported that there has been much confusion regarding extrinsic motivation, and that it has been tied to the demonization of money on the grounds that it causes problems because of the capitalist system. However, Peters et al. (2022) reported that external rewards overall do not have a negative effect, but under some conditions there might be some decrement in interest, whereas Locke and Schattke explained that motivation for an activity might change during its pursuit in the sense that one might start for extrinsic reasons but find the main pleasure in its pursuit later. This lack of agreement regarding intrinsic and extrinsic motivation supports the claim by Chien et al. (2020) that motivation is the need that drives an individual to act in a certain way to achieve the desired satisfaction and that employees are motivated differently. Thus, the motivation behind one employer to develop strategies to assist employees with financial stress may be completely different from the motivation of another employer to develop strategies to address employee financial stress.

When looking at the traditional dichotomy of intrinsic and extrinsic motivation, intrinsic motivation, has often been inappropriately glorified, seen as somehow superior (even morally superior), whereas extrinsic motivation (specifically, wanting to make money) has often been inappropriately demonized in the popular and scientific literature. according to (Locke & Schattke, 2019), Locke and Schattke (2019) argued that this traditional dichotomy is seriously inadequate, particularly regarding applications to work and organizational psychology and recommended a trichotomy, which would include achievement. Obtaining a high level of skill at anything requires another form of motivation, achievement motivation, which Locke and Schattke's (2019) assertion has unfortunately been almost universally confounded with intrinsic motivation. Under achievement motivation, the issue is not the doing or enjoyment of the activity as such but doing well and/or doing better than before, in other words, improvement (Locke & Schattke, 2019). However, that improvement, if it occurs, may be enjoyed, but the activity that leads to the improvement may or may not, as stated by Locke and Schattke. Thus, employers may be motivated to develop strategies to assist employees with financial stress and not necessarily be interested if the strategies are successful rather than being satisfied that the strategy was developed.

The concept of trichotomy when looking at motivation is supported by another type of motivation, that being amotivation. Dodds et al. (2022) claimed that individuals or organizations that lack motivation towards a goal in question are known as being amotivated. Amotivation, as defined by Ajlouni et al. (2022), is a situation in which there is no intent to act. Moreover, amotivation is the state of lacking an intention to act, and

where a person's behavior lacks intentionality and a sense of personal causation (Ryan & Deci, 2000). Amotivation, according to Ryan and Deci (2000), results from not valuing an activity, not feeling competent to do it, or not believing it will yield a desired outcome. In addition, amotivated individuals are neither intrinsically nor extrinsically driven, and amotivation can result in several negative consequences such as reduced engagement in constructive activities (Banerjee & Halder, 2021). For instance, Masood et al. (2022) cited research that determined a significant relationship between amotivation and organizational deviance. Consequently, organizations need to watch out for employees who might be feeling helpless and looking to deviant behavior as some sort of catharsis, or escape (Masood et al., 2022). Thus, amotivated employers may look for ways to drive their employers into a deeper state of financial distress out of a lack of concern.

Different Viewpoints on Motivation

Self-determination theory is a prominent macro theory of motivation, according to Heyns and Kerr (2018). Similarly, Sansone and Tang (2021) stated that self-determination theory has contributed much to the field of organizational management and intrinsic and extrinsic motivation. In addition, Semedo et al. (2022) explained that self-determination theory made a turnout point in motivation study, as previous research conceived motivation in a dual quantitative perspective (people were motivated or not), and as a predictor of performance and well-being. However, unlike many other motivation theories, self-determination theory adopts a differentiated approach to understand individuals' motivation (Wang et al., 2019). Although, despite the popularity of self-determination theory, there are many theories about motivation and many different

approaches (Kha, et al., 2021) According to Kha et al. (2021), all theories begin with the same assumption: that increasing an employee's motivation will lead to improved performance and greater organizational success. Therefore, organizations that are looking to develop strategies addressing employee financial stress need to determine what motives the individuals responsible for developing these strategies and utilize the most appropriate theory to motivate these individuals.

Maslow's Hierarchy of Needs

Maslow's Hierarchy of needs is one of the most widely known motivation theories in the world Haque et al., 2014). Similarly, Smith and Sweet (2021) stated that Maslow's hierarchy of needs is one of the most popular content theories on motivation available, due to its simplicity and intuitive logic. First appearing in print in 1943, Abraham Maslow's theory of human motivation and specifically his hierarchy of needs, has grown into one of the most ubiquitous and widely accepted psychological theories in the world (McCleskey and Ruddell, 2020). According to McCleskey and Ruddell (2020), Maslow begins from the basic assumption that certain needs are universal in all humans, related to feelings of well-being in those humans, and that these universal needs apply to all cultures. Moreover, Maslow's theory stated that low-level of needs must be fulfilled before higher-level needs to pursue the hierarchy model and motivation in the organization (Abdulrahman & Hui, 2018).

Maslow's hierarchy of needs states that people are motivated by five basic categories of needs: physiological, safety, love, esteem, and self-actualization (Sharma et al..,2020). Once an individual has been able to meet a lower-order need (beginning with

basic physiological needs), the individual then moves up the pyramid and attempts to meet the next highest-order need (Smith & Sweet, 2021). However, criticism of this theory claimed that people do not simply move up the ladder of their hierarchal needs, as reported by Smith and Sweet (2021). Therefore, to motivate employees, managers must understand where the employee stands in their respective hierarchy and focus on satisfying the needs at that hierarchy (Kha et al., 2021).

Herzberg's Two-Factor Theory

Frederick Herzberg, a behavioral scientist, developed his two-factor theory of motivators in 1959 (Bhatt et al., 2022). According to Kotni and Karumuri (2018), Herzberg's theory is concerned with the actual instruments that can be used as incentives for employees. The theory suggests two main distinctions, or factors, in employee motivation, that being motivation factors and hygiene factors (Ozsoy, 2019). Specifically, motivation factors are connected to the work itself, such as, recognition, responsibility, achievement, and self-development opportunity, whereas hygiene factors are related to working conditions and environments, such as, salary, benefits, interpersonal relationship, and company policy, for example (Hur, 2018).

As stated by Abdulrahman and Hui (2018), motivation factors are known as intrinsic factors, because they fulfill an individual's need for psychological growth, while hygiene factors are factors that are essential at the workplace and are extrinsic to the workplace. Additionally, Herzberg's theory indicated that motivating factors cause job satisfaction, while hygiene factors cause dissatisfaction (Acquah et al, 2021). However, Herzberg stated that satisfaction and dissatisfaction do not belong to the same dimension,

rather that the opposite of satisfaction is not dissatisfaction, but no satisfaction (Hur, 2018). Thus, on the surface, like self-determination theory, Herzberg's two factory theory also looks at intrinsic and extrinsic motivational variables and acknowledges that some individuals simply may not be motivated to take any action.

Expectancy-Value Theory

Expectancy-value theory is one of the most prominent theories of motivation (Boström & Palm, 2020). Although expectancy-value theory was first founded by John William Atkinson in the 1950s and 1960s (Mai & Liao, 2021), Jacquelynne Eccles is widely credited as the key scholar who brought it to the field of education studies (Lauermann et al., 2017). According to Rachmatullah et al. (2021), expectancy-value theory posits that individuals' choice, persistence, and performance can be explained by their beliefs about how well they will do on the activity and the extent to which they value the activity. Additionally, expectancy-value theory conceptualizes that an individual's motivation for achievement-related behavior and performance is strongly influenced by two central components – expectancy and value (Xu, 2022).

According to Xu (2022), expectancy refers to the extent to which an individual thinks that he/she can successfully accomplish a task, while value refers to the extent to which an individual thinks the task worthwhile and useful. Moreover, as reported by Rachmatullah et al. (2021), an individual actively and regularly assesses the attainment of specific goals, as well as the cost-and-benefit values of such accomplishments. Based on expectancy-value theory an individuals' expectancy for success and their task values are the primary determinants of their achievement-related choices (Nagle, 2021). Given this

explanation, employers looking to develop strategies to address employee financial stress should engage in these actions if they think that these strategies would be successful, and that there would be some benefit achieved by developing and implementing such strategies.

Motivation Theories: Different Approaches Same Assumptions

While there are many theories about motivation and many different approaches, all theories begin with the same assumption: that increasing an employee's motivation will lead to improved performance and greater organizational success (Kha et al., 2021). According to Acquah et al. (2021), the underlying concept of motivation is some type of driving force within individuals by which they attempt to achieve some goals to satisfy some need or the other. Importantly, motivation can lead to behaviors reflecting high performance within an organization; therefore, according to Ştefan et al. (2020), it is the manager's responsibility to design the right combination of motivational tools and incentives able to simultaneously satisfy employees need and encourage high performance. For this reason, a motivational strategy that may be effective for one individual may not be as effective on another individual. Moreover, in terms of developing successful to address employee financial stress, employer's motivation is primordial in all sectors of activity (Stefan et al., 2020).

However, as stated by Ramadhan et al. (2021), efforts to understand the needs of employees must be accompanied by the formulation of effective work policies and procedures. For instance, some employers may help employees address financial stress based on intrinsic motivation, that being motivation related to individuals or groups

feeling motivated to engage in a task purely out of interest and, as a result, deriving spontaneous satisfaction from carrying out the said task (Zhang & Liu, 2022). Alternatively, employers may develop strategies to address employee financial stress based on extrinsic motivation, which is motivated behavior that provides a feeling of satisfaction derived from achieving a goal that is external to the behavior itself (Gilal et al., 2019). However, as reported by Kanonire et al. (2022), both intrinsic and extrinsic motivation are important for involvement in an activity. Consequently, a combination of intrinsic and extrinsic factors likely factors into the pre-decisional deliberation phase to guide motivated behavior, according to Morris et al. (2022). Therefore, as stated by Zhang and Liu (2022), leaders could simultaneously initiate a top-down, extrinsic mechanism to enforce requirements and a bottom-up, intrinsic mechanism to stimulate individual discretion.

Employee Financial Stress

The American Psychological Association determined that nearly three-quarters of adults report feeling stressed about money (Mammadov & Bhandari, 2023). Financial stress has become a contemporary issue in the globe, directly and indirectly affecting individual's behavior and disorders their physical and mental health (Jayasekara et al., 2020). Stress, in general, is a psychological and physical state that results when an individual's resources are insufficient to cope with a particular demand and pressure from a particular event causing the stress (Ramos-Galarza & Acosta-Rodas, 2018). Financial stress is a type of stress that deals specifically with an individual's perspective of their financial situation (George & Kane, 2016). Moreover, financial concerns are the single

greatest source of stress for Americans and create a major impediment to an individual's mental and physical health (Frank-Miller et al., 2019).

The prevalence of diagnosed mental health conditions is 71% higher among employees who experience financial problems, and that employees with financial stress are at greater risk for depression (Winick, 2019). Furthermore, financial strains and worries play significant roles in mental health (Ryu & Fan, 2023). Additionally, the stress and anxiety associated with financial distress may reduce an individual's ability to respond effectively by reducing their ability to process information effectively (Fenton-O'Creevy & Furnham, 2021). Financial stress further leads to an increase in the level of alcohol consumption, depression, anger, frustration, blame, increase of arguments - particularly over money (Jayasekara et al., 2020).

Employee financial stress costs employers thousands per employee (Despard et al., 2020). Sabri and Aw stated that an estimated \$3.3 million per year is lost due to financial stress experienced by employees. Therefore, employee financial stress has direct negative effects on an organization's costs and profitability (Drake et al., 2019). Financial stress, as determined by affects a non-negligible proportion of employees to the extent that work performance suffers, which negatively affects employers (Frank-Miller et al., 2019). Organizations with higher employee financial stress levels are more likely to report material internal control weaknesses and are also more likely to restate financial statements (Mammadov & Bhandari, 2023). Furthermore, employees who are under financial stress are more likely to provide inaccurate input to management and commit

other types of errors, which might require a restatement, according to Mammadov and Bhandari (2023).

Personal financial stress is evident in several different ways at the workplace (Drake et al., 2019). For example, absenteeism, turnover, presenteeism, wage garnishments, employee theft, and 401(k) loans are some of the impacts connected to personal financial stress (Drake et al., 2019). Financial distress, including employees being heavily in debt, is a major stressor impacting negatively on work behavior, productivity, and mental health (Bernard, 2016). In addition, financial stress may make it more difficult for employee engagement or productivity at the workplace (Phetmisy & King, 2021). Furthermore, employees reported taking time off from work due to personal financial issues and/or spending more time thinking about these issues while at work (Frank-Miller et al., 2019). Financial stress has also been attributed to decreased employee productivity, increased absenteeism, and increased employer health care costs (Ismail & Zaki, 2019).

As a result of employee financial stress, interest among employers is growing regarding offering new types of employee wellness strategies to address financial stress among employees (Despard et al., 2020). Employee wellness is foundational to productive and profitable organizational functioning, due to psychologically well individuals adopting effective and productive work—life strategies (Bernard, 2016). Investing in the financial wellness of employees translates into benefits for employers, including improved productivity and engagement, and a greater employee appreciation and understanding of employer-sponsored benefit programs (Winick, 2019). Moreover, in

terms of the impact that employee financial stress has on organizations, employee financial stress is highly correlated with workplace productivity, loyalty, engagement, absenteeism, presenteeism, physical and mental well-being, health insurance expenditures, and retirement plan leakage (Verheyen et al., 2018). Therefore, employers, as the entity providing income, play a role in the financial lives of their employees, in addition to being in an employer's best interest to get involved with addressing the financial stress of their employees (Verne, 2014). Consequently, employee financial wellness programs have emerged as a strategy to improve the financial well-being of employees and mitigate the negative impact of financial stress on employee performance (Frank-Miller et al., 2019).

Employee Financial Stress Impact on Productivity

Productivity is the ability of people to enhance their work output through increases in the quantity and/or quality of the product or service that they deliver (Nappi et al., 2020). Subsequently, when labor productivity increases, this increased productivity allows company's economics to raise the goods production and services based in an optimal relationship among job's quantity and realized effort (Ramos-Galarza & Acosta-Rodas, 2018). However, employees experiencing financial stress lose significantly more hours of productivity than employees who do not experience financial stress (Winick, 2019). Employee financial stress could result in a loss of 40–50 percent productivity (Mammadov & Bhandari. 2023).

Employers are justified in being concerned on how employee financial stress negatively impacts worker productivity as over thirty percent of workers reported

worrying about finances at work, consequently reducing employee productivity (Copeland, 2018). Human resource managers stated that employee money troubles cause a decline in the effectiveness of workers (Gilfedder, 2014). Financially, the lost productivity costs to organizations can be staggering as it is estimated that \$3.3 million per year is lost due to financial stress experienced by employees (Sabri & Aw, 2020). Therefore, employers need to address how employee financial stress impacts their workforce as employee financial stress can adversely affect an employee's ability to perform his or her job leading to astronomical productivity costs to organizations (George & Kane, 2016).

Because of this, addressing employee financial stress should be a business strategy employed by organizations, as employee wellness is foundational to productive and profitable organizational functioning, given that psychologically well individuals adopt effective and productive work—life strategies (Barnard, 2016). Employees who are distracted by financial concerns such as credit card debt, student loans, and financial emergencies are less mentally present and productive at work (Despard et al., 2020). Therefore, developing effective strategies to combat employee financial stress need to be developed as few organizations can afford to have employees check out mentally and emotionally and not be engaged on the job due to financial distractions (Pryor (2019).

Employee financial stress has a direct and significant impact on an organization's workforce (George & Kane, 2016). According to Frank-Miller et al. (2019), more than half of American households have difficulty covering expenses and paying bills. In addition, more than one third of households are not able to raise \$2,000 in the event of an

unexpected financial emergency (Frank-Miller et al., 2019). Due to the organizational costs associated with employee financial stress employers are recognizing that worker's financial problems and the accompanying stress have a negative impact on worker behavior, productivity, benefit plan costs and profits (Bonner, 2016). Moreover, employees who deal with financial stress at the workplace may not engage fully with their workplace responsibilities (Sabri & Aw, 2020).

More than a fifth (21%) of employees stated that their financial worries harm their work productivity and that 49% of those distracted by their financial problems spend three or more hours at work dealing with financial worries (Despard et al., 2020). In addition, nearly one fourth of employees reported spending more time thinking about personal financial issues while at work than they should (Frank-Miller et al., 2019). In terms of how financially distracted employees affect employers financially, employees stressed about their finances cost an employer around \$5,000 per employee per year based on lost productivity (George & Kane, 2016). These figures would be substantially higher if the employer health care costs were added to this equation (George & Kane, 2016).

Employees distracted at work due to financial concerns not only hurt the company financially, but these employees can potentially cause physical harm to themselves and their colleagues (Petitta et al., 2020). Moreover, financial stress is a key mediator between negative emotional relationships between colleagues and poor safety outcomes (Petitta et al., 2020). For instance, the viral spreading of anger at work increased employees' affective reactions to economic adversities as well as their injuries rates and

the tendency to under-report accidents (Petitta et al., 2020). Therefore, not only are the economic costs of workplace injuries high (e.g., lost wages and productivity, medical costs, and administrative expenses), but also not reporting an accident has negative consequences in that untreated injuries can worsen and cause even greater health and productivity problems over time (Petitta et al., 2020). Thus, employees experience financial stress can cause additional financial challenges given that an additional negative consequence of under-reporting workplace injuries is that employees take on the financial responsibility of any medical claims that may result since they cannot access worker's compensation if they do not report the accident, therefore further exacerbating their financial situation (Petitta et al., 2020). Companies spend a large amount of their profits covering the costs associated with workplace accidents, therefore organizations have a vested interest in developing strategies to reduce employee financial stress, which can lead to fever work-related accidents and reduced workplace accident costs (Mihai et al., 2019).

Absenteeism

Absenteeism represents the absence of workers in workplaces (Furuichi et al. (2020). Similarly, Bae (2021) stated that absenteeism is absence due to a work-related health problem. Taking a broader approach on the definition, Banks and Pearson (2021) explained absenteeism as being absent from work and this absence can be either short term or long term and voluntary or involuntary. In terms of how employee absences can be viewed from an organization's standpoint, absence is considered a relatively easy indirect indicator of a worker's health state and work productivity (Bae, 2021). Rates of

absenteeism in an organization are often used as an indicator of the health of the organization and therefore are of particular concern to employers, according to Banks and Person. Given these points, employers need to address employee financial concerns as these concerns can affect the workplace by increasing employee absenteeism, therefore leading to productivity loss (Sabri & Aw, 2020).

Absenteeism from work resulting from employees worrying about personal finances represents a problem to organizations in that higher levels of financial stress are associated with higher levels of absenteeism (Menard, 2017). According to Verheyen et al. (2018), financial stress correlates highly with workplace productivity, absenteeism, and presenteeism. Additional research determined similar results in that financial concerns contributed to presenteeism and absenteeism at work of employees (Ren et al., 2021). Moreover, financial stress is associated with poorer mental health, lower organizational commitment, and higher absenteeism (Phetmisy & King, 2021).

According to Pyron and Pettus (2019), 51% of employees claimed to have taken time off from work to deal with a personal financial situation or the stress that comes with this financial situation. Thus, organizations need to examine efforts to reduce employee absenteeism due to financial concerns as organizations can only be effective if they are able to support their employees' physical and psychological health (Phetmisy & King, 2021).

Presenteeism

Presenteeism occurs when workers are present at work, which is the opposite of absenteeism (Bae, 2021). According to Banks and Pearson (2021), presenteeism is

defined as being present at work while physically sick or not fully functioning.

Furthermore, presenteeism is hazardous behavior that may have personal and organizational consequences (Rodríguez-Cifuentes et al., 2020). Presenteeism not only poses an economic cost to organizations but also generates reduced work efficiency and quality (Jiang et al., 2021). Hence, addressing presenteeism has become a major management and cost issue for companies looking to reduce health-related productivity losses, as presenteeism accounts for a large proportion of workers' health-related costs (Mori et al., 2022). Because of the negative effects of presenteeism on productivity, companies are becoming interested in ways of addressing presenteeism (Hwang & Jung, 2021).

Developing strategies to address presenteeism should be a concern to organizations as productivity losses associated with presenteeism are estimated to be four times greater than the productivity losses associated with absenteeism (Banks & Pearson, 2021). From a cost comparison standpoint, the costs associated with presenteeism in the United States alone exceeds \$180 billion per year, which is far greater than the \$118 billion per year costs associated with absenteeism (Bae, 2021). While the direct costs of both presenteeism and absenteeism are both staggering the indirect costs associated with decreased work capacity due to presenteeism outweigh the indirect costs associated with absenteeism (Hwang & Jung, 2021). Evidence has indicated that in the United States, the indirect cost of presenteeism has reached \$36 billion nationally, with a mean productivity loss of 13.2% (Jiang et al., 2021). Additionally, an organization's medical costs incurred by presenteeism account for 63% of the total indirect medical costs, which are 10 times

higher than that caused by absenteeism and three times higher than direct medical costs, according to Bae (2021).

Compared to absenteeism, presenteeism is a more serious cause of productivity loss (Jiang et al., 2021). As a result of the consequences associated with the costs of presenteeism, it is important for organizations to implement measures to lower presenteeism and to increase productivity and reduce the costs associated with productivity loss (Bae, 2021). The need for organizations to pay more attention to the negative consequences of presenteeism can be attributed to presenteeism posing a substantial economic threat to organizations and generating reduced work efficiency and downgraded productivity in the workforce (Jiang et al., 2021). However, despite the negative consequences of presenteeism, presenteeism receives far less attention from companies, even though the effects of presenteeism may be more harmful to organizations than the effects of absenteeism (Rodríguez-Cifuentes et al., 2020).

As stated earlier, presenteeism definitions focus on being physically present at the workplace but functionally absent, as presenteeism but does need to involve illness or physical inabilities (Rodríguez-Cifuentes et al., 2020). For instance, Banks and Pearson (2021) stated that stress has a significant positive association with workplace attendance. Financial stress, specifically, has been attributed to decreased employee productivity, increased absenteeism, and increased employer health care costs (Zaki, 2019). Furthermore, mental diseases such as depression and stress are included in the main causes of presenteeism (Bae, 2021). As employees are one of the most vital resources for an organization, employees' health and well-being warrant serious attention from

employers to ensure employees can work productively and contribute to long-term organizational success (Yean et al., 2020). Consequently, this makes organizations partly responsible for the well-being of their workers (Rodríguez-Cifuentes, 2020). Therefore, measures against presenteeism have become an important issue for companies (Mori et al., 2022). Thus, it is important for organizations to improve the factors that were found to affect absenteeism and presenteeism (Bae, 2021).

Employers' Motivation to Address Employee Financial Stress

Human resources are the most important element of the company (Destyanti et al., 2022). According to Ramadhan et al. (2021), the success or failure of a company can be influenced by several factors, human resources being one of them. Thus, human resources are an organization's primary assets and key determinants of development to reach organizational goals (Razak et al., 2022). Furthermore, the existence of human resources in a company plays a key role in carrying out company activities (Ramadhan et al., 2021). Without suitably qualified human resource managers an organization cannot realize the vision and mission of its goals (Razak et al., 2022). Therefore, as it pertains to addressing employee financial stress, human resource managers are in the unique position to advance the interests of employees within today's workplace while boosting productivity (Gilfedder, 2014).

Human resource practices are linked with the outcomes of both the individual and the organization, which would explain why human resource managers are uniquely positioned to develop strategies to assist employee with financial stress (Kim & Torneo, 2021). However, despite their unique position, human resources managers' initiatives can

only be accomplished by adopting a strategic vision that allows the C-suite to see the true value of the human resources executive's role in accomplishing strategic goals (Gilfedder, 2014). Therefore, it is important that support for programs addressing employee financial stress stems from the top down, and that company leaders position themselves as champions of the initiative (Tulloch, 2018).

Adding to the rationale why human resource managers play an important role in addressing employees' financial well-being is due to employees looking for help from their employers to address their financial concerns and meet their financial wellness needs (Tulloch, 2018). In terms of the perceived helpfulness of workplace financial wellness programs on workplace productivity, a high percentage of workers thought that retirement and financial planning programs would increase their productivity at work (Copeland, 2018). Providing employees with workplace financial wellness programs benefits employers, as Sabri and Aw (2020) stated that financial literacy education programs offered in the workplace generate high future expectations, and subsequent satisfaction towards the workplace. In addition to this, financial wellness programs have proven to be a lucrative investment for organizations that have implemented them, adding further justification as to why employers should offer these programs to employees (Fouché & Manyaapelo, 2020).

Human resources management, including aspects such as staff qualifications, education, and motivation, is critical for business success (Muñoz-Pascual & Galende, 2017). And while having senior management support is important for human resource managers to succeed, employees in any workplace must be motivated to achieve

optimum results (Chien et al., 2020). As stated by Riznyk (2018), the main difference between highly effective, productive organizations and less effective ones usually is found in the motivation of its employees. Therefore, motivating employees encourages them to be more active in working and this is expected to improve employee performance (Ramadhan, 2021).

Motivation is one of the main factors involved in encouraging an employee to work and is the desire of a person that drives him or her to take actionable steps (Razak et al., 2022). Specifically, employee motivation is vital for the accomplishment of personal and organizational goals (Endriulaitienė & Morkevičiūtė, 2020). Motivation is a set of processes that are designed to stimulate employees' behavior to attain organizational goals (Chikazhe & Nyakunuwa, 2022). However, motivation is a personal condition in a person that encourages an individual's desire to carry out certain activities to achieve goals (Ramadhan et al., 2021). In addition, motivation acts as a catalyst that drives individual employees to perform better and achieve organizational goals or to perform in tandem with management expectations (Chikazhe & Nyakunuwa, 2022). Therefore, employee behavior and performance are determined by the level of employees' motivation and employee motivation results in satisfaction, which leads to higher productivity (Chikazhe & Nyakunuwa, 2022).

Two types of motivation are required for undertaking a certain task, that being intrinsic and extrinsic motivation (Razak et al., 2022). Employees may be driven by these types of motivations as intrinsic motivation is based on internal and non-economic incentives, while extrinsic motivation is based on economic and external incentives

(Muñoz-Pascual & Galende, 2017). Literature exists to explain that employee motivation can be based upon factors such as exogenous salaries and constraints (extrinsic motivation), or by internal factors such as job satisfaction and identification with common values (intrinsic motivation; Razak et al., 2022). Employees may be driven by two types of motivations: extrinsic, based on economic and external incentives, and intrinsic based on internal and non-economic incentives (Muñoz-Pascual & Galende, 2017). Thus, employers may be motivated by intrinsic motivations to address employee financial stress if the employer believes that, as an employer, they have a duty and responsibility to increase the wellbeing of their employees. Alternatively, the driving force behind employees assisting employees with financial stress could be extrinsic motivation in the form of monetary compensation (bonus) or job promotion, if reducing employee financial stress results in tangible organizational results such as increased productivity or a reduction in retirement plan loans requested. These types of motivation, intrinsic and extrinsic, are key tenets of the self-determination theory associated with Ryan and Deci (2000).

Employee Financial Wellness Programs

As stated earlier, employee financial stress correlates highly with workplace productivity, loyalty, engagement, absenteeism, presenteeism, physical and mental well-being, and health insurance expenditures (Verheyen et al., 2018). Given the negative impacts that employee financial stress has on organizations, employers are beginning to recognize these potential impacts and are increasingly viewing financial wellness programs as a business imperative (Tulloch, 2018). Employee financial wellness

programs are financial products and services that address a broader set of workers' financial needs than addressed with health and retirement benefits (Despard et al., 2020). Employee financial wellness programs as an employer-benefit innovation that blends workplace wellness initiatives, traditional workplace benefits, and financial education to address an employee's complete financial picture (Frank-Miller et al., 2019). Interest is growing among employers to provide employee financial wellness programs, which is a new type of benefit provided to employees to address financial stress among employees (Despard et al., 2020). Early results of employee financial wellness programs have found that better financial wellness is correlated with reduced absenteeism, better performance appraisal of employees, and minimized loss of working time (Ismail & Zaki, 2019).

Benefits to organizations who implement financial wellness programs include, but are not limited to, increasing worker productivity, reducing workplace turnover, attracting talent, and improving participation in the organization's defined contribution plan (Copeland, 2018). Therefore, given that financial stress may make it more difficult for employees to engage or be productive at work, employers need to develop effective strategies to reduce employee financial stress (Phetmisy & King, 2021). Employee financial wellness products and services assist employees by addressing a broader range of non-retirement financial needs, as stated by Despard et al. (2020). Moreover, employees are looking for employer assistance to address their financial concerns and meet their financial wellness needs (Tulloch, 2018). Given that Americans spend approximately 56% of their waking hours at the workplace, the workplace is a logical place to offer financial education to help employees become more effective in the

allocation of financial resources (Prawitz & Cohart, 2014). In addition, offering financial wellness programs at the workplace helps employees in terms of the social support provided at the workplace. Social support has been defined as the attachment that a person feels to his or her family, friends, community, and other close help providers, and it is generally considered to be a critical coping resource used in response to a stressor (Park et al., 2017). Social support helps reduce the negative effect of a stressor as well as mitigate the level of stress (Park et al., 2017). Additionally, social support is an important intervening variable between financial hardship and perceived stress (Park et al., 2017).

Given this growing need for financial help from employers, more companies are offering financial wellness or education programs to improve their employees' financial literacy and money management skills (Sabri & Aw, 2020). These types of programs, covering basic financial concepts such as spending plans, saving, insurance, and estate planning, in addition to retirement planning and investing, could improve the personal financial management skills and financial wellness of employees (Prawitz & Cohart, 2014). Companies that have implemented financial wellness programs have benefited from such initiatives as employee financial wellness programs have proven to be a lucrative investment for organizations that have provided them to their employees (Fouché & Manyaapelo, 2020). Estimates on the return on investment for financial wellness programs range from \$1 to \$3 for every dollar invested (Menard, 2017). Additionally, previous studies suggested that well-constructed financial wellness programs may result in reductions in healthcare costs, costs associated with delayed

retirement, and costs associated with recruiting, retaining and engaging employees (Ward, 2017).

According to Copeland (2017), workers believed that they could be assisted in the areas of preparing for their retirement, increasing their productivity, and increasing their mental health through workplace educational and financial well-being programs. With this purpose, the financial health of employees is increasingly becoming important in many organizations (Fouché & Manyaapelo, 2020). To address the financial health of employees, companies increasingly are offering financial wellness or education programs to improve their employees' financial literacy and money management skills, according to Sabri and Aw (2020). The results of workers' worrying less about their finances leads to higher productivity and increased mental health, employers could benefit through greater worker productivity and healthier workers (Copeland, 2018). Therefore, employer-sponsored financial wellness programs can make a significant difference in helping employees find some measure of financial peace of mind (Bonner, 2016).

Financial Education and Literacy

Financial literacy is the ability to use knowledge and skills to manage financial resources effectively for a lifetime of financial well-being (Migliaccio, 2021). Moreover, individuals need to be able to make good decisions regarding their finances to be financially well (Ismail & Zaki, 2019). Financial education is benefiting from a time of national attention because of the recognition that it plays a vital role in giving individuals the tools with which to better navigate their financial lives (Walstad et al., 2017).

Therefore, those who are more financially savvy are more likely to plan, save, invest in stocks, and accumulate more wealth (García & Vila, 2020).

Given that financial literacy is an underlying determinant of making investment decisions and accumulating wealth, higher levels of financial literacy among individuals causes a major contribution to financial wellbeing (Nguyen et al., 2019). Therefore, teaching financial planning concepts should begin as soon as individuals start earning so that they can have sufficient funds to meet their financial goals (Pathak & Rani, 2018). Furthermore, the process of employers helping employees with their finances must start from the day an individual is hired (Gilfedder, 2014). Requiring all newly hired employees to attend a financial wellness seminar during their initial stages of employment is one way to attempt to provide baseline financial education to all new employees. Providing employees with the tools to prepare for financial problems before they occur, employers will better educate these employees to ensure that workers are focused and more able to fulfill their work assignments (Gilfedder, 2014). Hence, providing financial literacy seminars early in a new hire's employment could possibly be an effective strategy to prevent employee financial stress.

Individuals need to participate in financial training and personal money management training through different courses and seminars organized by corporate or various other financial institutions (Pathak & Rani, 2018). In addition, individuals who have access to social support networks tend to exhibit greater resiliency, less psychological distress, and overall enhanced wellbeing (Park et al., 2017). Therefore, the workplace is a logical place for employees to increase their financial literacy through

workplace financial wellness programs. Moreover, unlike in the past where employees were responsible for dealing with their personal financial issues outside of the workplace, employers are now required to assist their employees with a range of personal finance-related difficulties (Fouché & Manyaapelo, 2020.

American employers are viewed as a trusted source of financial education for their employees and that effective financial education programs can improve employee finances (Verne, 2014). Thus, employee financial wellness programs have emerged as a strategy to improve the financial wellbeing of employees and mitigate the negative impact of financial stress on employee performance (Frank-Miller et al. 2019). According to Prawitz and Cohart (2014), financial knowledge increases after employees take part in financial education programming. Consequently, the impact of workplace financial literacy programs can be profound as individuals with increased levels of financial knowledge believe that this knowledge will have a long-term positive impact on their life (Muhamad & Norwani, 2019).

Financial Wellness Programs Limitations

Despite numerous research studies touting the benefits of employee financial wellness programs, the effect of financial education on financial literacy has not reached a consistent conclusion (Zhang and Xiong, 2020). Walstad et al. (2017) emphasized the difficulty of drawing a single conclusion about the effectiveness of financial education based on one study or program. Moreover, financial education is focused on enhancing the financial literacy of consumers, however, it is unclear whether financial education has the capability to change individual behavior and move consumers to action (García &

Vila, 2020). Despite the benefits of financial literacy programs, human resources professionals have expressed skepticism about the scope of interest, adoption, and impact of workplace financial wellness programs (Verheyen et al., 2018).

Conclusion

Financial stress is associated with poorer mental health, lower organizational commitment, and higher absenteeism (Phetmisy & King, 2021). In addition, employees who report to work with financial stress may not engage fully while at work (Sabri & Aw, 2020). Moreover, financial stress impacts productivity, health care costs, turnover, employee engagement and performance, in addition to less productive employees costing their employer time and money (George & Kane, 2016). For these reasons, employee financial stress is not something that can be ignored as the costs associated with employee financial stress are increasing each year (George & Kane, 2016). Unquestionably, the financial health of employees is increasingly becoming important in many organizations (Fouché & Manyaapelo, 2020). As such, employee financial wellness programs are an example of a new strategy for dealing with the financial stress experienced by many employees (Malkowska et al., 2022). Employee financial wellness programs have emerged recently to address employee financial stress, as employers respond to findings from industry surveys documenting various types of employee financial stress and how this stress appears to relate to productivity (Despard et al. (2020),

Employee financial wellness programs are intended to address the overall financial wellness of employees and mitigate the negative impact of financial stress on

employee performance (Frank-Miller et al., 2019). Given that employees spend approximately 56% of their waking hours at work, the workplace is a logical place to offer financial education to help employees (Prawitz & Cohart, 2014). Specifically, within organizations, human resource managers are in a unique position to advance the interests of employees within today's workplace while boosting productivity (Gilfedder, 2014). Moreover, the success of a company in achieving its goals is influenced by human resources, as human resources is the most crucial element of the company because it is directly related to its operational activities (Destyanti et al., 2022) Moreover, human resources are an organization's primary assets and key determinants of development to reach organizational goals (Razak et al., 2022). Without suitably qualified human resources managers, an organization cannot realize the vision and mission of its goals (Razak et al., 2022).

However, to achieve organizational goals, employers need to be motivated. Motivation is a set of processes that are designed to stimulate employees' behavior to attain organizational goals (Chikazhe & Nyakunuwa, 2022). Motivation to work professionally in an organization plays an essential role in achieving the goals of the organization (Razak et al., 2022). Moreover, motivation acts as a catalyst that drives individual employees to perform better and achieve organizational goals or to perform in tandem with management expectations (Chikazhe & Nyakunuwa, 2022). Furthermore, employee motivation results in satisfaction, which leads to higher productivity and effective service delivery (Chikazhe & Nyakunuwa, 2022). Therefore, employers need to be motivated to assist employees dealing with financial stress. Two types of motivation

that are required for undertaking a certain task are intrinsic and extrinsic motivation (Razak et al., 2022). For employers developing strategies to address employee financial stress, additional research needs to be conducted to determine if employers are motivated by exogenous salaries and constraints (extrinsic motivation) or by internal factors such as job satisfaction and identification with common values (intrinsic motivation) (Razak et al., 2022).

Transition

Section 1 of this doctoral study included an introduction to this study, problem statement, purpose statement, and nature of study focusing on a qualitative pragmatic inquiry. In addition, Section 1 covered key elements including the research questions, interview questions, conceptual framework, the significance of the study, and a review of professional and academic literature. The focus of this study is to identify strategies used by human resources managers to reduce employee financial stress. Employee financial stress negatively impacts organizations through increased costs due to absenteeism, presenteeism, lower productivity, and increased healthcare costs. As a result of these increased costs, organizations are developing strategies to help their employees reduce their financial stress. An in-depth review of historical and current literature supports this subject. Section 2 contains narratives on the project and qualitative method research approach. Included in this approach are the populations and sampling, data collection, data analysis, and reliability and validity. In Section 3, I will discuss the study's findings and analysis of interview responses to include application to professional practice and

implications for social change. In addition, Section 3 will include areas for further research along with a summary, conclusion, and reflections.

Section 2: The Project

The focus of Section 2 is the project and qualitative method research approach. Included in this approach are the populations and sampling, data collection, data analysis, and reliability and validity. Section 3 encompasses the study's findings and analysis of interview responses to include application to professional practice and implications for social change. In addition, Section 3 includes areas for further research along with a summary, conclusion, and reflections. Section 2 includes the (a) study's purpose, (b) method and design, (c) population, and (d) data collection and analysis process. In addition, Section 2 contains issues of ethical research and the reliability and validity of the study. The role of the researcher is also included in this section.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative, pragmatic inquiry study is to explore strategies used by human resources managers to reduce business costs associated with employee financial stress.

Role of the Researcher

A researcher's primary interest is to develop or contribute to generalizable knowledge (Lantos, 2020). Qualitative researchers utilize a varied range of interconnected interpretative practices, in the hope of obtaining a better understanding of the subject matter at hand (Johnson et al., 2020). Furthermore, qualitative researchers often engage in work addressing challenging, difficult, or sensitive topics and are consequently exposed to the participants' narratives which may be emotionally charged, distressing, or compromising (Silverio et al., 2022). Despite these narratives, the

information a researcher hopes to encounter is best when unbridled, spontaneous, and revelatory (Collins & Stockton, 2022). Moreover, Tanay et al. (20200) reported that the role of the research facilitator as being essential to keeping the momentum going. Thus, qualitative research designs provide the researcher greater opportunities to create a space for individuals to speak their own voice, as qualitative research design has long been considered the gold standard for understanding individuals' experiences of a phenomenon or what is often referred to as "the lived experience," as claimed by Wadams and Park (2018).

Elmersjö and Rosqvist (2022) explained that to establish mutual trust between researchers and research participants, central factors are the researchers' genuine involvement in the place and a shared sense of belonging with the participants. With that being said, I have a shared sense of belonging with the organization selected for my research study, as this organization is a defined contribution client of my employer. Moreover, I am familiar with this organization, having previously worked with this client in my position as a retirement education specialist. Specifically, I have conducted several employee financial wellness presentations for this client both onsite at their various locations, as well as virtually. However, while an existing relationship with this organization may be helpful in terms of gaining access to participants, as a researcher, I need to make sure that this relationship does not impair the data collection process.

As reported by Karagiozis (2018), impairment of professional judgement may result from researchers' dual relationships with the participants of the study with whom they share business, financial, familial, personal, and other interests. Although, it is

argued that dual relationships by themselves are neither wrong nor right in all cultural contexts (Karagiozis, 2018). Therefore, my relationship with this organization should not impair the results of my study.

Considering the nature of qualitative studies, the interaction between researchers and participants can be ethically challenging for the former, as they are personally involved in different stages of the study (Sanjari et al., 2015). Thus, as a guide to researchers, The Belmont Report offers a moral framework for conducting research with humans, as this report provides principles that are well established in universal regulations and codes of ethics (Redman and Caplan, 2021). In 1974, The National Research Act tasked the National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research with identifying ethical principles and guidelines for research with human subjects (Earl, 2020). Consequently, The Belmont Report was written to advise on research supported by the United States government, as reported by Millum (2020).

The Belmont Report, as reported by Yusof et al. (2022), categorizes three basic ethical principles for conducting research that involve human participants and expounds guidelines to assure these principles are to be abided throughout the research process.

These basic ethical principles include respect for persons, beneficence, and justice to the human research participant (Yusof et al., 2022). As claimed by Lantos (2020), The Belmont Report has become a canonical document in research ethics. Guidelines, such as those identified in The Belmont Report are important, as Moriña (2021) stated that in the world of research, ethical practice implies that the relationship we establish with

participants should respect human dignity and integrity, and should be one in which people feel safe, comfortable and among friends.

In addition to the important role that ethics plays in qualitative research, researcher bias can also impact the viability of a research study. Researcher bias occurs when the researcher, either consciously or unconsciously, influences the results of an empirical study based on their expectations (Romano et al., 2021). One such way to avoid or minimize error or bias and optimize accuracy in data collection and analysis processes is through triangulation (Johnson et al., 2020). Data triangulation, as identified by Johnsen et al. (2020), is used to identify convergence of data obtained through multiple data sources and methods. As claimed by Farquhar et al. (2020), triangulation is a generally accepted means of providing research studies with a degree of validity. Triangulating measures from different sources strengthens the validity of a study through countering bias that may arise from single measures and so contributes to establishing facts (Farquhar et al., 2020). For these reasons, I intend to utilize triangulation in my doctoral study.

Alamri (2019) claimed that triangulation assists in providing a more in-depth understanding of recorded entries by using interviews. Interview methods range from highly structured to increase dependability or completely open-ended to allow for interviewers to clarify a participant's response for increased credibility and confirmability (Johnson et al., 2020). However, prior to conducting interviews, Jacob and Furgerson (2012) advocated that first time qualitative researchers use interview protocols to assist them in collecting data. According to Jacob and Furgerson (2012), an interview protocol

is more than a list of interview questions, as an interview protocol also extends to the procedural level of interviewing and including a script of what you will say before the interview, a script for what you will say at the conclusion of the interview, prompts for the interviewer to collect informed consent, and prompts to remind the interviewer regarding the information she or he is interested in collecting. Hence, interview protocols become not only a set of questions, but also a procedural guide for directing a new qualitative researcher through the interview process (Jacob & Furgerson, 2012).

Participants

Fair participant selection is an ethical requirement of clinical research (Iyer et al., 2020). Similarly, MacKay et al. (2020) stated that fair subject selection is widely regarded as a basic ethical requirement for clinical research. This ethical consideration is called fair inclusion, which states that the selection of research participants must be sufficiently inclusive to ensure that the research in question fairly benefits members of society (MacKay et al., 2020). According to Iyer et al. (2020), the inclusion criteria must allow investigators to answer the given scientific question while producing valid and relevant knowledge about societal groups that could benefit from the research. Therefore, selecting representative participants is important in a qualitative research study as the selection of research participants plays a critical role in the distribution of the benefits and burdens of research among individuals and groups in the wider society (MacKay et al., 2020). Participants in my study will be selected based on their promoting employee financial education within their organization.

Knechel (2019) opined that qualitative researchers should seek specific individuals or groups with a rich experience of the concept being studied. Along these same lines, Staller (2021) noted that researchers should exercise their judgement about who will provide the best perspective on the phenomenon of interest, and then intentionally invite those specific perspectives into the study. This type of research participant selection involves non-probability sampling (El-Masri, 2017), which involves recruiting participants from a targeted population in a non-random fashion for a research study. Individuals identified for my study will be selected in this matter given their prior involvement with their organization's financial wellness education programs.

Additionally, convenience sampling was utilized in the participant selection process as this type of sampling involves recruiting study participants based on their availability (El-Masri, 2017).

Participant access is equally important to the success of a research study and the challenges faced by researchers in terms of accessing research sites and participants is not a new issue (Amundsen et al., 2017). According to Amundsen et al. (2017), accessing the research site and participants is paramount to the successful achievement of educational research outcomes. According to Williams (2020), participant recruitment may be considered the most difficult aspect of the research process. Moreover, obtaining access to research sites and participants is often beyond the control of the researcher (Amundsen et al., 2017). Researchers often discover that entry into the community that they are trying to study is filled with challenges created by gatekeeping (Chaudhuri, 2017).

As defined by Fecke et al. (2022), gatekeepers are those who have the power and control over access to communities and key respondents in a particular location selected for research. Chaudhuri (2017) stated that gatekeepers are individuals who have some power over the research location and can control access to a research site and contacts with potential study participants. Gatekeepers and guides are people who can help or hinder a researcher's access to research sites and to participants depending on how they view their validity and value (Amundsen et al., 2017). According to Kalina and Scott (2019), gatekeepers can facilitate or hinder the research process, acting as constraints or conduits to access during fieldwork. Furthermore, a researcher's access can closely depend on the power dynamics of a gatekeeper or guide's relationship with the researcher and research participants and their status or influence in their specific context (Amundsen et al., 2017). However, involving individuals embedded in the recruitment setting as champions is an approach that researchers can use to yield more research participation (Raymond et al., 2018).

The gatekeeper in my study is the senior relationship manager of the retirement plan provider. This individual is the primary contact for the targeted individuals in my study. Given that the relationship manager and I work for the same organization, authorization to contact the identified individuals was initially granted by the relationship manager through a text message. As a result of working with this relationship manager not only with these individuals but with others, a positive working relationship has developed between the two of us leading to the relationship manager's willingness to assist in this process.

Amundsen et al. (2017) explained that to access research sites smoothly, researchers are expected to build rapport and convince authorities of a particular organization to allow them to carry out their studies. One such strategy to access research sites is through proper identification by the researchers (Vuban & Eta, 2019). According to Vuban and Eta (2019), the use of proper identification helps to build trust, set expectations and ease understanding. In addition, another strategy to access research sites can be through written permission, as researchers are often requested to obtain research permits to conduct research (Vuban & Eta, 2019). However, Amundsen et al. (2017) noted that even when research permission is granted, gatekeepers and guides may still influence the timespan, depth, and scope of the investigation. Therefore, gaining access to research sites and participants requires two-way, open communication between researchers and gatekeepers, according to Amundsen et al.. In addition, Amundsen et al. reported that creating boundary spaces together necessitates defining the terms of engagement between researcher, gatekeeper, and participants as well as inclusion and exclusion among research participants. According to Amundsen et al., negotiating effective personal and power relations between researchers, participants, and gatekeepers is pivotal for joint knowledge producers to create meaningful research.

Tamm et al. (2021) stated that the use of rapport building is thought to enhance cooperation, to help overcome anxiety and resistance and to make the process of talking to strangers easier. Major et al. (2016) stated that rapport can be built by creating a sense of familiarity for participants. In addition, if the researcher is known to the population that they are sampling from, this could aid recruitment (Negrin et al. 2022). Furthermore,

Negrin et al. (2022) explained that if participants are interested in the research topic or consider the research question to be important, they are more inclined to enroll. Thus, having previously conducted financial education seminars for this organization, familiarity with the participants has already been established, as well as the participants having an interest in the research topic, which should facilitate developing a working relationship for my doctoral study.

The research landscape is continually evolving with pressure on researchers to ethically recruit and retain participants in research studies (Govender et al., 2019). As opined by Nahouli et al. (2021), there is widespread agreement that rapport building is an effective skill for improving interpersonal communications. Rapport, as defined by Tamm et al. (2021), is the establishment of interpersonal trust between the interviewer and the interviewee, while communicating respect, understanding, and acceptance. Similarly, Novotny et al. (2021) defined rapport as a dyadic-level construct comprised of mutual attention, positivity, and coordination of behaviors during an interaction. Thus, given the important implications of rapport-building, there has been a proliferation of rapport-building strategies (Novotny et al., 2021). According to Novotny et al., some of these techniques are primarily verbal in nature, employing the advantageous use of language to establish similarity with the interviewee to build rapport, while other techniques are nonverbal.

According to Major et al. (2016), for participants to devote time to a research study, the study's value must be apparent to the participants. For instance, the researcher and participants share the same goal, or the research problem is important for society and

could address important ideals (Major et al., 2016). Thus, framing the research as an opportunity to contribute to the experiences of others could appeal to participants and engage them in the work. Drafting a short summary of the research project and sending this to your interviewees prior to the interview is a way of informing them of what to expect to discuss in the interview and why this is an important topic to discuss, as this may help to facilitate rapport-building in the early stages of data collection (McGrath et al., 2016). When working with participants, building rapport is a key strategy for maintaining the personal feel of the research (Major et al., 2016).

Another strategy to build rapport with participants, especially when conducting interviews, is to conduct the interview at a time and place of the respondents' convenience and in a comfortable setting (McGrath et al, 2019). However, McGrath et al. (2019) emphasized that interviews should not be conceived as informal chats with interviewees, instead they are data-collection instruments which can be used to penetrate several research questions. Additionally, nonverbal rapport-building strategies such as actively listening to the interviewees, involves respecting silence and identifying such silent moments as an opportunity for ongoing reflection (McGrath et al., 2019). The ability to obtain accurate and comprehensive information disclosure from interviewees is enhanced when the interviewer can build and maintain rapport with their subjects, as claimed by Novotny et al. (2021).

According to Andrade (2021), research is also almost always conducted on purposive samples. A purposive sample is one whose characteristics are defined for a purpose that is relevant to the study (Andrade, 2021). The logic and power of purposeful

sampling lies in selecting information-rich cases for study in-depth from which one can learn a great deal about issues of central importance to the purpose of the inquiry, according to Staller (2021). Furthermore, instead of looking for a random, representative sample, qualitative researchers seek specific individuals or groups with a rich experience of the concept being studied (Knechel, 2019). Moreover, in a qualitative evidence synthesis, too much data from a high number of studies can undermine a researcher's ability to perform a thorough analysis (Ames et al. 2019). Therefore, cases are chosen because they contribute to creatively solving the puzzle under investigation (Staller, 2021). Thus, sampling in qualitative research is nearly always accomplished with small, nonrandom samples, as stated by Knechel (2019). To emphasize this point, Staller (2019) stated that purposeful sampling is one of the core distinguishing elements of qualitative inquiry.

Research Method and Design

The choice of research method is a vital element within a doctoral study (McKenna et al., 2021). Qualitative and quantitative research methods both involve an array of data types and techniques of analysis (Gilad, 2021). Qualitative methods are associated with case studies, which may be historically and geographically bound events, organizational units or individuals, among others, whereas quantitative data collection and analysis comprises observational data. Mixed methods is a type of research in that combines elements of qualitative and quantitative research approaches (Gilad, 2021). will utilize a qualitative method for this study to explore the strategies used by human resource managers to reduce employee financial stress.

A qualitative method was chosen for this study largely because qualitative studies seek to provide in-depth and diverse insights into a phenomenon and do not attempt to generalize the results to a population of interest (Guha et al., 2021). According to Malterud (2022), researchers use the qualitative research method to explore the meaning of social and subjective phenomena as experienced by individuals in their natural content. In addition, qualitative research methods support theorizing, problematization of rigid or engrained ways of thinking, questioning of taken-for-granted knowledge, exploration of little-known phenomena, samples, or context, and co-creation of learning and sense making, according to Köhler et al. (2021).

Research Method

The strength of qualitative methods lies in assessing what traditional surveys cannot: how respondents understand events in their lives, how they use language, the complexity of respondents' beliefs and attitudes, and extended accounts of their behaviors (Yu et al., 2021). Quantitative methods enable hypothesis testing, representativeness and generalizability, and the testing of causal mechanisms (Yu et al., 2021). A mixed-method approach combines qualitative and quantitative research, each having cert each having certain strengths (Yu et al., 2021). Jameel et al. (2018) stated that qualitative studies may be conducted in such studies when the answer to a research question cannot be quantified, the research question is primarily concerned about opinions and beliefs of individuals, or the investigator's desire for a complex and detailed understanding of an issue. That is certainly the case for my study. According to Jameel et al. (2018), many novice researchers will use the quantitative research paradigm for an

independent study course or their thesis dissertation. Importantly, new researchers must understand what research designs are there that can best address their research problems and guide them throughout the research process (Dawadi et al., 2021).

Jameel et al. (2018) explained that there are three distinct paradigms of research, one being qualitative research. I selected qualitative research, as qualitative research is designed to document individual perspectives, experiences, thoughts, and behaviors (Jameel et al., 2018). The second paradigm is quantitative research, which aims to measure numerical variables and create statistical representations of these variables to test theories (Jameel et al., 2018). The third paradigm, mixed-methods-research, includes components of both quantitative and qualitative paradigms into a form of research where both quantitative and qualitative data complement and substantiate each other (Jameel et al., 2018).

Qualitative research is described as subjective with a focus on investigating the multiple possible realities that exist which, in turn, can have different interpretations by an investigator immersed in the research and seeking deeper understanding (Ramlo, 2020). Quantitative research is a second type of research method that researchers use to measure numerical variables and create statistical representations of these variables to test theories (Jameel et al., 2018). According to Ramlo (2020), quantitative judgments are based upon making statements about relationships (often correlations) most often using objective data, thus quantitative research may be characterized as unbiased and mathematical. A mixed method researcher combines both qualitative and quantitative approaches (Wambugu & Njoroge, 2022). Mixed methods research has been expanded

into a distinct methodology that combines qualitative and quantitative research methods in a single study despite their different underlying principles (Liu, 2022). As explained by Baškarada and Koronios (2018), researchers primarily use mixed methods to improve data accuracy, produce a more complete picture, and mitigate against single-method biases. Thus, after exploring these different research methods, I selected a qualitative research method as the most appropriate for my study.

Research Design

Research design is concerned with procedures employed in a research paradigm (Kekeya, 2021). Several types of qualitative research designs have been identified and are diverse in nature varying in their purpose, data collection approach, and analytic strategies (Danford, 2023). Traditional qualitative research designs include case study, ethnography, grounded theory, narrative inquiry, and phenomenology (Danford, 2023). Additional approaches for conducting qualitative research include discourse analysis, feminist qualitative research, historical qualitative research, among others (Tomaszewski et al., 2020). However, Tomaszewski et al. (2020) claimed that case study, ethnography, narrative inquiry, and phenomenology are the four research designs qualitative researchers use. However, Jameel et al. (2018) acknowledged that any particular design may be a component of multiple methodologies. For example, interviews are a data collection method that may be employed in many qualitative methodologies depending on the research objectives, as claimed by Jameel et al..

Capturing the common meaning of several individuals regarding a phenomenon is the essence of phenomenological research (Eranda, 2021). According to Eranda (2021), phenomenologists are interested in themes which are common to all the respondents as they experience a particular phenomenon. Ethnography focuses on groups who are sharing a particular culture and studying shared patterns (Eranda, 2021). Ethnographic studies are used to explain and interpret the shared and learned patterns of values, behaviors, beliefs, and language of a group sharing a particular culture (Eranda, 2021).

Narrative inquiry is the research design used for studying the stories of individuals in which these stories can be either lived or told (Eranda, 2021). Narratives in the human sciences should be defined provisionally as discourses with a clear sequential order that connect events in a meaningful way for a definite audience and thus offer insights about the world and/or people's experiences of it (Eranda, 2021). Case study research design is used for shedding light or providing an in-depth understanding of a specific and well-defined case or a phenomenon using multiple data sources. Furthermore, researchers need to investigate a real-life contemporary issue with respect to a single or multiple case (Eranda, 2021). Therefore, although other qualitative research designs such as phenomenology, ethnography, and narrative inquiry were considered for my study, I selected a pragmatic inquiry design. Selecting a research methodology can be identified as the overall approach of the research, including the process by which the research is carried out (Pathiranage et al., 2020). Moreover, a case study is an in-depth study of a single unit, such as one individual, one group, one organization, or one program (Kekeya, 2021). Given that my study focused on a single real-world problem, a pragmatic inquiry research design was deemed appropriate over other qualitative research designs.

Between the various qualitative designs, there are distinct differences. For instance, a case study design is the examination of the particularity and complexity of a case, coming to understand its activities and particular circumstances (Tomaszewski et al., 2020). According to Jameel et al. (2018), case study research involves describing, explaining, or elaborating a phenomenon in different contexts. In addition, Tomaszewski et al. (2020) explained that the phenomenon and its context are intertwined, but the case should represent a bounded system, in which the case is clearly defined and delimited. Specifically, a system consists of many interrelated parts of a whole setting or organization, while bounded means the identification of a part or an element of that organization and its boundaries to study (Kekeya, 2021).

Phenomenology describes the meaning of the lived experiences of a phenomenon by the people who lived it. (Tomaszewski et al., 2020). Jameel et al. (2018) claimed that phenomenology is the study of clarifying how individuals make sense of their lives by examining their experiences. Ethnography research design is used to identify patterns and trends in the data to create themes to understand the behaviors, interactions, attitudes, and/or perceptions of certain groups and cultures (Jameel, 2018). According to Tomaszewski et al. (2020), an ethnography research design is appropriate when the goal is to describe how a cultural group works or explore shared lived experiences of the group. Lastly, a narrative inquiry involves collecting and understanding narratives of certain events and/or the experiences of individuals (Jameel, 2018). According to Tomaszewski et al. (2020), researchers use the narrative design to capture the stories people tell about their lives and lived experiences.

Given that there are multiple qualitative research designs, Dawadi et al. (2021) stated that an in-depth understanding of the research paradigms is essential for a researcher, and when novice researchers encounter a social problem, they must know how best to approach it. Therefore, researchers interested in learning about how individuals can be empowered in different contexts should explore the different approaches to a qualitative research inquiry (Jameel et al., 2018). Thus, after exploring these different methodologies, pragmatic inquiry study design was chosen for my research study.

Ormerod (2021) reported that inquiries start with a 'problematic' situation, one in which something must be done. Therefore, the aim of the inquiry is not only to change the beliefs of those involved but also to resolve the problematic situation by taking action (Ormerod, 2021). Moreover, Stompff et al. (2022) stated that an inquiry does not start with a research question nor with a problem: it is initiated when we no longer understand the situation we are in, when we encounter a surprise. According to Kelly and Cordeiro (2020), a central tenet in pragmatic inquiry is the view that all research should emanate from a desire to produce useful and actionable knowledge, solve existential problems or re-determine indeterminate situations, drawn from examination of effective habits or ways of acting. Given that my research examined strategies used by human resource managers to address the problem of employee financial stress, a pragmatic inquiry design was determined to be appropriate.

Lowe et al. (2018) noted that an important aspect of qualitative research is reaching data saturation. According to Hennink and Kaiser (2022), data saturation is the

most common guiding principle for assessing the adequacy of purposive samples in qualitative research. Fusch and Ness (2015) reported that data saturation is reached when there is enough information to replicate the study when the ability to obtain additional new information has been attained, and when further coding is no longer feasible. Data saturation refers to a point at which the researcher finds out that all the needed data have been collected and there is no additional new relevant information or data that can be collected from the respondents or subjects of the study, as claimed by Mwita (2022). Moreover, data saturation normally signifies that a researcher should stop collecting more data for a particular study, and saturation has become one of the important elements of a qualitative approach (Mwita, 2022).

Failure to reach data saturation could have an impact on the quality of the research conducted and hampers content validity (Fusch & Ness, 2015). However, the concept of data saturation is a topic of debate among qualitative researchers (Lowe et al., 2018). Guidance on assessing data saturation and the sample sizes needed to reach saturation have been vague (Hennink & Kaiser, 2022). Along these same lines, Fusch and Ness (2015) acknowledged that students who design a qualitative research study come up against the dilemma of data saturation when interviewing study participants. For instance, students must address the question of how many interviews are enough to reach data saturation (Fusch & Ness, 2015). However, Fusch and Ness recognized that data saturation is a concept that is hard to define, in that what is data saturation for one research study is not nearly enough for another. However, Mwita, (2022) opined that when an interviewer finds repetition of the same information from the subjects, data

saturation is considered achieved. As I conducted interviews in my study, repetition of the same information was the basis for determining if data saturation had been achieved.

Population and Sampling

According to Knechel (2019), sampling in qualitative research is nearly always accomplished with small, nonrandom samples. However, as stated by Vasileiou et al. (2018), qualitative research experts argue that there is no straightforward answer to the question of 'how many' and that sample size is contingent on factors relating to epistemological, methodological, and practical issues. In addition, Andrade (2021) stated that research is also almost always conducted on purposive samples. By definition, a purposive sample is one whose characteristics are defined for a purpose that is relevant to the study (Andrade, 2021). Furthermore, instead of looking for a random, representative sample, qualitative researchers seek specific individuals or groups with a rich experience of the concept being studied and need only as many participants as it takes to reach data saturation (Knechel, 2019). Therefore, for this study, I will interview 5 participants. However, the actual number interviewed will be based upon participant availability. As stated earlier, participants will be individuals who work within a human resources and benefits capacity and have been involved in arranging employee financial wellness programs. Interviews were conducted online due to health concerns and availability.

I used the purposive sampling technique to select four participants for this study.

Andrade (2021) explained that an advantage of purposive samples is that the study focuses only on the population that is of specific interest. According to Staller (2021), the logic and power of purposeful sampling lies in selecting information-rich cases for study

in-depth. Ames et al. (2019) stated that the inclusion of a significant number of primary studies with a high volume of data is not necessarily viewed as an advantage as it can threaten the quality of the synthesis. Additionally, the more data a researcher synthesizes, the less depth and richness they are likely to be able to extract from the data (Ames et al., 2019).

Regarding utilizing pragmatic inquiry as a research paradigm, pragmatism orients itself toward solving practical problems in the real world (Kaushik & Walsh, 2019).

Using pragmatism, according to Kelly and Cordeiro (2020), researchers working in organizational settings can move beyond objectivist conceptualizations, which have dominated research in the organizational sciences, to exploring and understanding the connections between knowledge and action in context. Moreover, pragmatic inquiry recognizes that individuals within social settings (including organizations) can experience action and change differently, and this encourages them to be flexible in their investigative techniques (Kelly & Cordeiro, 2020). As a research paradigm, Kaushik and Walsh (2019) stated that pragmatism is based on the proposition that researchers should use the philosophical and/or methodological approach that works best for the particular research problem that is being investigated.

According to Fofana et al. (2020), data saturation is reached when data collected is sufficient to cover the themes of interest and that collecting further data will not bring new relevant information. Data saturation occurs when the investigator collects data to

the point of diminishing returns when no new information is included in the previous data (Alam, 2021). Furthermore, data saturation is more evident when the research report or publication is comprehensively presented in a competent and confident manner (Sebele-Mpofu, 2020). To obtain data saturation, similar questions need to be asked of participants in interviews (Braun & Clarke, 2021). Therefore, I asked similar questions to the participants in my study to obtain data saturation.

Ethical Research

Arifin (2018) stated that the protection of human subjects through the application of appropriate ethical principles is important in all research studies. Moreover, in a qualitative study, ethical considerations have a particular resonance due to the in-depth nature of the study process (Arifin, 2018). For this reason, Sim and Waterfield (2019) suggested that consent is a central ethical concern in research using human participants. The process of obtaining consent, according to Afrin, involves that consent is given freely (voluntary), and that subjects understand what is being asked of them. To participate in a research study, participants need to be adequately informed about the research, comprehend the information, and have a power of freedom of choice to allow them to decide whether to participate or decline (Afrin, 2018). Importantly, consent serves to legitimize the researcher's actions (Sim & Waterfield, 2019).

The ethical conduct of research requires the informed consent and voluntary participation of research participants (Josephson & Smale, 2021). The informed consent process in research refers to informing a potential research participant of all the pertinent aspects of a clinical study by presenting the information in an informed consent

document (De Sutter et al., 2021). Moreover, an informed consent document acts as a safeguard for the potential research participants to be informed about the nature of the research trials they are requested to participate in (Yusof et al., 2022). According to Shea (2022), communication is the foundation of informed consent in research, as potential research participants need to be informed about the research procedures. Topics covered in an informed consent form include potential risks, possible benefits; autonomy or right to decline to participate or withdraw without being penalized following agreement to participate; assurance on confidentiality issues; reimbursement, compensation, and incentives for participating; and the contact information of the researchers should the participant have any concerns about the study (Yusof et al., 2022).

The assurance of voluntary informed consent has become the ethical cornerstone of any study protocol, as the research study consent has become a true process rather than a documentation exercise (Shea, 2022). Consent may be seen as having four essential elements: (a) disclosure (the adequacy of the information given by the researcher); (b) comprehension (the extent to which this information is understood by the participant); (c) competence (the participant's cognitive or emotional capacity to give or withhold agreement); and (d) and voluntariness (the absence of inducement of coercion; Sim and Waterfield, 2019). Furthermore, Sim and Waterfield (2019) claimed that fulfilment of each of these elements is necessary for informed consent to carry its intended moral force. I used an informed consent form for this study.

Consent is normally regarded as revocable, such that an individual can withdraw from the study at any point after initially consenting to participate (Sim & Waterfield,

2019). According to Afrin (2018), participants have the right to withdraw from a study at any time even after the informed consent had been signed. The right that the research participant can withdraw at any time and that participation is voluntary, are perhaps the most important rights there are within the informed consent process (Josephson & Smale, 2021). Hence, as stated by Arifin (p.32), it is the responsibility of the qualitative researcher to ensure that participants have the power of freedom of choice to be involved in the study.

Participants can withdraw from the study at any time for any reason. This reason does not need to be disclosed. The preferred method of participant withdrawal would be electronically through an email, as this provides documentation of the participant's intention to not continue in the study. However, a participant can also withdraw from the study verbally, as the researcher would document the date and time of the withdrawal and file this documentation with the other data collected.

Incentives to Participate

Another ethical consideration for qualitative researchers involves offering incentives for research participation. Govender et al. (2019) stated that the research landscape is continually evolving with pressure on researchers to ethically recruit and retain participants in research studies. Similarly, Zutlevics (2016) posited that controversy over providing financial incentives to individuals to participate in research has a long history and remains an issue of contention in both current discussions about research ethics and for institutional review bodies/human research ethics committees.

Moreover, although the general discussion on these incentives has developed

substantially in recent years, different ethical implications may arise depending on the specific nature of the research that is being conducted and the purpose of using financial incentives in each study (Roa & Biller-Andorno, 2022).

According to Zutlevics (2016), a concern among those who regard financial incentives as unethical is that the practice is coercive and hence undermines autonomous decision-making and compromises the scientific integrity of research. Likewise, Roa and Biller-Andorno (2022) reported that some researchers argue that financial incentives compromise the integrity of the research process and its outcomes. For example, incentives could possibly induce participants in research studies and influence them to participate even when the study is high risk (Govender et al., 2019). Additionally, Roa and Biller-Andorno have argued against the use of financial incentives, as these incentives may lead to undue inducement, exploitation, and biased enrolment of research participants.

In contrast, Zutlevics (2016) stated that those in favor of paying research participants argue that payment rightly recognizes the contribution individuals make to research outcomes and that without such financial recognition the number of participants opting to be involved in research would be insufficient to achieve statistically robust results. Govender et al. (2019) reported that researchers often look to provide incentives for participants, especially in studies that require samples that are difficult to access or those requiring extended periods of time for completion. Likewise, Roa and Biller-Andorno (2022) pointed out that in some situations, these incentives could be fair

inducements for participation, a way of acknowledging participants' time and effort, and a means to achieve diverse sample compositions.

For instance, advantages of providing incentives include facilitating easy recruitment and helping in maintaining a sample size (Govender et al., 2019). Roa and Biller-Andorno (2022) noted that researchers could argue that financial incentives represent a flexible tool that can be designed in ways that do not compromise scientific integrity. Furthermore, some researchers have suggested that carefully designed financial incentives can be ethically justified (Roa and Biller-Andorno, 2022). However, Zutlevics (2016) acknowledged that researchers working in some areas may have a very pragmatic reason to be wary of offering financial incentives to research participants. Therefore, Govender et al. (2019) recognized that there may be instances in which the use of incentives to recruit and retain research subjects or participants is entirely innocuous, however there are some areas or instances in which this is not the case. Regarding this doctoral study, I did not offer or provide any form of incentives to participants.

Protecting Research Participants

One of the generally acceptable ways of increasing the frontier of knowledge is through research (Madanayake & Ganiyu, 2018). According to Vlahou et al. (2021), sharing is an undisputed ethical obligation of any investigator and is a prerequisite for scientific and clinical advancement. The ethical conduct of research depends mainly on researchers, in addition to researchers understanding how they perceive and enact their role in research is paramount (Cumyn et al., 2019). As a rule, the protection of human subjects through the application of appropriate ethical principles is important in any

research study (Afrin, 2018). Along these lines, Madanayake and Ganiyu (2018) reported that there are growing concerns about ethical issues in research, especially where human beings are involved.

Madanayake and Ganiyu (2018) stated that all researchers are expected to conform to some lay down code of practice and meet minimal ethical requirements. According to Reid et al. (2018), in qualitative studies, where the dynamics of human interaction pervade, ethical considerations are an ongoing process which continues long after approval has been granted. For instance, consent to data use, ensuring the protection of participants, undoubtedly constitutes a pillar of clinical research ethics and the principal condition to obtain ethical approval (Vlahou et al., 2021). Thus, Bhalerao et al. (2022) explained that researchers who impose risk on participants despite good intentions, must prioritize the protection of participant privacy.

Research participants require confidentiality in two main areas: their personal information, and the resources (Bhalerao et al., 2022). Therefore, the identity of all the participants must be protected and their right to privacy always ensured, as this includes their contact details which must not be shared with a third party without their consent (Madanayake & Ganiyu, 2018). One such way to protect participants, according to Bhalerao et al. (2022), is that researchers may consider omitting demographic details completely or describing only the broad demographics of their sampled population. In the case of interviews, Madanayake and Ganiyu (2018) explained that the interviewee should be given a copy of the interview transcript to ensure that the transcription truly represents his/her opinion. These procedures will be utilized in my doctoral study as Bhalerao et al.

(2022) reported that it is critical to avoid disclosing personal information in any resulting publications. In this study, I used randomized identifiers to protect participants' identities.

Omitting real names or other directly identifying information is a way to preserve participant anonymity (Sim & Waterfield, 2019). In addition, Bhalerao et al. (2022) reported that participant data could be stored and organized using randomized identifiers such as 3-digit numbers instead of personally identifiable information such as names or email addresses. For example, in my study, the first person interviewed could be identified as "Participant 1," while the second person identified as "Participant 2," and so on until all participants are appropriately labeled. The company would simply be identified as "C1."

Madanayake and Ganiyu (2018) stated that the collected data must be protected, used only for the purpose for which it was collected alone and destroyed in an ethical manner at a stated time. Thus, all participant data must be stored with security controls such as passwords and encryption to reduce the risk of unauthorized access (Bhalerao et al., 2022). In addition, Afrin (2018) stated that both written and electronic data be stored for 5 years. Thus, data collected for my study stored on such devices will be held for the same timeframe, in addition to information stored on both work and personal laptop being protected by using passwords known only to myself. Hard copies or written materials of the data will be kept in a secured cabinet in my personal locked residence with no access by outside individuals. I will store all data securely for 5 years to protect the confidentiality of participants.

Data Collection Instruments

I served as the main instrument for data collection in this study. Data collection involves the process of gathering information on variables of interest using accurate, authentic, systematic, and appropriate techniques to answer research questions, hypotheses, and desired outcomes (Gunawan et al., 2022). Thomas et al. (2018) stated that the design of an instrument is an extremely important aspect to ensure that data will be accurately collected, and the results will be interpretable and generalizable. According to Jain (2021), interviews are a common data collection tool. According to McGrath et al. (2019), in the qualitative research process the interview is a viable and highly utilized data-collection tool. I collected data from the participants using semi-structured interviews as contained in the interview protocol (see Appendix). According to Gardner et al. (2022), semi-structured interviews involve creating the questions prior to the interview and all candidates are asked the same exact questions, in the same order to provide an equitable opportunity for applicants and reduce any primacy, recency, or contrast effects, utilized by the organization to determine the initiative's effectiveness (e.g., employee surveys).

Qualitative interviewing is a data collection tool that is useful in a range of methodological approaches and may be applied to address several research questions (McGrath et al., 2019). Moreover, interviews have been found to be useful in getting a broader understanding of how and why certain things happen and what are the opinions, motivations, interests, feelings of the people involved (Jain, 2021). I used interviews in this study to understand the objectives behind this organization developing strategies to

address their employees' financial stress. Importantly, interviews are a powerful tool and should not be ignored when selecting the right research tool (Jain, 2021).

Köksal et al. (2014) stated that the use of different data collectors might make an important difference in the research results, as differences arising from data collectors are an important factor threatening internal validity in research. Haseski and İlic (2019) defined reliability as the reproducibility of research findings, whereas validity refers to an impartial observation of the phenomenon. Spiers et al. (2018) explained that reliability in qualitative research is rooted in the idea of data adequacy, which makes it possible to show consistent support for one's analysis across participants. Validity is related to data appropriateness, which makes it possible to provide an accurate account of the experiences of participants within and beyond the immediate context (Spiers et al., 2018). According to Sürücü and Maslakçı (2020), a measuring instrument may be reliable without being valid, but if a measuring instrument is valid, it is also likely to be reliable, although, reliability alone is not sufficient to ensure validity.

I conducted member checking to enhance the reliability and validity of the data collection process. According to Naidu and Prose (2018), member checking is commonly used to verify the accuracy of data once the researcher has completed collection and possibly analysis of the data. According to Motulsky (2021), member checking has become so widely and consistently recommended as a validity or trustworthiness check that it almost seems to have become a requirement for rigorous qualitative research. Motulsky defined member checking as the process of soliciting feedback from one's participants or stakeholders about one's data or interpretations. From a doctoral research

standpoint, Institutional Review Board (IRB), and research supervisors may assume that threats to validity are not adequately addressed unless member checking is included in the research design (Motulsky, 2021).

Member checking typically involves researchers asking participants to read and provide written comments on transcribed interview data, and/or conducting follow-up interviews or focus group discussions with the same participants, or different participants from the member group (Brear, 2019). When transcripts are used in the member checking process, once the participants have reviewed either the full findings report or transcriptions, they send their feedback to researchers, who may or may not change data interpretations according to the feedback (de Loyola González-Salgado et al., 2022). According to (de Loyola González-Salgado et al., 2022), another frequently used member checking strategy consists in conducting follow-up interviews with participants.

Although not part of this doctoral study, transcription review is another process utilized to ensure reliability and validity in the data collection process. Interviewee transcript review, a form of respondent validation, is a way to share and check interview transcripts with research participants (Rowlands, 2021). Azevedo et al. (2017) explained that transcription is an important research task, and Rowlands (2021) stated that the interview transcript review is a beneficial tool to address data quality.

Transcription is the process of reproducing spoken words into written text (Azevedo et al., 2017). According to Rowlands (2021), the sharing of transcripts is a means to ensure accuracy. As indicated by Birt et al. (2016), asking a participant to check the transcript of their interview potentially enhances the accuracy of the data. However,

despite the benefits of transcript review in qualitative research, one of the main reasons why I prefer member checking over transcript review is due to the amount of time involved in transcription being a challenge (Azevedo et al., 2017).

Data Collection Technique

According to Torrentira (2020), data collection for qualitative research requires a high level of participant-researcher relationship. Traditionally, common data collection techniques for qualitative research include direct observation and face-to-face interviews (Torrentira, 2020). In addition, observations, experimentation, survey, interviews, case studies, diary records offer some methods for collecting primary data (Jain, 2021). However, Barrett and Twycross (2018) identified interviews, focus groups and observation as the three core approaches to data collection in qualitative research.

Between these approaches, interviews give the most direct and straightforward approach to gathering detailed and rich data regarding a particular phenomenon (Barrett & Twycross, 2018). An interview is an interactive form of data collection and has been recommended as a suitable data collection tool (Jain, 2021). As a technique, interviews can be defined as one-on-one or group interviews (Wiseman et al., 2019). Moreover, interviews, whether face-to-face, or online, often offer a more personalized exchange of information than other data collection techniques (Jain, 2021).

I used semi-structured interviews as the data collection tool for this study. These interviews were conducted through video conferencing given that due to the COVID-19 pandemic videoconferencing can suffice to collect data (Torrentira, 2020). As reported by Archibald et al. (2019), advances in information and communication technologies offer

new opportunities for interviewing research participants. In addition, compared to the traditional face-to-face interview, online video conferencing interviews, online participants were more open and expressive and that rapport between and among participants was built quicker (Torrentira, 2020). Having previously conducted virtual meetings with these participants, I was able to quickly develop a rapport through videoconferencing. Participants were contacted via email to arrange a date and time that is convenient for the participant to conduct the virtual meeting. Once the meeting had been scheduled, participants were sent the video link to attend the session. Sessions will be scheduled for one hour.

I recorded interviews via Zoom, which is a collaborative, cloud-based videoconferencing service offering features including online meetings, group messaging services, and secure recording of sessions. At the conclusion of the interview, I conducted transcription using Temi software. However, I conducted member checking to ensure the reliability and validity of the interview. Copies of the recorded session will be stored for 5 years, after which I will destroy these recordings.

Khan and MacEachen (2022) argued that while traditional face-to-face interviews remain a compelling and popular means, modern innovative technology-based interviewing, such as videoconference interviews, can play a pivotal role in qualitative research. For research participants, online methods may be more attractive than in-person interviews due to features including convenience, efficiency, cost effectiveness, and flexibility (Archibald et al., 2019). Torrentira (2020) explained that pursuing research during the COVID-19 pandemic is challenging especially in terms of data collection.

Videoconference provides a unique opportunity for researchers and participants by compressing the time-space divide, facilitating safety, reducing travel-related expenses, accessing transnational participants, maintaining social distance, and protecting personal space and privacy (Khan & MacEachen, 2022).

Despite the advantages of videoconference interviews, Khan and MacEachen (2022) identified shortcomings and practical challenges which might conflict with the holistic quality of qualitative research. Similarly, Barrett and Twycross (2018) acknowledged that while interviews play an important role in the data collection process, interviews present several challenges to researchers. Specifically, these challenges include dropped calls, pauses, inaudible segments, inability to read body language and nonverbal cues, and loss of intimacy compared to traditional in-person interviews (Khan & MacEachen, 2022). Archibald et al. (2019) noted that issues such as dropped calls and pauses, poor audio or video quality, and the inability to read nonverbal cues because of inconsistent and delayed connectivity. In addition, most interviews are recorded and will need transcribing before analyzing, which can be extremely time-consuming (Barrett & Twycross, 2018). According to Gunawan et al. (2022), when researchers conduct telephone/video interviews, audio or video are recorded, followed by verbatim transcription before data analysis, which is a lengthy process. Regardless of the challenges associated with videoconferencing, Torrentira (2020) stated that adaptation in the data collection for research should be reinforced to sustain reliability, honesty, and academic integrity.

From an academic integrity standpoint, researchers use many sources of evidence to increase the validity of the study (Candela, 2019). However, member checking is commonly used by qualitative researchers to verify the accuracy of data once the researcher has completed collection and analysis of the data (Naidu & Prose, 2018). Moreover, member checking is commonly used to validate, verify, or assess the trustworthiness of qualitative results Motulsky (2021). According to Motulsky (2021), member checking is the process of soliciting feedback from one's participants about one's data or interpretations. Data or results are returned to participants to check for accuracy and resonance with their experiences (Birt et al., 2016). FitzPatrick (2019) opined that member checking is the most important way to rule out the possibility of misinterpreting the meaning of what participants say and do and the perspective they have on what is going on, as well as being an important way of identifying any biases and misunderstandings of what was observed.

Data Organization Technique

Schreier et al. (2006) explained that research records are important for managing and planning research, for replicating results, for documenting collaborations, for publishing and peer review, and for complying with governmental and institutional rules and regulations. To preserve research records, Bhalerao et al. (2022) reported that participant data must be stored with security controls such as passwords and encryption to reduce the risk of unauthorized access. According to Peng (2019), research record keeping is not just simply storing the data or notes after publication, it also includes careful recording, clear documentation, and proper management of those records during

and after the research activities. Research records are important sources for replicating research, checking validity, proving intellectual property, and in some cases for preventing and checking scientific misconduct (Peng, 2019).

Types of research records identified by Peng (2019) include:

- Notes, intermediate study records such as descriptions of progressive ideas, experiment records, research proposals, progress reports.
- Data, such as source data for experiments, original questionnaire responses, complete interview transcripts.
- Code, programs of the experiment, prototype, and those involved in the research.
- Logs, produced by researchers and programs.

However, given that computer technology has been utilized to provide solutions to address modern record-keeping challenges (Schreier et al., 2006), I stored data collected for this study on a personal laptop. I also stored data on USB portable disk drives. From a retention standpoint, Peng (2019) stated that a retention period of 5 to 10 years seems applicable, therefore, I will store data collected from this securely for 5 years, after which I will destroy the data.

Data Analysis

Data analysis is the process of converting gathered data to meaningful information (Taherdoost, 2022). According to Mattimoe et al. (2021), the data analysis phase of qualitative research is described as the most intellectually challenging phase. Given that the researcher is the primary instrument of data collection and analysis in

qualitative research, focus and interpretive thinking are critical (Clark, 2018). During analysis, Roberts et al. (2019) explained that researchers stay close to the data and aim through the adoption of their ontological and epistemological lens to identify a range of beliefs without introducing bias from their own world view.

According to Castleberry and Nolen (2018), the descriptive nature of qualitative approaches allows the researcher to build a complex, holistic picture in a natural setting as qualitative research is a term that includes several research designs. Consequently, the field of qualitative research encompasses a wide range of aims and methods which makes choosing the best method for a specific project a difficult and risky decision (Gläser & Laudel, 2013). Lester et al. (2020) contends that there is a decision challenge due to the seemingly limitless approaches that a qualitative researcher might leverage. However, according to Lester et al., there is no single right way to analyze qualitative data.

I used a pragmatic inquiry study research design. Therefore, from a data analysis standpoint, discussions about rigour or quality in qualitative research recommend triangulation as good practice (Farquhar et al., 2020). Triangulation, according to Noble and Heale (2019), is a method used to increase the credibility and validity of research. Farquhar et al. (2020) opined that triangulation, originated as a geometric technique for establishing location, however in social sciences, triangulation is viewed as a metaphor for a research process that employ different methods, theories or data sources that enable the capture of the phenomenon under study. For this reason, triangulation can enrich research as it offers a variety of datasets to explain differing aspects of a phenomenon of interest (Noble & Heale, 2019).

Fusch et al. (2018) stated that strategies such as Norman Denzin's triangulation techniques can assist with endeavors to understand the other. Noble and Heale (2019) reported that four types of triangulation are proposed by Denzin: (a) data triangulation, which includes matters such as periods of time, space and people; (b) investigator triangulation, which includes the use of several researchers in a study; (c) theory triangulation, which encourages several theoretical schemes to enable interpretation of a phenomenon; and (d) methodological triangulation, which promotes the use of several data collection methods such as interviews and observations. For this study, methodological triangulation was selected as the most appropriate data analysis process.

Although triangulation offers richness and clarity to research studies, Noble and Heale (2019) acknowledged limitations. For instance, when used as a method for combining research methodologies, triangulation may not be achieved in a uniform or consistent manner (Noble & Heale, 2019). In addition, Noble and Heale claimed that triangulation does not always adequately mitigate problems in a chosen research methodology. However, despite these potential limitations, I selected methodological triangulation as the most appropriate data analysis process for this doctoral study.

Reliability and Validity

Nguyen et al. (2021) stated that establishing trustworthiness is a fundamental component of qualitative research. Trustworthiness is a way that researchers can persuade themselves and readers that their research findings are worthy of attention (Nowell et al., 2017). According to Adler (2022), research must be trustworthy to be relevant.

Additionally, qualitative researchers strive for trustworthiness, which means that when

readers interpret the written work, they will have a sense of confidence in what the researcher has reported (Stahl & King, 2020). Furthermore, Nowell et al. (2017) referenced the concept of trustworthiness through the criteria of dependability, credibility, transferability, and confirmability. Adler contended that trustworthiness is crucial to assessing qualitative research and that its most important aspect is transparency. To achieve trustworthiness in qualitative research outcome, Daniel (2019) posited that it is necessary to employ a systematic process in organizing and analyzing data. However, in addition to trustworthiness, Sebele-Mpofu (2020) explained that data saturation has become a novel and topical issues amongst researchers focusing on how to enhance rigor and validity in qualitative research.

Reliability

Dependability is one of four criteria for the rigor and trustworthiness of qualitative research (Janis, 2022). Janis (2022) explained dependability as a work repeated in the same context with similar methods and participants, the result would be similar. Moreover, scholars view dependability as reliability, meaning that the same use of a given method will produce identical results (Janis, 2022). Practices to address dependability include use of inter-rater reliability, strong and logical mapping of study designs to research questions, and multiple checks of analysis between researchers (Nguyen et al., 2021). Along this lines, Stahl and King (2020) stated that another aspect of dependability has to do with the researchers' anticipation of review by a peer, through the review process by my doctoral chair and co-chair, although I am certainly not their peer. Ultimately, to achieve dependability, researchers can ensure the research process is

logical, traceable, and clearly documented (Nowell et al., 2017). As claimed by Nowell et al. (2017), when readers can examine the research process, they are better able to judge the dependability of the research.

Validity

Validity is concerned with whether the measuring instrument measures the behaviour or quality that it is intended to measure and is a measure of how well the measuring instrument performs its function (Sürücü & Maslakçı, 2020). According to Haseski & İlic, 2019), validity refers to an impartial observation of the phenomenon. Moreover, validity says that the findings are in fact, or must be, true and certain (Vu, 2021). Thus, validity is the extent to which the results really measure what they are supposed to measure (Ahmed & Ishtiaq, 2021).

Credibility

Researchers ask the question "How congruent are the findings with reality?" (Stahl & King, 2020). Nowell et al. (2017), reported that the credibility of a study is determined when coresearchers or readers are confronted with the experience, they can recognize it. To establish credibility, Nguyen et al. (2021) noted that researchers can make use of strategies such as triangulation among multiple researchers and data sources, member checks of one's interpretations with participants. According to Adler (2022), triangulation is cross-checking research to make it more credible. Similarly, Stahl and King (2020) reported that one method of promoting credibility is through the various processes of triangulation. Therefore, to establish credibility in this doctoral study, I used both triangulation and member checking in my data analysis process.

Transferability

Daniel (2019) stated that transferability in qualitative research suggests that findings from one study can be applied to other settings or groups of people. Transferability is the degree to which the results of qualitative research can be transferred to other contexts or settings conducted among other respondents (Tuval-Mashiach, 2021). According to Stahl and King (2020), qualitative researchers maintain that patterns and descriptions from one context may be applicable to another. Moreover, transferability rests on the ability of readers to critically assess contexts, samples, and scenarios (Makel et al., 2022). Additionally, transferability refers to the generalizability of inquiry (Nowell et al., 2017). Transferability is used to provide evidence to the reader to assess the integrity of research outcomes (Daniel, 2019). Tuval-Mashiach (2021) explained that transferability is more related to questions of generalizability, namely, the ability to generalize from the findings to larger population. Therefore, as transferability allows the new study's researcher to apply the results from the original study to the new setting future researchers could use the results from doctoral study to conduct research on additional organizations attempting to address employee financial stress (Tuval-Mashiach, 2021).

Confirmability

A fourth perspective on trustworthiness is confirmability or getting as close to objective reality as qualitative research can get (Stahl & King, 2020). According to Nguyen et al. (2021), conformity is a common strategy in qualitative research to provide readers with an "audit trail" of steps and process that a research team undertook.

Confirmability involves establishing that the researcher's interpretations and findings are clearly derived from the data, requiring the researcher to demonstrate how conclusions and interpretations have been reached (Nowell et al., 2017). Furthermore, Nowell et al. (2017) stated that a study and its findings are auditable when another researcher can clearly follow the decision trail, and that another researcher with the same data, perspective, and situation could arrive at the same or comparable, but not contradictory, conclusions. Stenfors et al. (2020) explained that in the write-up of the findings, confirmability is enhanced by the inclusion of quotes or similar research data. Therefore, quotes will be included in my doctoral study to address confirmability. It should be noted that Nowell et al. claimed that confirmability is established when credibility, transferability, and dependability are all achieved.

Data Saturation

In addition to trustworthiness in qualitative research, data saturation is another core concept in qualitative research (Fofana et al., 2020). Braun and Clarke (2021) indicated that data saturation is the flagship of validity for qualitative research. The concept of data saturation is defined as the point at which no new information, codes or themes are yielded from data (Braun & Clarke, 2021). However, data saturation, as noted by Alam (2021), is a significant and broadly argued issue in qualitative research method in relation to the sampling process. For instance, Sebele-Mpofu (2020) opined that there is no one size fit all saturation and what is data saturation for one is nearly not enough for another. In addition, Alam acknowledged that it has become a challenge for researchers

to understand the saturation point and the process for qualitative researchers to reach the ultimate position.

Transition and Summary

Section 2 contained a comprehensive overview of the role of the researcher, participants, research method and design. Furthermore, Section 2 contained narratives on population and sampling, ethical research, data collection instruments, data collection technique, data organization technique, data analysis, and reliability and validity, and data saturation.

Section 3 of this study will cover data collection, data interpretation, analysis, and presentation of key themes and patterns. In addition to the presentation of these findings, Section 3 will include narratives on the application to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for action, recommendations for further research, reflections, and a conclusion. Furthermore, Section 3 includes implications for social change, applications for professional practice, recommendations for further research, reflections, and a conclusion. Any appendices and tables of content will be included in this section.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative, pragmatic inquiry study is to explore strategies used by human resources managers to reduce business costs associated with employee financial stress. Five human resources/benefits managers were interviewed via Zoom or over the phone and asked a series of questions regarding their respective strategies to address employee financial stress. Participants are referred to as P1 through P5, based on the order of their interview. Responses were transcribed using Otter.ai, which is a webbased transcription service that uses artificial intelligence (AI) to transcribe conversations. Participant member checking was conducted by a follow-up meeting with participants where I discussed the findings of their respective interviews for interpretation accuracy and any additional commentary. Following member checking, the transcribed interviews were analyzed by Nvivo software to identify themes.

Analysis of the findings indicated that the primary rationale for implementing strategies to address employee financial stress was not based on reducing business costs. Rather, the motivational factor for assisting employees with financial stress was based on the objective of assisting employees reduce their stress levels. According to Sabri et al. (2020), employees who are financially unhealthy are regularly stressed, and distracted, which affects absenteeism, efficiency, and retirement. Moreover, concerns about money can create mental burdens such as worry, stress, or sadness, which could interfere with the ability to work effectively (Kaur et al., 2021).

Reissová and Papay (2021) stated that stress can be a general factor that significantly reduces employee engagement. Employee engagement has been defined as the simultaneous investment of an individual's physical, cognitive, and motional energy in active, full work performance (Saks, 2022). Human resource management practices and systems, according to Saks (2022), are positively related to employee engagement. Therefore, increasing employee engagement is important to organizations as an engaged employee tends to be motivated and focused on achieving set goals, motivates colleagues in a similar way, and is positively emotionally connected with their work (Reissová & Papay, 2021). Furthermore, Reissová and Papay claimed that the elimination of the stressor intensity may increase engagement rates. Therefore, employee wellbeing is a critical factor that organizations are trying to deliver to guarantee that their staff stay happy and motivated at work (Sabri et al., 2020).

Presentation of the Findings

The overarching research question of this study is: What strategies do human resources managers use to reduce business costs associated with employee financial stress? After conducting five interviews, no new themes were identified, indicating that data saturation had been achieved. The three themes identified were (a) employee financial wellbeing, (b) diversified delivery, and (c) external collaboration. The first theme, employee financial wellbeing, addresses how the participants were interested in improving the financial wellbeing of their employees. The second theme, diversified delivery, identified that human resource managers employ multiple strategies to address employee financial stress. Lastly, the third theme, external collaboration, emphasized the

importance of working with external partners to address employee financial stress.

Relating these themes to the conceptual framework for this study, self-determination theory, signified that human resource managers are motivated to assist employees dealing with financial stress. Therefore, the results of this study support the analysis from the literature review and conceptual framework and may provide strategies that human resource managers can utilize to address employee financial stress.

Theme 1: Employee Financial Wellbeing

Sabri et al. (2020) claimed that financial wellbeing is a sensation of being financially strong, pleased, and free from worry. Financial wellbeing is significant, according to Sabri et al., as studies have demonstrated that there is a solid, and constructive connection to overall well-being of a person. According to van Vuren et al. (2018), addressing employee financial wellbeing is an important issue to employers as lower financial wellbeing among employees increases absenteeism and causes disruptions in concentration levels among employees (van Vuren et al., 2018). Therefore, there is an increased need for the incorporation of wellness activities within organizations to assist employees, as these activities will also be beneficial towards the employer (van Vuren et al., 2018).

When asked what that participant hoped that employees would gain from participating in strategies that address financial stress, P2 responded "to help them not be stressed anymore." P3's response to the same question was "more confidence in preparing for their future." Additionally, P3 responded that it was important "to help people feel a little more at ease." Similarly, P4 commented that the rationale for

implementing strategies to address employee financial stress was "better mental health for our employees. I think financial constraints are very stressful to people. It impacts productivity, it impacts mental health, and it impacts relationships at home." P5 response to the same question was simply "peace of mind." Moreover, P5 added that it was important that "employees see that we our investing in them and their future." Employees valuing the efforts by employers to address employee financial stress was mentioned by P5 as employee engagement.

As stated earlier, employers can also benefit by addressing employee financial stress. This benefit to employers is defined as employee engagement (Reissová & Papay 2021). Engagement, according to Reissová and Papay (2021), is defined as dedication to the employer and the values preferred by the organization. In addition, employee engagement has been defined as the simultaneous investment of an individual's physical, cognitive, and emotional energy in active, full work performance (Saks, 2022). Increasing employment is important to organizations as an engaged employee is positively emotionally connected with his/her work performances which is naturally of high quality, and very often even beyond the set duties (Reissová & Papay 2021). P1 commented that a motivational factor for addressing employee financial stress was "so everyone feels that they're being included." P2 commented that "this is a family support business. In this business we see and listen to what our employees need." Thus, increasing employment engagement is important to human resources managers as research on employee engagement has demonstrated that human resource management practices and systems are positively related to employee engagement (Saks, 2022).

Analysis of Theme 1 Under Self-Determination Theory

The conceptual framework that grounded this study was self-determination theory. Self-determination theory distinguishes between different types of motivation based on the different reasons or goals that give rise to an action (Ryan & Deci, 2000). Intrinsic motivation focuses on internal satisfaction rather than external evaluation and instrumental values, whereas extrinsic motivation focuses on external factors, outcomes, and evaluation (Jeong, & Han, 2023). Moreover, self-determination theory distinguishes a consumer's intrinsic life goals, for example, personal growth, close relationships, community feelings, good health and/or fitness from his or her extrinsic life goals, such as money, fame, and image (Gilal et al., 2019). Furthermore, Gilal et al. (2019) suggested that people tend to pursue intrinsic goals because of the internal satisfaction, pleasure, or personal meaning derived from their attainment, whereas individuals who chase extrinsic life goals tend to be more concerned about how they are perceived by others.

Responses from the participants indicated that intrinsic motivation took precedence over extrinsic motivation when developing and implementing strategies to address employee financial stress. For instance, when asked the question "what do you hope to gain by offering strategies that address financial stress?", not a single participant responded with what they, as an individual, hoped to receive. Instead, responses were centered on what the employee would receive as a benefit. For example, P1 stated "helping employees" as a hope to gain by offering strategies to address employee financial stress. P2's response to this question was "The goal is to help our employees get through a lot of this." P3's answer to this question was "to be more engaged in their

saving process and not be passive in terms of their financial future." P4's response of "Better mental health for our employees" also focused on the employee rather than the participant. Similarly, P5's hope was for employee engagement. All the responses to this question were focused on helping the employee without any mention of any extrinsic benefit to the participant.

Alignment of Theme 1 to Literature Review

Review of the literature revealed that increasingly, employers are developing strategies to assist their employees who are experiencing financial stress, especially those lower and moderate-income employees. According to Despard et al. (2020), financial challenges are especially pronounced among low- and moderate-income households. As evidence, P1 noted implementing programs for employees within a certain salary bracket. P3 indicated that given the dichotomy between classifications of employees, "not a lot of attention was given to the staff." Therefore, P3 "took on the banner of protecting the staff as best I could and offering them as many tools and resources as possible to help them with their education and their knowledge level in terms of their financial future."

Although the participants in this study were motivated intrinsically to develop strategies to address employee financial stress. Responses indicated that extrinsic rewards for employees were helpful in developing effective strategies to address employee financial stress and improve employees' feeling of well-being. Extrinsic motivation refers to behaviors conducted for reasons other than their innate satisfaction (Yee & Smith, 2022). One type of behavior known as external regulation is behavior that is conducted due to rewards and punishments.

Extrinsic motivation, through external regulation, was identified by P2 and P4. P2 mentioned offering employees incentives to participate in financial wellness programs. For example, "we were giving incentives, like a price of their choice." Furthermore, P2 stated that "if it is \$200, they can do whatever they want, but only if they do those financial modules." P4 also acknowledged the importance of extrinsic motivation to assist with the effectiveness of employee financial stress strategies. According to P3, "I also think that it is essential for employers to provide an employer match to increase participation in the plan." Thus, as indicated in self-determination theory, both intrinsic and extrinsic motivational factors can be used in effective strategies to address employee financial stress.

Theme 2: Strategy Diversification

The second theme identified from data analysis was strategy diversification. Strategy diversification deals with offering different strategies to address employee financial stress under a blended learning approach. Blended learning is an approach in education that provides multi delivery mode to optimize learning outcome and cost of program delivery in institutions (Shamsuddin & Kaur, 2020). According to Shepard (2020), the workplace is changing, and today's global workforce is more diverse than before, therefore, the focus on generational differences as a factor in diversity continues to grow. A generation is a group encompassing a series of consecutive birth years and spanning approximately 20 years (Shepard, 2020). For this reason, organizations must be prepared for challenges resulting from multi-generational interaction in the workplace. Moreover, the diversity of the typical workplace poses many challenges to leaders and

managers (Jones et al., 2019). Therefore, for an organization to aptly address the potential concerns related to generational differences, the organization's leaders must first understand those differences (Shepard, 2020).

P1 stated that "sometimes just sending an email is not as effective, especially with the younger generation." Similarly, P3 stated that one of the least effective strategies is "just sending emails." For this reason, employers need to have an understanding of the learning styles of their employees. According to Shamsuddin and Kaur (2020), learning style can be described as a technique favored by a person during the acknowledgment and handling of a particular slice of data. Various generations differ in preferred methods of communicating and interacting based on growing up in different periods of time (Shepard, 2020). For example, P1 noted that "for my parents, mail works for that demographic. However, for younger generations I think just doing something like Snail mail isn't that great. That's because we'll just throw that away." As such, there is no one instructional strategy that can fit for all (Shamsuddin & Kaur, 2020).

P3 reported that "The age of our staff is a lot older; and the average person stays beyond their true retirement age." P2 noted that "What is not as effective were webinars. Millennials were dropping. The kids are dropping. But for an older population there is so much more attendance." To categorize generations, Generation Z are those just entering the workforce now and are born between 1997 and 2015, Generation Y or Millennials are those born between 1981and 1996, Generation X are born between 1965 and 1980, while Baby Boomers are those born after World War II—in the 1940s to 1960s (Jones et al., 2019). Therefore, different learning environment needs to be constructed depending on

learning styles to get optimal outputs on educational outcome (Shamsuddin & Kaur, 2020).

Alignment of Theme 2 to Literature Review

The findings in Theme 2 align with expectancy-value theory. Expectancy-value theory postulates two motivational beliefs: expectancy of success and expectancy of value, as the main determinants of motivated behaviour (Boström & Palm, 2020). Rachmatullah et al. (2021) claimed that under expectancy-value theory an individuals' choice, persistence, and performance can be explained by their beliefs about how well they will do on the activity and the extent to which they value the activity. This type of value, utility value, does not come from the activity itself but from the consequences of doing the activity (Boström & Palm, 2020). Thus, according to Boström and Palm (2020), utility value refers to the usefulness of the activity. Furthermore, Xu (2022) claimed that according to expectancy-value theory value refers to the extent to which an individual thinks a task is worthwhile and useful; it focuses on the question "Do I want to do this task?"

Expectancy-value theory can potentially explain why some individuals participate in certain activities associated with reducing employee financial stress and elect not to participate in other activities. For example, P2 noted that "We like short videos or comic strips because comics are for a younger population." This type of strategy may be effective for younger employees who can see the value of viewing a comic strip, while this type of strategy may not be seen as valuable to an older employee. For human resources managers, understanding how employees learn within their respective

organization is important as human resource development is defined as developing activities that help employees learn and grow (Shepard (2022). As such, activities that may be effective within one organization may not be effective within another. For instance, P5 commented that "strategies that are not in person or sent out for employees to consume on their own" as not being effective. This is in contrast to P2 response of "we decided to do some modules as an alternative (to webinars) or short videos."

Learning styles change over time (Shamsuddin & Kaur, 2020) therefore employers need to recognize that the value that an employee received at a particular stage of their employment may not be received as equally valuable at a different stage. As evidence, P1 commented that "if you start doing the same thing, every year, it stops being as effective." Furthermore, it is important for human resource managers to develop a diversified theory of adult learning that considers the diversity and differences among learners in a single organization (Shepard, 2022). Additionally, it is important the developers of employee financial stress strategies within organizations are aware of the different learning styles within their respective organizations as understanding different learning styles offers the opportunity to individualize learning based on the learners' style preference (Shepard, 2022).

Theme 3: External Collaboration

Participants' responses identified external collaboration as an important theme to address employe financial stress. Specifically, respondents indicated the importance of collaborating with external partners, such as their 401k provider. According to Hameed et al. (2021), external knowledge is the collection of information outside the boundaries of

the firm, it includes the information from customers, partners, suppliers, competitors and other stakeholders. Moreover, external collaboration is an effective way to help firms acquire useful knowledge and technologies, reduce the costs and risks in the process of innovation, enhance the efficiency of innovation, and then improve innovation performance (Lu & Yu, 2020). However, managers must strive for goal alignment between partners in order to utilize the advantages of collaboration (van der Voet & Steijn, 2021). As stated by P2, "We want our partners to understand that they are an extension of our organization, to service our employees." Furthermore, P2 stated that "From the outside vendors or outside partners that we have, we always trust them. That is their goal as well. Everything needs to be for our employees."

External knowledge comprises knowledge from external stakeholders (Hameed et al., 2021). According to Lu and Yu (2020), interorganizational external collaboration can facilitate the flows of resources and technologies in different organizations and has emerged as an important way for firms' innovation. As evidence, P4 commented on the role of external partners as "They are the ones who are providing the webinars. They are the ones that are providing the education on our behalf. They are the ones that are sending out mailings about financial wellness. So, we rely heavily on our partners to deliver these resources for us."

The main argument for collaborative innovation is that a greater diversity of experiences, skills and knowledge increases the potential for innovations to be generated and implemented (van Vuren et al., 2018). P1 commented that "partners can easily help with new ideas and trying to put these ideas into place." Furthermore, relying on the

expertise of external partners allows organizations to utilize resources that may not be available internally. P3 stated that "We also utilize the resources that our 401k record keeper offers to make employees aware of online resource." When asked about using external partners effectively, P5 stated to "continue utilizing our 401k provider for their education sessions."

Alignment of Theme 3 to Literature Review

Financial education and literacy are noted in the literature as an effective strategy to address an individual's financial wellbeing (with employee financial stress (Nguyen et al., 2019). According to Ismail and Zaki (2019), financial literacy is how people understand about managing money and apply the knowledge to make effective financial decisions. Therefore, it is important that employers provide financial education and literacy strategies as P4 commented that "As an employer, we have an obligation to educate our employees, especially those that we know need help with this type of financial education." Education sessions can vary from individual sessions to group sessions as P3 noted the effectiveness of "education, both webinars and on-site education." Regarding the effectiveness of individual counseling sessions, P3 stated that "On-on-one sessions that follow general education sessions. The one-on-one sessions are very, very effective." P3 stated the "one on one training and one on one sessions that we offer are through our 401k record keeper."

Pathak and Rani (2018) stated that individuals need to undergo financial training and personal money management training through various courses/seminars organized by corporate or various other financial institutions. Thus, when it comes to the role that

external partners play in addressing employee financial stress, P4 stated "They are the ones who are providing the webinars. They are the ones that are providing the education on our behalf." Additionally, P5 noted utilizing "Education sessions conducted by our 401k providers." Similarly, P2 reported that "We now even have a partnership with our financial education program provider. And they are providing us with a series of various topics, such as emergency savings. We saw a lot of people attending everything we offer." Therefore, working with external partners to address employee financial stress is an effective strategy, as Pathak and Rani claimed that a positive correlation exists between financial education received and financial knowledge. Thus, higher levels of knowledge are expected to correlate with improved financial decisions (Pathak & Rani, 2018).

Research Triangulation

To corroborate the results of the participant interviews and data analysis, triangulation was utilized as a way of producing reliable results. Research triangulation refers to the process that helps to increase the credibility and validity of research (Bans-Akutey & Tiimub, 2021). According to Noble and Heale (2019), triangulation can enrich research as it offers a variety of datasets to explain differing aspects of a phenomenon of interest. For this study, methodological triangulation was utilized. Methodological triangulation is widely used due to its advantage of ensuring the overall validity of the measurement (Liu et al., 2021).

Methodological triangulation is the use of multiple methods to study the phenomenon of interest (Campbell et al., 2021). According to Noble and Heale (2019),

methodological triangulation promotes the use of several data collection methods such as interviews and observations. The analysis can be strengthened by comparing results from different methods of inquiry or different sources. For this study, methodological triangulation was achieved by reviewing employee comments through a public source, www.Glassdoor.com. This site allows employees to post comments about their respective organizations and there is an area on the website where employees can post comments on the companies' benefits, with specific sections dedicated to "Financial & Retirement" and "Insurance, Health & Wellness." A review of each organizations' respective sections on Glassdoor revealed positive comments regarding how these organizations are assisting employees in these areas.

Applications to Professional Practice

Financial stress is a condition that is becoming more predominant in society nowadays, especially among employees (Gualdrapa & Palic, 2020). Therefore, it is important the employers assist their employees with addressing financial stress as, according to (Olasehinde & Aigbavboa, 2018), employees are the most important resource to any organization. Assisting employees with financial stress is a good business decision for employers as the pressure and anxiety associated with meeting financial obligations have a negative impact on individual behavior and performance (Gualdrapa & Palic (2020). Moreover, Mammadov and Bhandari (2023) claimed that chief financial officers believe that companies benefit from a financially secure workforce as financial stress negatively affects employees and the quality of their work, which could result in a loss of 40–50 percent productivity. Good financial literacy education, according to

Wahyuny et al. (2018), is the only way to build life skills, especially in financial literacy and mentioned that financial education programs succeed in improving the financial literacy of employees.

Professional Practice and Employee Wellbeing

Personal financial stress is a growing problem for the workforce (Olasehinde & Aigbavboa, 2018). Lower financial wellbeing among employees increases absenteeism and causes disruptions in concentration levels among employees (van Vuren et al., 2018). According to Sabri et al. (2020), financial wellbeing influences the mental and physical wellbeing of employees and enhances the efficiency in the work environment by fortifying the duties in their occupations, however, an imbalance in financial wellbeing among employees adversely influences organizational efficiency. Moreover, financial pressure causes stress, inability to focus on work, absenteeism, and reduced morale and physical health, which negatively affect employee job performance (Mammadov & Bhandari, 2023). In addition, Olasehinde and Aigbavboa (2018) claimed that financial stress is one of the major factors that contributes to poor financial wellbeing.

One of the factors affected by financial wellbeing and a lack of financial literacy is productivity (van Vuren et al., 2018). According to Mammadov and Bhandari (2023), external stress factors reduce the performance quality of individuals because stress drains psychological and cognitive resources. Therefore, companies need to consider the importance of their employees' financial wellbeing in order for them to be more profitable (van Vuren et al., 2018). Sabri et al. (2020) claimed that decreased financial stress might assist employees to be more focused at the work environment, thus

benefiting companies. Thus, to improve productivity related behavior, the implementation of employee assistance programs is needed in times of economic prosperity, as well as downturn, since there will always be those experiencing financial stress (Olasehinde & Aigbavboa, 2018).

Professional Practice and Learning Styles

Blended learning can be considered as a combination of multiple deliveries with the objective of optimization of the outcome of the learning by implementing the right technology to match the right individual learning preference so that the right skills can be transferred to the right person at the right time (Shamsuddin & Kaur, 2020). In addition to blended learning, another type of learning style is called personalized learning (Tzenios, 2020). According to Tzenios (2020), personalized learning is a teaching method that involves tailoring the learning experience to each student's unique requirements, abilities, and interests. Personalized learning entails utilizing a range of teaching methods and technologies, such as online resources and adaptive learning software, to create a learning environment that is suited to each student's needs (Tzenios, 2020). According to Shamsuddin and Kaur (2020), students will be able to achieve learning goals more efficiently when pedagogical procedures are adapted or accommodated to their individual differences. Thus, the purpose of personalized education is to increase student engagement and accomplishment by providing a more relevant, meaningful, and effective learning experience for each student.

Blended learning is a varied combination of face-to-face lecturing in the classroom, learning through the Internet, and learning that is supported by various

technologies aimed at creating an efficient learning environment (Hamzah et al., 2022). Offering financial education sessions under various formats can assist organizations as the use of technology can increase the competitiveness of human resources in the 21st century (Krismadinata, 2020). Therefore, different learning environment needs to be constructed depending on learning styles to get optimal outputs on educational outcome (Shamsuddin & Kaur, 2020). As P2 referenced, offering employees online modules, live webinars, and videos allows employees to view content in a manner that they find suitable. Furthermore, the blended learning model has an effect on student motivation as the blended learning model helps students' learning process more effectively and efficiently (Suryono et al., 2023).

Professional Practice and Partnerships

Since the late 1980s, many employers in the private sector have shifted away from defined benefit retirement plans to defined contribution retirement plans in an effort to reduce firms' costs (Ryan & Cude, 2020). Consequently, the primary responsibility for securing adequate retirement income is largely transferred from employers to employees. As a result of shifting the investment responsibilities from employers to employees, offering professional advice around the retirement planning process represents an important component of the financial services industry (Harlow et al., 2020). Therefore, partnering with financial advisors who can provide financial coaching sessions will benefit employees as an investment advisor can offer administrative assistance, such as enrolling participants and providing employee education (Yao et al., 2020).

Research has shown that those who hired financial advisors demonstrated more financial planning behaviors, such as calculating retirement needs and retirement account diversification (Chatterjee & Fan, 2023). Furthermore, according to Harlow et al. (2020), implementing the advice of a financial services professional could alter an individual's behavior in a number of meaningful ways, such as through an increased savings discipline or a commitment to a more formal planning and budgeting process. Moreover, households with access to advice from financial advisors generate significantly higher income replacement in retirement than non-advised households, and working with a financial planner can significantly increase retirement savings as employees are more motivated to save for retirement and actually achieving long-term financial goals (Chatterjee & Fan, 2023). Therefore, Ryan and Cude (2020) stated that human resources staff limit their communication to plan information, general financial information, and that human resources' role should be narrow, focusing on whether employees make contributions rather than where or how their funds are invested (Ryan & Cude 2020).

Implications for Social Change

A substantial number of U.S. families face financial strains and financial vulnerability (Ryu & Fan, 2023). As a result, the impact of individual financial stress extends beyond to the confines of organizations. For instance, financial stress may impact couple functioning, including deteriorations in marital quality and, consequently, marital instability (Lee et al., 2021). According to Friedline et al. (2021), high levels of economic hardship over time elevated the risk of intimate partner violence. In addition, according to Springer et al. (2023), perceived financial stress, the psychological response to financial

hardship, may adversely affect mental health outcomes. Regarding the adverse physical effects of financial stress, Ryu and Fan (2023) claimed that psychological distress is associated with several adverse health outcomes, such as emotional exhaustion, reduced immune response, heart disease, and increased mortality. Moreover, general financial hardships are associated with depression and other measures of poor health (Sweet, 2021). Therefore, according to Sweet (2021), policies and programs aimed at relieving debt burdens, as well as health care cost burdens for those in debt or with financial vulnerabilities, may be especially important for preventing healthcare care avoidance, as skipped medication due to general financial hardship is a strong predictor of worse self-rated health.

Bialowolski et al. (2021) claimed that properly executed precautionary financial behaviors, leading to increased financial security and financial capability, may promote wellbeing and translate into better health outcomes, as economic resources may affect health conditions indirectly by granting a healthier lifestyle. There is a growing recognition that wellness is holistic and co-dependent; physical, emotional and financial health work together, and if one part is missing, this imbalance may also impact the other two (Olasehinde & Aigbavboa, 2018). Improving individual financial stress can also benefit family relationships as parents with high levels of financial stress may be more likely to maltreat their children because they possess fewer resources enabling them to provide adequate levels of care and basic necessities for children (Liu & Merritt, 2018). Furthermore, Liu and Merritt (2018) claimed that programs directly alleviating family

financial stress would help families cope with economic strains and allow for enhancing positive parenting.

Providing access to financial advisors through the workplace can provide opportunities within under-served communities as financial services are one type of resource or opportunity within economic environments that may influence families' financial stress and well-being (Friedline et al., 2021). According to Friedline et al. (2021), the presence, absence, or relative mix of financial services provide various resources and opportunities for families to supplement income, access credit, accumulate wealth, and cope with economic hardship. Providing greater access to financial advisors could help close the retirement income gap as advised households produce retirement income replacement ratios that are between 9.0 and 12.7 percentage points higher than otherwise comparable non-advised investors (Harlow et al., 2020).

Street (2018) claimed that being unable to afford items when needed could be experienced as quite stressful in the broader context of social positioning and presentation of self. However, individualized interventions like financial education or coaching may assist families in responding to macroeconomic contexts that prevent them from meeting their current and ongoing financial obligations (Friedline et al., 2021). Therefore, according to Ryu and Fan (2023), there is a need for more counseling and therapy services that can help reduce financial stress that are customized to target more financially vulnerable populations. Moreover, financial educators, counselors, and coaches could assist families in managing their debt and promoting better financial management for households could assist in saving resources from the government

(Friedline et al., 2021). As stated by Lusardi and Messy (2023), financial literacy is an essential skill for making savvy financial decisions, understanding the world around us, and being a good citizen. Thus, financial education benefits society as a whole as it can help reduce poverty and inequality by empowering individuals to make informed decisions about their finances and help reduce financial instability by promoting responsible investing practices (Nicolăescu & Toderașcu, 2023).

Recommendations for Action

Financial literacy is an essential skill for individuals to thrive in today's society (Sticha & Sekita, 2023). Furthermore, financial education is a crucial determinant of informed decisions, in both the private and social spheres (Fornero & Prete, 2023). Therefore, according to Sticha and Sekita (2023), understanding how features of defined contribution plans affect workers' savings decisions will be crucial for assessing those plans' capacity to generate sufficient retirement income. However, due to financial illiteracy or behavioral biases, many retirement plan participants appear to be ill-equipped to make these portfolio decisions, potentially undermining old-age retirement security (Mitchell & Utkus, 2022).

Given that some employees may not feel equipped to make financial decisions, it is recommended that organizations, through their effective human resource management practices, assist with this very important initiative. According to (Mokoena, 2023), human resource management is a rational and planned approach to managing an organization's most valuable asset, the employees, who are able to contribute individually and collectively to achieving the strategic objectives of the organization.

Moreover, as a result of the crucial role played by human resource management in the success of an organization it is imperative that human resource management be integrated with the core business of an organization and is viewed as an important business partner and strategic tool in an organization (Mokoena, 2023).

Financial education can increase participation in financial markets by providing individuals with the necessary knowledge and skills to understand financial products and services, which can lead to increased investment and saving (Nicolăescu & Toderașcu, 2023). According to Safari et al. (2021), individuals who attend financial education programs are found to adopt a planning behavior and are more interested in preparing for future financial wellbeing. Therefore, it is recommended that human resources and benefits managers have the flexibility to research and implement financial education programs that will be effective for their respective organizations. This flexibility includes being able to provide financial incentives for participating in financial education programs given that compensation, rewards, and benefits are a central component of an organization, and that compensation, rewards and benefits play a pivotal role in employee motivation and job satisfaction (Mokoena, 2023).

Recommendations for Further Research

This qualitative pragmatic inquiry regarding effective strategies used by human resource managers to address employee financial stress has provided insight into the various approaches utilized to address this issue. However, further research is recommended to address the limitations in this study. Study limitations represent

weaknesses within a research design that may influence outcomes and conclusions of the research (Ross et al., 2019).

According to Greener (2018), the construction of questions within a survey instrument, the layout and type of questions in surveys, the level of understanding of the respondents, an over-dependence on convenience sampling and general access difficulties, confounding variables, statistical inadequacies, low response rates, absence of or impossibility of control groups, are all potential limitations in educational research. Therefore, one such limit within this study that could benefit from further research is examining the impact of language on financial education. This is because absent from the discussion on various financial education strategies provided from modules, webinars, to in-person seminars and coaching sessions, was any discussion about providing these strategies in different languages.

For instance, mother tongue is the first language one learns as a baby, the language one grows up knowing, which is also known as the native language (Nishanthi, 2020). Therefore, according to Nishanthi (2020), if a student is educated in his/her mother tongue, the proportion of his or her educational achievement is greater than someone who is taught in a different medium other than their mother tongue. Although many financial services and 401k providers may have Spanish speaking representatives to conduct Spanish language meetings, this may not be the case for Eastern European, Asian, and other languages, prompting the need for additional research regarding how organizations are providing financial educations sessions across different languages.

Further researchers may also consider how financial education sessions are provided across manufacturing and services industries. Participants in this study were limited primarily to service industries, although P2 and P4 referenced having both white-and blue-collar employees. Providing financial education sessions to manufacturing employees may be difficult as plant managers may be hesitant to temporarily shut down production lines for the employees to addend a financial educations session either online or in-person. This is especially the case for companies that run 24 hours a day with employees working the night shift. In addition, manufacturers may not have the physical space to conduct a financial education session that is both large enough and quiet enough to have an effective meeting as meetings conducted on the production floor over the humming of machines may not be as effective. For this reason, additional research could examine effective strategies to address manufacturing sector employees dealing with financial stress.

Reflections

The Walden University Doctor of Business Administration Program has been challenging, rewarding, and intellectually stimulating. I appreciated the format of the program as I was able pursue my degree, continue to work full-time, and spend quality time with family and friends. I particularly enjoyed the formal classes, especially during the postings when my professors challenged me to think beyond my initial posts. I also enjoyed my online discussions with my classmates, even during the discussions when we did not agree on a topic. Differences in opinions were always treated respectfully.

I am extremely grateful to the participants in my doctoral study. They provided me with thoughtful responses that expanded my knowledge about how to address employee financial stress. Their insight has made me more confident about this topic and I enjoyed my conversations with them and the candidness of their responses. This study has provided me with new skills not just as a writer, but as a speaker as I have learned to be more concise in my delivery of professional material. I see the difference in myself as a scholar and professional since I started this program. Thank you, Walden University!

Conclusion

Personal financial stress is a growing problem for the workforce (Olasehinde & Aigbavboa, 2018). Moreover, financial stress affects a non-negligible proportion of employees so much so that work performance suffers, which negatively affects employers (Frank-Miller et al., 2019). However, according to Ismail and Zaki (2019), better financial wellness is correlated with reduced absenteeism, better performance appraisal of employees, and minimized loss of working time. Yean et al. (2020) stated that employees' health and wellbeing warrant serious attention from employers to ensure they can work productively and contribute to long-term organizational success.

Therefore, it is not surprising to see companies increasingly offering financial wellness or education programs to improve their employees' financial literacy and money management skills (Sabri & Aw, 2020).

This study's findings may assist human resource managers better understand that addressing employee financial stress is beneficial not only for their employees, but also for their organization. The findings indicate that employee engagement can be increased

by focusing on employee wellbeing, providing diversified financial education and wellness programs, and collaborating with external partners. However, to make these strategies successful, it is necessary to make policies, plans, resources (such as human resources), set of schedules, and support system initiatives (Krismadinata et al., 2020). However, when developing strategies to address employee financial stress it is important for human resource managers to understand that there is no one instructional strategy that can fit for all (Shamsuddin & Kaur, 2020). Given these points, an effective strategy to address employee financial stress at one organization may not be as effective at another. Therefore, human resources managers must understand the learning styles of their respective organizations and develop effective strategies based on their employee base.

References

- Abdulla, A., Whipp, P. R., McSporran, G., & Teo, T. (2022). An interventional study with the Maldives generalist teachers in primary school physical education: An application of self-determination theory. *PLoS ONE, 17*(5), 1–18.

 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0268098
- Abdulrahman, A. S., & Hui, X. (2018). Implication of motivation theories on teachers' performance in the context of education system in Tanzania. *International Journal of Secondary Education*. 6(3), 46–53.

 https://doi.org/10.11648/j.ijsedu.20180603.11
- Acquah, A., Nsiah, T. K., Antie, E. N. A., & Otoo, B. (2021). Literature review on theories of motivation. *EPRA International Journal of Economic and Business Review*, 9(5), 25–29. https://doi.org/10.36713/epra6848
- Adler, R. H. (2022). Trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Journal of Human Lactation*, *38*(4), 598–602. https://doi.org/10.1177/08903344221116620
- Ahmed, I., & Ishtiaq, S. (2021). Reliability and validity: Importance in medical research.

 Methods, 12(1), 2401-2406. https://doi.org/10.47391/JPMA.06-861
- Ajlouni, A., Rawadieh, S., Almahaireh, A., & Awwad, F. A. (2022). Gender differences in the motivational profile of undergraduate students in light of self-determination theory: The case of online learning setting. *Journal of Social Studies Education Research*, 13(1), 75–103. https://www.jsser.org/index.php/jsser
- Akosile, A. L., & Ekemen, M. A. (2022). The impact of core self-evaluations on job satisfaction and turnover intention among higher education academic staff:

- Mediating roles of intrinsic and extrinsic motivation. *Behavioral Sciences*, *12*(7), 236–N.PAG. https://doi.org/10.3390/bs12070236
- Alam, M. K. (2021). A systematic qualitative case study: Questions, data collection, NVivo analysis and saturation. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management: An International Journal*, 16(1), 1–31. https://doi.org/10.1108/QROM-09-2019-1825
- Alamri, W. A. (2019). Effectiveness of qualitative research methods: Interviews and diaries. *International Journal of English and Cultural Studies*, 2(1), 65–70. https://doi.org/10.11114/ijecs.v2i1.4302
- Allemang, B., Sitter, K., & Dimitropoulos, G. (2022). Pragmatism as a paradigm for patient-oriented research. *Health Expectations*, 25(1), 38–47. https://doi.org/10.1111/hex.13384
- Almasri, B. M., & McDonald, D. D. (2021). Philosophical assumptions used in research on barriers for effective cancer pain management: A scoping review. *Pain Management Nursing*, 22(5), 634–644. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmn.2021.04.006
- Amundsen, D., Msoroka, M., & Findsen, B. (2017). "It's a case of access." The problematics of accessing research participants. *Waikato Journal of Education*, 22(4), 5–17. https://doi.org/10.15663/wje.v22i4.425
- Anderson, C. A., Leahy, M. J., DelValle, R., Sherman, S., & Tansey, T. N. (2014).

 Methodological application of multiple case study design using modified consensual qualitative research (CQR) analysis to identify best practices and

- organizational factors in the public rehabilitation program. *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, 41(2), 87–98. https://doi.org/10.3233/JVR-140709
- Andrade, C. (2021). The inconvenient truth about convenience and purposive samples. *Indian Journal of Psychological Medicine*, 43(1), 86–88.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0253717620977000
- Archibald, M. M., Ambagtsheer, R. C., Casey, M. G., & Lawless, M. (2019). Using Zoom videoconferencing for qualitative data collection: Perceptions and experiences of researchers and participants. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 18, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919874596
- Arifin, S. R. M. (2018). Ethical considerations in qualitative study. *International Journal of Care Scholars*, 1(2), 30–33. https://journals.iium.edu.my/ijcs/index.php/ijcs
- Assarroudi, A., Heshmati Nabavi, F., Armat, M. R., Ebadi, A., & Vaismoradi, M. (2018).

 Directed qualitative content analysis: The description and elaboration of its underpinning methods and data analysis process. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, 23(1), 42–55. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744987117741667
- Bae, Y.-H. (2021). Exploratory analysis of related factors with absenteeism and presenteeism on workers: Using the fourth Korea working condition survey.

 International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 18(21).

 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph182111214
- Banerjee, R. S., & Halder, S. (2021). Amotivation and influence of teacher support dimensions: A self-determination theory approach. *Heliyon*, 7(7). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2021.e07410

- Banks, C., & Pearson, S. (2021). Personality, staff attitudes and their association with absenteeism and presenteeism in Australian public sector hospital-based nurses: A cross-sectional study. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 29(8), 2639–2646. https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.13443
- Bans-Akutey, A., Tiimub, B.M. (2021). Triangulation in Research. *Academia Letters*, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.20935/AL3392
- Barnard, A. (2016). Sense of coherence: A distinct perspective on financial well-being.

 South African Journal of Economic and Management Sciences, 19(4), 647–660.

 https://doi.org/10.4102/sajems.v19i4.1405
- Barrett, D., & Twycross, A. (2018). Data collection in qualitative research. *Evidence-based Nursing*, 21(3), 63-64. https://doi.org/10.1136/eb-2018-102939
- Baškarada, S., & Koronios, A. (2018). A philosophical discussion of qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods research in social science. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 18(1), 2–21. https://doi.org/10.1108/QRJ-D-17-00042
- Beresford, M., Wutich, A., du Bray, M. V., Ruth, A., Stotts, R., SturtzSreetharan, C., & Brewis, A. (2022). Coding qualitative data at scale: Guidance for large coder teams based on 18 studies. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 21. 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1177/16094069221075860
- Bhalerao, R., Hamilton, V., McDonald, A., Redmiles, E. M., & Strohmayer, A. (2022).

 Ethical practices for security research with at-risk populations. *IEEE European Symposium on Security and Privacy Workshops*. 546-553.

 https://doi.org./10.1109/EuroSPW55150.2022.00065.

Bhatt, N., Chitranshi, J., & Mehta, M. (2022). Testing Herzberg's two factor theory on millennials. *Cardiometry*, 22, 231–236.

https://doi.org/10.18137/cardiometry.2022.22.231236

Bialowolski, P., Weziak-Bialowolska, D., Lee, M. T., Chen, Y., VanderWeele, T. J., & McNeely, E. (2021). The role of financial conditions for physical and mental health: Evidence from a longitudinal survey and insurance claims data. *Social Science & Medicine*, 281, 990–1000.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.114

- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1802–1811. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870
- Bonner, P. A. (2016). The impacts of financial stress on your employees. *Plans & Trusts*, 34(6), 18–24. https://www.ifebp.org/Resources/magazines/plans-and-trusts/Pages/default.aspx
- Boström, E., & Palm, T. (2020). Expectancy-value theory as an explanatory theory for the effect of professional development programmes in formative assessment on teacher practice. *Teacher Development*, 24(4), 539–558.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13664530.2020.1782975
- Bowling, A. M., Ball, A. L., & Bird, W. A. (2020). Exploring motivational strategies, outcomes, and theories within the career development event preparation process.

 Journal of Agricultural Education, 61(1), 221–234.

 https://doi.org/10.5032/jae.2020.01221

- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2021) To saturate or not to saturate? Questioning data saturation as a useful concept for thematic analysis and sample-size rationales. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health, 13*(2), 201-216.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2019.1704846
- Brear, M. (2019). Process and outcomes of a recursive, dialogic member checking approach: A project ethnography. *Qualitative Health Research*, 29(7), 944–957. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732318812448
- Budiyanto, C., Prananto, A., & Tan, F. T. (2019). Designing embedded case study research approach in educational research. *International Journal of Pedagogy and Teacher Education (IJPTE)*, 3(1), 1–18.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.20961/ijpte.v3i1.25370
- Cakebread, C. (2014). Why should employers care about financial literacy? *Plans & Trust*, 6-9. https://www.ifebp.org/Resources/magazines/plans-and-trusts/Pages/default.aspx
- Campbell, R., Goodman-Williams, R., Feeney, H., & Fehler-Cabral, G. (2020). Assessing triangulation across methodologies, methods, and stakeholder groups: The joys, woes, and politics of interpreting convergent and divergent data. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 41(1), 125-144.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1098214018804195
- Candela, A. G. (2019). Exploring the function of member checking. *The Qualitative Report*, 24(3), 619-628. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol24/iss3/14

- Castleberry, A., & Nolen, A. (2018). Thematic analysis of qualitative research data: Is it as easy as it sounds? *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 10(6), 807–815. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.03.019
- Chatterjee, S., & Fan, L. (2023). Surviving in financial advice deserts: limited access to financial advice and retirement planning behavior. *International Journal of Bank Marketing*, 41(1), 70-106. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJBM-01-2022-0022
- Chaudhuri, S. (2017). Witches, activists, and bureaucrats: Navigating gatekeeping in qualitative research. *International Journal of Sociology*, 47(2), 131–145. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207659.2017.1300469
- Chien, G. C. L., Mao, I., Nergui, E., & Chang, W. (2020). The effect of work motivation on employee performance: Empirical evidence from 4-star hotels in Mongolia.

 Journal of Human Resources in Hospitality & Tourism, 19(4), 473–495.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/15332845.2020.1763766
- Chikazhe, L., & Nyakunuwa, E. (2022) Promotion of perceived service quality through employee training and empowerment: The mediating role of employee motivation and internal communication. *Services Marketing Quarterly*, 43(3), 294-311. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332969.2021.1992560
- Choi, S. L., Heo, W., Cho, S. H., & Lee, P. (2020). The links between job insecurity, financial well–being and financial stress: A moderated mediation model.

 International Journal of Consumer Studies, 44(4), 353–360.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/ijcs.12571

- Clark, K. R., & Vealé, B. L. (2018). Strategies to enhance data collection and analysis in qualitative research. *Radiologic Technology*, 89(5), 482CT–485CT.

 http://www.radiologictechnology.org/
- Coates, A. (2021). The prevalence of philosophical assumptions described in mixed methods research in education. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, *15*(2), 171–189. https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689820958210
- Coker, D. C. (2022). A thematic analysis of the structure of delimitations in the dissertation. *International Journal of Doctoral Studies*, 17, 141–159. https://doi.org/10.28945/4939
- Collins, C. S., & Stockton, C. (2022). The theater of qualitative research: The role of the researcher/actor. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 21, 1–9 https://doi.org/10.1177/16094069221103109
- Copeland, C. (2018). Perceived helpfulness of financial well-being programs: Results from the 2017 and 2018 retirement confidence surveys. *EBRI Issue Brief*, 457, 1–19. https://www.ebri.org/
- Cumyn, A., Ouellet, K., Côté, A. M., Francoeur, C., & St-Onge, C. (2019). Role of researchers in the ethical conduct of research: A discourse analysis from different stakeholder perspectives. *Ethics & Behavior*, 29(8), 621-636.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/10508422.2018.1539671
- Danford, C. A. (2023). Understanding the evidence: Qualitative research designs.

 *Urologic Nursing, 43(1), 41–45. https://doi.org/10.7257/2168-4626.2023.43.1.41

- Daniel, B. K. (2019). Using the TACT framework to learn the principles of rigour in qualitative research. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 17(3), 118-129. https://doi.org/10.34190/JBRM.17.3.002
- Dawadi, S., Shrestha, S., & Giri, R. A. (2021). Mixed-methods research: A discussion on its types, challenges, and criticisms. *Journal of Practical Studies in Education*, 2(2), 25-36. https://doi.org/10.46809/jpse.v2i2.20
- de Loyola González-Salgado, I., Rivera-Navarro, J., Gutiérrez-Sastre, M., Conde, P., & Franco, M. (2022). Conducting member checking within a qualitative case study on health–related behaviours in a large European city: Appraising interpretations and co-constructing findings. *Health*, 1–19.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/13634593221109682
- De Sutter, E., Borry, P., Geerts, D., & Huys, I. (2021). Personalized and long-term electronic informed consent in clinical research: Stakeholder views. *BMC Medical Ethics*, 22, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12910-021-00675-7
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (2008). Self-determination theory: A macrotheory of human motivation, development, and health. *Canadian Psychology*, 49(3), 182–185. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0012801
- Delgado-Hito, P., & Romero-García, M. (2021). Elaboration of a research project using qualitative methodology. *Enfermeria Intensiva*, *32*(3), 164-169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enfie.2021.03.001
- Derfler-Rozin, R., & Pitesa, M. (2020). Motivation purity bias: Expression of extrinsic motivation undermines perceived intrinsic motivation and engenders bias in

- selection decisions. *Academy of Management Journal*, *63*(6), 1840–1864. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2017.0617
- Despard, M. R., Frank-Miller, E., Fox-Dichter, S., Germain, G., & Conan, M. (2020).

 Employee financial wellness programs: Opportunities to promote financial inclusion? *Journal of Community Practice*, 28(3), 219–233.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10705422.2020.1796878
- Despard, M. R., Frank-Miller, E., Zeng, Y., Fox-Dichter, S., Germain, G., Grinstein-Weiss, M., & Covington, M. (2020). Employee financial wellness programs:

 Promising new benefit for frontline workers? *Compensation & Benefits Review*,

 52(4), 156–174. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886368720942371
- Destyanti, F., Devi, E., Girsang, Y., Pribadi, R., Gustiawan, D., & Marinda, V. S. (2022). The influence of work stress and work motivation on the performance of employees of Balai Pusat Pendidikan Dan Pelatihan (Pusdiklat) Pt. Kai during the Covid-19 pandemic. *Central Asia & the Caucasus*, 23(1), 4534–4546. https://doi.org/10.37178/ca-c.23.1.351
- Dewanty, N., & Isbanah, Y. (2018). Determinant of the financial literacy: Case study on career woman in Indonesia. *Etikonomi: Jurnal Ekonomi, 17*(2), 285–286. https://doi.org/10.15408/etk.v17i2.6681
- Dodds, R., Holmes, M., & Novotny, M. (2022). Because I believe in it: Examining intrinsic and extrinsic motivations for sustainability in festivals through self-determination theory. *Tourism Recreation Research*, 47(2), 111–129. https://doi.org/10.1080/02508281.2020.1841375

- Drake, D. S., O, N. T., Hoffmire, J. S., & O'Neil, T. (2019). Financial wellness at Meredith Corporation. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 33(1), 153–155. https://doi.org/10.1177/0890117118812822d
- Earl, J. (2020). The Belmont Report and Innovative Practice. *Perspectives in Biology and Medicine 63*(2), 313-326. https://doi.org/10.1353/pbm.2020.0021
- Ellsworth, P. C. (2021). Truth and advocacy: Reducing bias in policy-related research.

 *Perspectives on Psychological Science, 16(6), 1226–1241.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691620959832
- El-Masri, M. M. (2017). Non-probability sampling: The process of selecting research participants non-randomly from a target population. *Canadian Nurse*, 113(3), 17. https://www.canadian-nurse.com
- Elmersjö, M., & Rosqvist, H. B. (2022). The role of the researcher in participatory processes: A study of learning about place and place attachment in communities. Forskning & Forandring, 5(1), 85–101. https://doi.org/10.23865/fof.v5.3283
- Endriulaitienė, A., & Morkevičiūtė, M. (2020). The unintended effect of perceived transformational leadership style on workaholism: The mediating role of work motivation. *The Journal of Psychology: Interdisciplinary and Applied*, *154*(6), 446–465. https://doi.org/10.1080/00223980.2020.1776203
- Eranda, B. A. N. (2021). Qualitative research inquiry to explore the corporate leaders in the time of COVID-19. *Kelaniya Journal of Management*, 10(2), 57–67. https://doi.org/10.4038/kjm.v10i2.7693

- Farquhar, J., Michels, N., & Robson, J. (2020). Triangulation in industrial qualitative case study research: Widening the scope. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 87, 160–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2020.02.001
- Fecke, M., Fehr, A., Schlütz, D., & Zillich, A. F. (2022). The ethics of gatekeeping: How guarding access influences digital child and youth research. *Media and Communication*, 10(1), 361–370. https://doi.org/10.17645/mac.v10i1.4756
- Fenton-O'Creevy, M., & Furnham, A. (2021). Financial distress and money attitudes.

 **Journal of Neuroscience, Psychology, and Economics, 14(3), 138–148.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/npe0000143
- FitzPatrick, B. (2019). Validity in qualitative health education research. *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 11(2), 211-217.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.11.014
- Fofana, F., Bazeley, P., & Regnault, A. (2020). Applying a mixed methods design to test saturation for qualitative data in health outcomes research. *PLoS ONE*, *15*(6), e0234898. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0234898
- Fornero, E., & Prete, A. L. (2023). Financial education: From better personal finance to improved citizenship. *Journal of Financial Literacy and Wellbeing, 1*, 12–27. https://doi.org/10.1017/flw.2023.z
- Fouché, J. P., & Manyaapelo, J. (2020). Analysing personal financial wellness amongst employees of a South African tertiary institution. *The Journal for Transdisciplinary Research in Southern Africa*, 16(1), e1–e8.

 https://doi.org/10.4102/td.v16i1.682

- Frank-Miller, E. G., Despard, M., Grinstein-Weiss, M., & Covington, M. (2019).

 Financial wellness programs in the workplace: Employer motivations and experiences. *Journal of Workplace Behavioral Health*, *34*(4), 241–264.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/15555240.2019.1594851
- Friedline, T., Chen, Z., & Morrow, S. P. (2021). Families' financial stress & well-being: The importance of the economy and economic environments. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*, 42, 34-51. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10834-020-09694-9
- Furuichi, W., Shimura, A., Miyama, H., Seki, T., Ono, K., Masuya, J., & Inoue, T. (2020). Effects of job stressors, stress response, and sleep disturbance on presenteeism in office workers. *Neuropsychiatric Disease & Treatment, 16*, 1827–1833. https://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S258508
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *Qualitative Report*, 20(9), 1408–1416.

 http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR20/9/fusch1.pdf
- Fusch, P., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2018). Denzin's paradigm shift: Revisiting triangulation in qualitative research. *Journal of Social Change*, 10(1), 19–32. https://doi.org/10.5590/JOSC.2018.10.1.02
- García, J. M., & Vila, J. (2020). Financial literacy is not enough: The role of nudging toward adequate long-term saving behavior. *Journal of Business Research*, 112, 472-477. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2020.01.061
- Gardner, A. K., Costa, P., & Willis, R. E. (2022). Getting on the same page: The impact of interviewer education and structured interviews on interrater agreement in

- residency interviews. *Journal of Surgical Education*, 79(6), e12–e16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsurg.2022.05.013
- George, A., & Kane, M. (2016). Financial stress: The impact on individuals, employees, and employers. *Journal of Pension Benefits: Issues in Administration*, 24(1), 35–38. https://lrus.wolterskluwer.com/store/product/journal-of-pension-benefits/
- Ghosh, D., Sekiguchi, T., & Fujimoto, Y. (2020). Psychological detachment: A creativity perspective on the link between intrinsic motivation and employee engagement.

 *Personnel Review, 49(9), 1789–1804. https://doi.org/10.1108/PR-12-2018-0480
- Gilad, S. (2021). Mixing qualitative and quantitative methods in pursuit of richer answers to real-world questions. *Public Performance & Management Review*, 44(5), 1075–1099. https://doi.org/10.1080/15309576.2019.1694546
- Gilal, F. G., Zhang, J., Paul, J., & Gilal, N. G. (2019). The role of self-determination theory in marketing science: An integrative review and agenda for research.

 *European Management Journal, 37(1), 29–44.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2018.10.004
- Gilfedder, S. (2014). Leveraging financial wellness to enhance employee productivity and empower HR executives. *Employment Relations Today*, *41*(3), 33–37. https://doi.org/10.1002/ert.21462
- Gläser, J., & Laudel, G. (2013). Life with and without coding: Two methods for early-stage data analysis in qualitative research aiming at causal explanations. *Forum:*Oualitative Social Research, 14(2), 1–37. http://www.qualitative-research.net/

- Govender, P., Naidoo, D., & Naidoo, U. (2019). Participant incentives in rehabilitation research: A pilot study of researchers' perspectives. *African Health Sciences*, 19(3), 2778–2783. https://doi.org/10.4314/ahs.v19i3.54
- Greener, S. (2018) Research limitations: The need for honesty and common sense.

 *Interactive Learning Environments, 26(5), 567-568.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2018.1486785
- Gualdrapa, M., M., B., & Palic, A., S. (2020). Financial stress and job performance of employees of a government agency in Negros Occidental. *Philippine Social Science Journal*, 3(2), 15-16. http://orcid.org/0000-0001-5548-2682
- Guha, C., Viecelli, A. K., Wong, G., Manera, K., & Tong, A. (2021). Qualitative research methods and its application in nephrology. *Nephrology*, *26*(10), 755–762. https://doi.org/10.1111/nep.13888
- Gunawan, J., Marzilli, C., & Aungsuroch, Y. (2022). Online 'chatting' interviews: An acceptable method for qualitative data collection. *Belitung Nursing Journal*, 8(4). 277-279. https://doi.org/10.33546/bnj.2252
- Gupta, P. K., & Hanagandi, S. S. (2022). Impact of demography on financial literacy.

 SDMIMD Journal of Management, 13, 81–96.

 https://doi.org/10.18311/sdmimd/2022/29571
- Hagger, M. S., & Chatzisarantis, N. L. D. (2009). Assumptions in research in sport and exercise psychology. *Psychology of Sport & Exercise*, 10(5), 511–519. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2009.01.004

- Hameed, W. U., Nisar, Q. A., & Wu, H. C. (2021). Relationships between external knowledge, internal innovation, firms' open innovation performance, service innovation and business performance in the Pakistani hotel industry. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 92, 1-15.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2020.102745
- Hamzah, H., Tambak, S., Hamzah, M. L., Purwati, A. A., Irawan, Y., & Umam, M. I. H. (2022). Effectiveness of blended learning model based on problem-based learning in Islamic studies course. *International Journal of Instruction*, 12(2), 775-792. https://www.e-iji.net/
- Haque, M. F., Haque, M. A., & Islam, M. S. (2014). Motivational theories: A critical analysis. *ASA University Review*, 8(1), 61–68.

 http://www.asaub.edu.bd/asaubreview/
- Harlow, W. V., Brown, K. C., & Jenks, S. E. (2020). The use and value of financial advice for retirement planning. *The Journal of Retirement*, 7(3), 46-79.

 https://www.pm-research.com/content/iijretire
- Haseski, H. I., & İlic, U. (2019). An investigation of the data collection instruments developed to measure computational thinking. *Informatics in Education*, 18(2), 297-319. https://doi.org/10.15388/infedu.2019.14
- Hennink, M., & Kaiser, B. N. (2022). Sample sizes for saturation in qualitative research:

 A systematic review of empirical tests. *Social Science & Medicine*, 292, 1–10.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.114523

- Heyns, M.M., & Kerr, M.D. (2018). Generational differences in workplace motivation.

 SA Journal of Human Resource Management/SA Tydskrif vir

 Menslikehulpbronbestuur, 16(0), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajhrm.v16i0.967
- Hur, Y. (2018). Testing Herzberg's two-factor theory of motivation in the public sector:

 Is it applicable to public managers? *Public Organization Review*, 18(3), 329–343.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11115-017-0379-1
- Hwang, J.-H., & Jung, H.-S. (2021). The effects of work characteristics related to work-life imbalance on presenteeism among female workers in the health and social work sectors: Mediation analysis of psychological and physical health problems.

 International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 18(12).

 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18126218
- Ismail, N., & Zaki, N. D. A. (2019). Does financial literacy and financial stress affect the financial wellness? *International Journal of Modern Trends in Social Sciences*, 2(8), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.35631/IJMTSS.28001
- Iyer, A. A., Hendriks, S., & Rid, A. (2020). The challenge of selecting participants fairly in high-demand clinical trials. *American Journal of Bioethics*, 20(2), 35–38. https://doi.org/10.1080/15265161.2019.1701746
- Jacob, S. A., & Furgerson, S. P. (2012). Writing interview protocols and conducting interviews: Tips for students new to the field of qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 17(6), 1-10. http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR17/jacob.pdf

- Jain, N. (2021). Survey versus interviews: Comparing data collection tools for exploratory research. *The Qualitative Report*, 26(2), 541-554. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2021.4492
- Jameel, B., Shaheen, S., & Majid, U. (2018). Introduction to qualitative research for novice investigators. *Undergraduate Research in Natural and Clinical Science* and Technology Journal, 2(6), 1-6. https://doi.org/10.26685/urncst.57
- Janis, I. (2022). Strategies for establishing dependability between two qualitative intrinsic case studies: A reflexive thematic analysis. *Field Methods*, *34*(3), 240–255. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X211069636
- Jayasekara, B. E. A., Fernando, P. N. D., & Ranjani, R. P. C. (2020). A systematic literature review on financial stress of small and medium entrepreneurs. *Applied Economics and Business*, 4(1), 45-59. https://www.aebjournal.org/
- Jeong, J., & Han, S. (2023). Are intrinsic motivation, extrinsic motivation and organizational identity always beneficial to the organization? The different effects of black and grey corruption. *Psychology, Crime & Law*, 1-26. https://doi.org/10.1080/1068316X.2023.2292512
- Jiang, H., Jia, H., Zhang, J., Li, Y., Song, F., & Yu, X. (2021). Nurses' occupational stress and presenteeism: The mediating role of public service motivation and the moderating role of health. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(7), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18073523

- Johnson, J. L., Adkins, D., & Chauvin, S. (2020). A review of the quality indicators of rigor in qualitative research. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 84(1), 138–146. https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe7120
- Jones, S., Chauhan, P., & Torabian, A. (2019). Working with different generations at the workplace: Challenges for leaders. *Effective Executive*, 22(4), 64–70.

 https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/working-with-different-generations-at-workplace/docview/2330759508/se-2
- Josephson, A., & Smale, M. (2021). What do you mean by "informed consent"? Ethics in economic development research. *Applied Economic Perspectives and Policy*, 43(4), 1305-1329. https://doi.org/10.1002/aepp.13112
- Jowsey, T., Deng, C., & Weller, J. (2021). General-purpose thematic analysis: A useful qualitative method for anaesthesia research. *BJA Education*, 21(12), 472–478. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bjae.2021.07.006
- Kácha, O., & Ruggeri, K. (2019). Nudging intrinsic motivation in environmental risk and social policy. *Journal of Risk Research*, 22(5), 581–592. https://doi.org/10.1080/13669877.2018.1459799
- Kalina, M., & Scott, D. (2019). "You have to say everything is nice here": Complexities of gatekeeping in qualitative research in northern Mozambique. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 19(3), 307–323. https://doi.org/10.1108/QRJ-12-2018-0011
- Kanonire, T., Lubenko, J., & Kuzmina, Y. (2022). The effects of intrinsic and extrinsic reading motivation on reading performance in elementary school. *Journal of*

- Research in Childhood Education, 36(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1080/02568543.2020.1822961
- Karagiozis, N. (2018). The complexities of the researcher's role in qualitative research:

 The power of reflexivity. *International Journal of Interdisciplinary Educational Studies*, 13(1), 19–31. https://doi.org/10.18848/2327-011X/CGP/v13i01/19-31
- Kaur, S., Mullainathan, S., Oh, S., & Schilbach, F. (2021). Do financial concerns make workers less productive? *National Bureau of Economic Research*. 1-62. https://doi.org/10.3386/w28338
- Kaushik, V., & Walsh, C. A. (2019). Pragmatism as a research paradigm and its implications for social work research. *Social Sciences*, 8(9), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3390/socsci8090255
- Kekeya, J. (2021). Qualitative case study research design: The commonalities and differences between collective, intrinsic and instrumental case studies.

 Contemporary PNG Studies, 36, 28–37.

 https://www.dwu.ac.pg/en/index.php/research/dwu-research-journal
- Kelly, L. M., & Cordeiro, M. (2020). Three principles of pragmatism for research on organizational processes. *Methodological Innovations*, *13*(2), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1177/2059799120937242
- Kha, T.S.M., Hoa, N.D., Hanh, T.V., & Trinh, N.T.H. (2021). The work motivation of academic librarians in comparison with other librarians in Vietnam. *Libraries and the Academy 21*(3), 553-572. https://doi.org/10.1353/pla.2021.0030

- Khan, T. H., & MacEachen, E. (2022). An alternative method of interviewing: Critical reflections on videoconference interviews for qualitative data collection.

 International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 21. 1–12.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/16094069221090063
- Kiger, M. E., & Varpio, L. (2020). Thematic analysis of qualitative data: AMEE Guide No. 131. *Medical Teacher*, 42(8), 846–854.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2020.1755030
- Kim, M. Y., & Torneo, A. (2021). The roles of strategic human resource management and person–environment fit on nonprofit public service motivation. *Public Integrity*, 23(1), 33–51. https://doi.org/10.1080/10999922.2020.1775059
- Knechel, N. (2019). What's in a sample? Why selecting the right research participants matters. *Journal of Emergency Nursing*, 45(3), 332-334. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jen.2019.01.020
- Köhler, T., Smith, A., & Bhakoo, V. (2022). Templates in qualitative research methods:

 Origins, limitations, and new directions. *Organizational Research Methods*,

 25(2), 183–210. https://doi.org/10.1177/10944281211060710
- Köksal, M. S., Ertekin, P., & Çolakoğlu, Ö. M. (2014). How differences among data collectors are reflected in the reliability and validity of data collected by Likert-type scales? *Educational Sciences: Theory & Practice, 14*(6), 2206–2212. https://doi.org/10.12738/estp.2014.6.2028

- Kotni, V. V. D. P., & Karumuri, V. (2018). Application of Herzberg's two-factor theory model for motivating retail salesforce. *IUP Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 17(1), 24–42. https://www.iupindia.in/405/ijob.asp
- Kramer, M. W., Austin, J. T., & Hansen, G. J. (2021). Toward a model of the influence of motivation and communication on volunteering: Expanding self-determination theory. *Management Communication Quarterly*, *35*(4), 572–601. https://doi.org/10.1177/08933189211023993
- Krismadinata, U. V., Jalinus, N., Rizal, F., Sukardi, P. S., Ramadhani, D., Lubis, A. L., ...
 & Novaliendry, D. (2020). Blended learning as instructional model in vocational education: Literature review. *Universal Journal of Educational Research*, 8(11B), 5801-5815. DOI: http://doi.org/10.13189/ujer.2020.082214
- Kurowski, L. (2021). Household's overindebtedness during the COVID-19 crisis: The role of debt and financial literacy. *Risks*, *9*(62), 1–19.

 https://doi.org/10.3390/risks9040062
- Lantos, J. D. (2020). The Belmont report and innovative clinical research. *Perspectives in Biology and Medicine*, 63(2), 389-400. https://doi.org/10.1353/pbm.2020.0026
- Lauermann, F., Tsai, Y.-M., & Eccles, J. S. (2017). Math-related career aspirations and choices within Eccles et al.'s expectancy–value theory of achievement-related behaviors. *Developmental Psychology*, *53*(8), 1540–1559.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/dev0000367
- Lee, S., Wickrama, K. K. A. S., Lee, T. K., & O'Neal, C. W. (2021). Long-term physical health consequences of financial and marital stress in middle-aged couples.

Journal of Marriage & Family, 83(4), 1212–1226. https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12736

Lee, Y., Kim, H. L., & Hyun, S. S. (2022). Effect of intrinsic and extrinsic motivations on service performance after parental leave. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(5).

https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19052715

- Lester, J. N., Cho, Y., & Lochmiller, C. R. (2020). Learning to do qualitative data analysis: A starting point. *Human Resource Development Review, 19*(1), 94–106. https://doi.org/10.1177/1534484320903890
- Li, F., Tian, Z., Bobb, J., & Papadogeorgou, G. (2022). Clarifying selection bias in cluster randomized trials. *Clinical Trials*, 19(1), 33–41.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/17407745211056875
- Linneberg, M. S., & Korsgaard, S. (2019). Coding qualitative data: A synthesis guiding the novice. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 19(3), 259-270. https://doi.org./10.1108/QRJ-12-2018-0012
- Liu, Y. (2022). Paradigmatic compatibility matters: A critical review of qualitative-quantitative debate in mixed methods research. *SAGE Open, 12,* 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1177/21582440221079922
- Liu, Y., & Merritt, D. H. (2018). Familial financial stress and child internalizing behaviors: The roles of caregivers' maltreating behaviors and social services.

 Child Abuse & Neglect, 86, 324–335.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2018.09.002

- Liu, Y., Wang, S., Zhang, J., & Li, S. (2022). When and how job design influences work motivation: A self-determination theory approach. *Psychological Reports*, 125(3), 1573–1600. https://doi.org/10.1177/00332941211027320
- Lobe, B., Morgan, D., & Hoffman, K. A. (2020). Qualitative data collection in an era of social distancing. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 19, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406920937875
- Locke, E. A., & Schattke, K. (2019). Intrinsic and extrinsic motivation: Time for expansion and clarification. *Motivation Science*, *5*(4), 277–290. https://doi.org/10.1037/mot0000116
- Lu, C., & Yu, B. (2020). The effect of formal and informal external collaboration on innovation performance of SMEs: Evidence from China. *Sustainability*, 12(22), 1-21. https://doi.org./10.3390/su12229636
- Liu, H., Kulturel-Konak, S., & Konak, A. (2021). A measurement model of entrepreneurship education effectiveness based on methodological triangulation. Studies in Educational Evaluation, 70, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stueduc.2021.100987
- Lui, J. N. M., Andres, E. B., & Johnston, J. M. (2022). Does seasonal influenza related hospital occupancy surge impact hospital staff sickness presenteeism and productivity costs? *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(2). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19020769

- Lusardi, A., & Messy, F. A. (2023). The importance of financial literacy and its impact on financial wellbeing. *Journal of Financial Literacy and Wellbeing*, *1*(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1017/flw.2023.8
- Lusardi, A., & Mitchell, O. S. (2014). The economic importance of financial literacy:

 Theory and evidence. *Journal of Economic Literature*, *52*(1), 5–44.

 https://doi.org/10.1257/jel.52.1.5
- MacKay, D., Jecker, N. S., Pitisuttithum, P., & Saylor, K. W. (2020). Selecting participants fairly for controlled human infection studies. *Bioethics*, *34*(8), 771–784. https://doi.org/10.1111/bioe.12778
- Madanayake, U. & Ganiyu, S. (2018). Research, data collection and ethical issues:

 Lessons from hindsight. *International Conference on Professionalism and Ethics*in Construction. 1-10. https://openresearch.lsbu.ac.uk/item/8859y
- Mahdi, O. R., Nassar, I. A., & Almuslamani, H. A. I. (2020). The role of using case studies method in improving students' critical thinking skills in higher education. International Journal of Higher Education, 9(2), 297–308.
 https://doi.org/10.5430/ijhe.v9n2p297
- Mai, E., & Liao, Y. (2021). The interplay of word-of-mouth and customer value on B2B sales performance in a digital platform: An expectancy value theory perspective.

 Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing, 37(7), 1389–1401.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/JBIM-05-2021-0269

- Major, D. A., Streets, V. N., Myers, D. P., & Green, R. E. (2016). A passionate approach to recruiting and retaining engineering research participants. *Journal of Engineering Education*, 105(3), 401–405. https://doi.org/10.1002/jee.20122
- Makel, M. C., Meyer, M. S., Simonsen, M. A., Roberts, A. M., & Plucker, J. A. (2022)

 Replication is relevant to qualitative research, *Educational Research and Evaluation*, 27(1-2), 215-219. https://doi.org/10.1080/13803611.2021.2022310
- Malkowska, A., Tokarz-Kocik, A., Drela, K., & Bera, A. (2022). Employee financial wellness programs (EFWPs) as an innovation in incentive systems of energy sector enterprises in Poland during the COVID-19 pandemic: Current status and development prospects. *Energies*, 15(6), 2102.

 https://doi.org/10.3390/en15062102
- Malterud, K. (2022). Developing and promoting qualitative methods in general practice research: Lessons learnt and strategies convened. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, 50(7), 1024–1033. https://doi.org/10.1177/14034948221093558
- Mammadov, B., & Bhandari, A. (2023). Stressed about money: The effect of employee financial pressure on financial reporting outcomes. auditing: *A Journal of Practice & Theory*, 42(1), 155–181. https://doi.org/10.2308/AJPT-19-045
- Masood, H., Karakowsky, L., & Podolsky, M. (2022). Detached but not deviant: The impact of career expectations and job crafting on the dysfunctional effects of amotivation. *Journal of Management Development*, 41(4), 240–256.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-10-2021-0284

- Matsumoto, H., & Takenaka, K. (2022). Relationship between basic psychological needs and exercise motivation in Japanese adults: An application of self–determination theory. *Japanese Psychological Research*, 64(4), 385–396.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/jpr.12336
- Mattimoe, R., Hayden, M. T., Murphy, B., & Ballantine, J. (2021). Approaches to analysis of qualitative research data: A reflection on the manual and technological approaches. *Accounting, Finance & Governance Review, 27*(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.52399/001c.22026
- McCleskey, J. A., & Ruddell, L. (2020). Taking a step back: Maslow's theory of motivation: A Christian critical perspective. *Journal of Biblical Integration in Business*, 23(1), 6–16. https://cbfa-jbib.org/index.php/jbib
- McGrath, C., Palmgren, P. J., & Liljedahl, M. (2019). Twelve tips for conducting qualitative research interviews. *Medical Teacher*, 41(9), 1002–1006. https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2018.1497149
- McKenna, L., Copnell, B., & Smith, G. (2021). Getting the methods right: Challenges and appropriateness of mixed methods research in health-related doctoral studies.

 **Journal of Clinical Nursing, 30(3–4), 581–587.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.15534
- Menard, M. (2017). Improving employees' financial wellness: Why it matters and what employers can do about it. *Questis*, 1–11. http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3011461
- Migliaccio, J. N. (2021). Taking the high ground on financial literacy. *Journal of Financial Service Professionals*, 75(6), 12–18. https://societyoffsp.site-ym.com/

- Mihai, P-S., Iosif, M. I., Bujor, B. G., & Lucian, L-D. (2019). An exporatory study on workplace accidents and illnesses cost analysis tools. *MATEC Web of Conferences*, 290, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1051/matecconf/201929012024
- Millum, J. (2020). International clinical research and justice in The Belmont Report.

 *Perspectives in Biology and Medicine, 63(2), 374-388.

 https://doi.org/10.1353/pbm.2020.0025
- Mitchell, O. S., & Utkus, S. P. (2022). Target-date funds and portfolio choice in 401 (k) plans. *Journal of Pension Economics & Finance*, 21(4), 519-536. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1474747221000263
- Mohajan, H. K. (2018). Qualitative research methodology in social sciences and related subjects. *Journal of Economic Development, Environment and People, 7*(1), 23–48. https://doi.org/10.26458/jedep.v7i1.571
- Mokoena, A. J. (2023). Assessing the impact of human resources management practices on employee engagement in South Africa. *Journal of Public Administration,*Finance and Law, 27, 294-305. https://doi.org/10.47743/jopafl-2023-27-22
- Mori, T., Nagata, T., Nagata, M., Odagami, K., & Mori, K. (2022). Perceived supervisor support for health affects presenteeism: A cross-sectional study. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(7), 1–10.

 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19074340
- Moriña, A. (2021). When people matter: The ethics of qualitative research in the health and social sciences. *Health & Social Care in the Community*, 29(5), 1559–1565. https://doi.org/10.1111/hsc.13221

- Morris, L.S., Grehl, M.M., Rutter, S.B., Mehta, M., & Westwater, M.L (2022). On what motivates us: A detailed review of intrinsic vs. extrinsic motivation.

 *Psychological Medicine, 52, 1801–1816.

 https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291722001611
- Motulsky, S. L. (2021). Is member checking the gold standard of quality in qualitative research? *Qualitative Psychology*, 8(3), 389–406.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000215
- Muhamad, N. A. N., & Norwani, N. M. (2019). The influence of financial literacy, debt, and demographic factors on financial well-being. *International Journal of Contemporary Applied Researches*, 6(6), 92–103. www.ijcar.net
- Muñoz-Pascual, L., & Galende, J. (2017). The impact of knowledge and motivation management on creativity: Employees of innovative Spanish companies.
 Employee Relations, 39(5), 732–752. https://doi.org/10.1108/ER-05-2016-0096
- Mwita, K. (2022). Factors influencing data saturation in qualitative studies. *International Journal of Research In Business and Social Science*, 11(4), 414–420. https://doi.org/10.20525/ijrbs.v11i4.1776
- Nagle, C. (2021). Using expectancy value theory to understand motivation, persistence, and achievement in university–level foreign language learning. *Foreign Language Annals*, 54(4), 1238-1256. https://doi.org/10.1111/flan.12569
- Nahouli, Z., Dando, C. J., Mackenzie, J.-M., & Aresti, A. (2021). Rapport building and witness memory: Actions may "speak" louder than words. *PLoS ONE*, *16*(8), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0256084

- Naidu, T., & Prose, N. (2018). Re-envisioning member checking and communicating results as accountability practice in qualitative research: A South African community-based organization example. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research,* 19(3). https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-19.3.3153
- Nappi, I., & de Campos Ribeiro, G., & Cochard, N. (2020). The interplay of stress and workspace attachment on user satisfaction and workspace support to labour productivity. *Journal of Corporate Real Estate*, 22(3), 215–237. https://doi.org/10.1108/JCRE-05-2019-0026
- Negrin, K. A., Slaughter, S. E., Dahlke, S., & Olson, J. (2022). Successful recruitment to qualitative research: A critical reflection. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 21, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1177/16094069221119576
- Németh, E., Béres, D., Huzdik, K., Deák-Zsótér, B., & Mészáros, A. (2022). Teachers' financial literacy. *Public Finance Quarterly*, 67(1), 7–32. https://doi.org/10.35551/PFQ_2022_1_1
- Nishanthi, R. (2020). Understanding of the importance of mother tongue learning.

 *International Journal of Trend in Scientific Research and Development, 5(1), 77-80. www.ijtsrd.com/papers/ijtsrd35846.pdf
- Nguyen, H., Ahn, J., Belgrave, A., Lee, J., Cawelti, L., Kim, H. E., & Villavicencio, A. (2021). Establishing trustworthiness through algorithmic approaches to qualitative research. *In Advances in Quantitative Ethnography: Second International Conference*, 47-61. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-67788-6_4

- Nguyen, T. A. N., Polách, J., & Vozňáková, I. (2019). The role of financial literacy in retirement investment choice. *Equilibrium. Quarterly Journal of Economics and Economic Policy*, 14(4), 569–589. https://doi.org/10.24136/eq.2019.027
- Nicolăescu, V. G., & Toderașcu, C. (2023). Financial education as a tool for financial development. *Journal of Public Administration, Finance and Law, 27*, 323-331. https://doi.org/10.47743/jopafl-2023-27-24
- Noble, H., & Heale, R. (2019). Triangulation in research, with examples. *Evidence-Based Nursing*, 22(3), 67–68. https://doi.org/10.1136/ebnurs-2019-103145
- Novotny, E., Frank, M. G., & Grizzard, M. (2021). A laboratory study comparing the effectiveness of verbal and nonverbal rapport-building techniques in interviews.

 Communication Studies, 72(5), 819–833.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10510974.2021.1975141
- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis:

 Striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 16(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917733847
- O'Shea, M. (2022). Informed consent: Who are we informing? *Rural and Remote Health*, 22(3), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.22605/RRH7370
- Olasehinde, O., & Aigbavboa, C. (2018). Effects of financial stress of employee in construction industry. *In Proceedings of the international conference on industrial engineering and operations management*. 1548-1554.

 https://ieomsociety.org/southafrica2018/papers/215.pdf

- Ormerod, R. J. (2021). Pragmatism in professional practice. *Systems Research and Behavioral Science*, 38(6), 797–816. https://doi.org/10.1002/sres.2739
- Ozsoy, E. (2019). An empirical test of Herzberg's two-factor motivation theory.

 *Marketing and Management of Innovations, 1, 11-20.

 http://doi.org/10.21272/mmi.2019.1-01
- Park, N., Heo, W., Ruiz-Menjivar, J., & Grable, J. E. (2017). Financial hardship, social support, and perceived stress. *Journal of Financial Counseling & Planning*, 28(2), 322–332. https://doi.org/10.1891/1052-3073.28.2.322
- Pathak, A., & Rani, T. (2018). Financial literacy among female teachers in Indore City.

 International Research Journal of Indian languages, 6(7), 24–35.

 www.shabdbraham.com
- Pathiranage, Y. L., Jayatilake, L. V. K., & Abeysekera, R. (2020). Case study research design for exploration of organizational culture towards corporate performance. Review of International Comparative Management / Revista de Management Comparat International, 21(3), 361–372.

 https://doi.org/10.24818/RMCI.2020.3.361
- Pawar, N. (2020). Type of research and type research design. *Social Research Methodology*, 46-57. https://www.kdpublications.in
- Peters, K. P., Grauerholz-Fisher, E., Vollmer, T. R., & Van Arsdale, A. (2022). An evaluation of the overjustification hypothesis: A replication of Deci (1971). *Behavior Analysis: Research and Practice, 22*(3), 258–264.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/bar0000245

- Petitta, L., Probst, T. M., Ghezzi, V., & Barbaranelli, C. (2020). Economic stress, emotional contagion, and safety outcomes: A cross-country study. *Work*, 66(2), 421–435. https://doi.org/10.3233/WOR-203182
- Phetmisy, C. N., & King, D. D. (2021). The ubiquitous effects of financial stress during pandemics and beyond: Opportunities for industrial and organizational psychology. *Industrial and Organizational Psychology: Perspectives on Science and Practice*, 14(1–2), 90–93. https://doi.org/10.1017/iop.2021.16
- Prawitz, A. D., & Cohart, J. (2014). Workplace financial education facilitates improvement in personal financial behaviors. *Journal of Financial Counseling and Planning*, 25(1), 5–26. https://www.springerpub.com/journal-of-financial-counseling-and-planning.html
- Pyron, D., & Pettus, R. L. (2019). The case for financial wellness programs to unlock heightened employee engagement. *Benefits Quarterly*, *35*(4), 34–38. https://www.iscebs.org/Resources/BQ/Pages/BenefitsQuarterly.aspx
- Rachmatullah, A., Reichsman, F., Lord, T., Dorsey, C., Mott, B., Lester, J., & Wiebe, E. (2021). Modeling secondary students' genetics learning in a game-based environment: Integrating the expectancy-value theory of achievement motivation and flow theory. *Journal of Science Education & Technology*, 30(4), 511–528. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10956-020-09896-8
- Rafik, A., & Rahayu, A. S. (2020). Financial behaviour and financial wellbeing of MSMEs actors: The role of financial literacy and cognitive factors. *Jurnal Siasat Bisnis*, 24(1), 72–86. https://doi.org/10.20885/jsb.vol24.iss1.art6

- Ramadhan, N., Oktaviani, S. N., Setiawati, F., Khoirunnisyah, I., Apriliani, Y., & Antika, E. (2021). The influence of work discipline and motivation on the employee performance of BKB Nurul Fikri Bandung. *Review of International Geographical Education Online*, 11(8), 2526–2533. https://doi.org/10.48047/rigeo.11.08.234
- Ramalingam, K., & Jiar, Y. K. (2022). Influence of intrinsic and extrinsic motivation in learning among primary school students. *Central Asia & the Caucasus*, 23(1), 1884–1893. https://doi.org/10.37178/ca-c.23.1.186
- Ramanadhan, S., Revette, A.C., Lee, R.M., & Aveling, E. L. (2021). Pragmatic approaches to analyzing qualitative data for implementation science: An introduction. *Implement Sci Commun 2*, 70, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s43058-021-00174-1
- Ramlo, S. E. (2020). Divergent viewpoints about the statistical stage of a mixed method:

 Qualitative versus quantitative orientations. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 43(1), 93–111.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2019.1626365
- Ramos-Galarza, C., & Acosta-Rodas, P. (2018). Stress and productivity in workers of textile companies. *Journal of Fashion Marketing and Management: An International Journal*, 23(1), 17–29. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFMM-02-2018-0030
- Raymond, C., Profetto-McGrath, J., Myrick, F., & Strean, W. B. (2018). Process matters: Successes and challenges of recruiting and retaining participants for nursing education research. *Nurse Educator*, *43*(2), 92–96. https://doi.org/10.1097/NNE.00000000000000423

- Razak, A., Apridar, Ayyub, Muslem, A., & Hankinson, E. (2022). The influence of leadership style and organizational structure on employee performance with work motivation as an intervening variable. *International Journal of Educational Organization & Leadership*, 29(1), 103–117. https://doi.org/10.18848/2329-1656/CGP/v29i01/103-117
- Redman, B. K., & Caplan, A. L. (2021). Should the regulation of research misconduct be integrated with the ethics framework promulgated in The Belmont Report? *Ethics* & *Human Research*, 43(1), 37–41. https://doi.org/10.1002/eahr.500078
- Reid, A. M., Brown, J. M., Smith, J. M., Cope, A. C., & Jamieson, S. (2018). Ethical dilemmas and reflexivity in qualitative research. *Perspectives on Medical Education*, 7(2), 69-75. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-018-0412-2
- Reissová, A., & Papay, M. (2021). Relationship between employee engagement, job satisfaction and potential turnover. *TEM Journal*, *10*(2), 847-852. https://doi.org/10.18421/TEM102-44
- Ren, F., Zhang, Q., & Wei, X. (2021). Work autonomous and controlled motivation on Chinese employees' work performance and innovative work behaviour: The moderating role of financial stress. *Frontiers in Psychology, 12*.

 https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.676063
- Renjith V., Yesodharan, R., Noronha, J.A., Ladd, E., & George, A. (2021) Qualitative methods in health care research. *International Journal of Preventative Medicine*, 12(20), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.4103/ijpvm.IJPVM 321 19

- Rigby, C. S., & Ryan, R. M. (2018). Self-determination theory in human resource development: New directions and practical considerations. *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, 20(2), 133-147. https://doi.org/10.1177/1523422318756954
- Riznyk, D. (2018). Labour motivation management in the service enterprises. *European Cooperation*, *3*(34), 54–60. https://european-cooperation.eu
- Roa, T. M., & Biller-Andorno, N. (2022). Financial incentives for participants in health research: When are they ethical? *Swiss Medical Weekly*, *152*, 1–3. https://doi.org/10.4414/smw.2022.w30166
- Roberts, K., Dowell, A., & Nie, J-B. (2019). Attempting rigour and replicability in thematic analysis of qualitative research data: A case study of codebook development. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 19(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-019-0707-y
- Rodríguez-Cifuentes, F., Fernández-Salinero, S., Moriano, J. A., & Topa, G. (2020).

 Presenteeism, overcommitment, workplace bullying, and job satisfaction: A moderated mediation relationship. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(22)., 1–13.

 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17228616
- Romano, S., Fucci, D., Scanniello, G., Baldassarre, M. T., Turhan, B., & Juristo, N. (2021). On researcher bias in software engineering experiments. *The Journal of Systems & Software*, 182, 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jss.2021.111068

- Ross, P. T., & Bibler Zaidi, N. L. (2019). Limited by our limitations. *Perspectives on Medical Education*, 8, 261-264. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-019-00530-x
- Rowlands, J. (2021). Interviewee transcript review as a tool to improve data quality and participant confidence in sensitive research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 20, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1177/16094069211066170
- Rudov, S. V., Khairullina, N., Gareev, E. S., Koltunov, A. L., & Skifskaja, A. L. (2017).

 Labor motivation management in the oil and gas sector enterprise: A sociological approach. *Quality Access to Success, 18*(156), 119–124.

 https://submission.calitatea.ro/index.php/QAS/index
- Russell, G., Mandy, W., Elliott, D., White, R., Pittwood, T., & Ford, T. (2019). Selection bias on intellectual ability in autism research: A cross-sectional review and meta-analysis. *Molecular Autism*, 10(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13229-019-0260-x
- Ryan, M. P., & Cude, B. J. (2020). Financial advice, plan choice, and retirement plan satisfaction. *The World of Critical Care Nursing*, 32(1), 35-51.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.1891/JFCP-18-00050
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Intrinsic and extrinsic motivations: Classic definitions and new directions. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 25(1), 54-67. https://doi.org/10.1006/ceps.1999.1020
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2020). Intrinsic and extrinsic motivation from a selfdetermination theory perspective: Definitions, theory, practices, and future

- directions. *Contemporary Educational Psychology, 61*, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2020.101860
- Ryu, S., & Fan, L. (2023). The relationship between financial worries and psychological distress among U.S. adults. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*, 44, 16–33. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10834-022-09820-9
- Sabri, M. F., & Aw, E. C.-X. (2020). Untangling financial stress and workplace productivity: A serial mediation model. *Journal of Workplace Behavioral Health*, 35(4), 211–231. https://doi.org/10.1080/15555240.2020.1833737
- Sabri, M., Wijekoon, R., & Rahim, H. (2020). The influence of money attitude, financial practices, self-efficacy, and emotion coping on employees' financial well-being.

 Management Science Letters, 10(4), 889-900. www.GrowingScience.com/msl
- Saks, A. M. (2022). Caring human resources management and employee engagement.

 Human Resource Management Review, 32(3), 1-15.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2021.100835
- Sanchez-Gomez, M., Giorgi, G., Finstad, G. L., Alessio, F., Ariza-Montes, A., Arcangeli, G., & Mucci, N. (2021). Economic stress at work: Its impact over absenteeism and innovation. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(10), 1-5. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18105265
- Sanjari, M., Bahramnezhad, F., Fomani, F. M., Shoghi, M., & Cheraghi, M. A. (2015).

 Ethical challenges of researchers in qualitative studies: the necessity to develop a specific guideline. *Journal of Medical Ethics and History of Medicine*, 7(1), 1–6.

 https://jmehm.tums.ac.ir/index.php/jmehm

- Sansone, C., & Tang, Y. (2021). Intrinsic and extrinsic motivation and self-determination theory. *Motivation Science*, 7(2), 113–114. https://doi.org/10.1037/mot0000234
- Schreier, A. A., Wilson, K., & Resnik, D. (2006). Academic research record-keeping:

 Best practices for individuals, group leaders, and institutions. *Academic Medicine: Journal of the Association of American Medical Colleges*, 81(1), 42–47.

 https://doi.org/10.1097/00001888-200601000-00010
- Sebele-Mpofu, F. Y. (2020) Saturation controversy in qualitative research: Complexities and underlying assumptions. *Cogent Social Sciences*, 6(1), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311886.2020.1838706
- Semedo, C.S., Salvador, A., Dos Santos, N.R., Pais. L., & Mónico, L. (2022). Toxic leadership and empowering leadership: Relations with work motivation.

 Psychology Research and Behavior Management, 15, 1885–1900.

 https://doi.org/10.2147/PRBM.S340863
- Shamsuddin, N., & Kaur, J. (2020). Students' learning style and its effect on blended learning, does it matter? *International Journal of Evaluation and Research in Education*, 9(1), 195-202. https://doi.org/10.11591/ijere.v9i1.20422
- Sharma, M. K., Chaturvedi, S. K., & Suma, N. (2020). Technology use expression of Maslow's hierarchy need. *Asian Journal of Psychiatry*, 48, 1–2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajp.2019.101895
- Shepherd, J. (2020). Generational differences in learning style preferences among adult learners in the United States. *Journal of Behavioral & Social Sciences*, 7(2), 137–159. https://www.jbssjournal.org/

- Siciliano, V., Rizek, B., & Veld, D. (2019). Financial wellness in the workplace: Getting back to the basics. *Plans & Trusts*, 37(6), 16–21. https://www.ifebp.org/
- Silverio, S. A., Sheen, K. S., Bramante, A., Knighting, K., Koops, T. U., Montgomery, E., November, L., Soulsby, L. K., Stevenson, J. H., Watkins, M., Easter, A., & Sandall, J. (2022). Sensitive, challenging, and difficult topics: Experiences and practical considerations for qualitative researchers. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 21, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1177/16094069221124739
- Sim, J., & Waterfield, J. (2019). Focus group methodology: Some ethical challenges.

 *Quality & Quantity, 53(6), 3003-3022. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-019-00914-5
- Simpson, B., & den Hond, F. (2022). The contemporary resonances of classical pragmatism for studying organization and organizing. *Organization Studies*, 43(1), 127-146. https://doi.org/10.1177/0170840621991689
- Sinclair, R. R., & Cheung, J. H. (2016). Money matters: Recommendations for financial stress research in occupational health psychology. *Stress & Health: Journal of the International Society for the Investigation of Stress*, 32(3), 181–193.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/smi.2688
- Smith, C. M., & Sweet, J. (2021). Analyzing the relationship between Maslow's hierarchy of needs and consumer spending patterns. *Journal of Financial Service Professionals*, 75(4), 68–79.

https://national.societyoffsp.org/page/jfsp currentissue

- Springer, M. V., Skolarus, L. E., & Patel, M. (2023). Food insecurity and perceived financial stress are associated with cost-related medication non-adherence in stroke. *Journal of Health Care for the Poor & Underserved, 34*(2), 625–639. https://doi.org/10.1353/hpu.2023.0054
- Stahl, N. A., & King, J. R. (2020). Expanding approaches for research: Understanding and using trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Journal of Developmental Education*, 44(1), 26–28. https://journals.library.appstate.edu
- Staller, K. M. (2021). Big enough? Sampling in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Social*Work, 20(4), 897–904. https://doi.org/10.1177/14733250211024516
- Stanišić, N., & Čerović, S. (2021). Application of self-determination theory on the motivation structure of hotel management employees. *Serbian Journal of Management*, 16(2), 391–404. https://doi.org/10.5937/sjm16-31908
- Ştefan, S. C., Popa, S. C., & Albu, C. F. (2020). Implications of Maslow's hierarchy of needs theory on healthcare employees' performance. *Transylvanian Review of Administrative Sciences*, 16(59), 124–143. https://doi.org/10.24193/tras.59E.7
- Stenfors, T., Kajamaa, A., & Bennett, D. (2020). How to assess the quality of qualitative research. *The Clinical Teacher*, 17(6), 596-599. https://doi.org/10.1111/tct.13242
- Sticha, A., & Sekita, S. (2023). The importance of financial literacy: Evidence from Japan. *Journal of Financial Literacy and Wellbeing, 1*(2), 244-262. https://doi.org/10.1017/flw.2023.9

- Stompff, G., van Bruinessen, T., & Smulders, F. (2022). The generative dance of design inquiry: Exploring Dewey's pragmatism for design research. *Design Studies*, 83, 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.destud.2022.101136
- Sun, Y., Zhang, Y., & Shen, X.-L. (2022). Will extrinsic motivation motivate or demotivate knowledge contributors? A moderated mediation analysis. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 26(9), 2255–2274. https://doi.org/10.1108/JKM-01-2021-0048
- Sürücü, L., & Maslakçi, A. (2020). Validity and reliability in quantitative research.

 *Business & Management Studies: An International Journal, 8(3), 2694-2726.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.15295/bmij.v8i3.1540
- Suryono, W., Haryanto, B. B., Santosa, T. A., Rahman, A., & Sappaile, B. I. (2023). The effect of the blended learning model on student critical thinking skill: Meta-analysis. *Edumaspul: Jurnal Pendidikan*, 7(1), 1386-1397.
- Sweet, E. (2021). Debt-related financial hardship and health. *Health Education & Behavior*, 48(6), 885–891. https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198120976352
- Taherdoost, H. (2022). Different types of data analysis; data analysis methods and techniques in research projects. *International Journal of Academic Research in Management*, 9(1), 1-9. https://hal.science/hal-03741837
- Tamm, A., Otzipka, J., & Volbert, R. (2021). Assessing the individual interviewer rapport-building and supportive techniques of the R-NICHD protocol. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.659438

- Tanay, M. A. L., Armes, J., Oakley, C., Sage, L., Tanner, D., Roca, J., Bryson, L., Greenall, B., Urwin, L., Wyatt, T., & Robert, G. (2022). Co-designing a cancer care intervention: Reflections of participants and a doctoral researcher on roles and contributions. Research Involvement and Engagement, 8(1), 1–15.
 https://doi.org/10.1186/s40900-022-00373-7
- Theofanidis, D., & Fountouki, A. (2018). Limitations and delimitations in the research process. *Perioperative Nursing*, 7(3), 155–163. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.2552022
- Thomas, D. B., Oenning, N. S. X., & de Goulart, B. N. G. (2018). Essential aspects in the design of data collection instruments in primary health research. *Revista CEFAC*, 20(5), 657–664. https://doi.org/10.1590/1982-021620182053218
- Tian, X., & Park, K. H., (2022). Learning approaches influence on college students' digital literacy: The role of self-determination theory. *International Journal of Emerging Technologies in Learning*, 17(14), 78–93.

 https://doi.org/10.3991/ijet.v17i14.31413
- Torrentira, M. C., Jr. (2020). Online data collection as adaptation in conducting quantitative and qualitative research during the COVID-19 pandemic. *European Journal of Education Studies*, 7(11). http://dx.doi.org/10.46827/ejes.v7i11.3336
- Tulloch, J. (2018). Building a successful workplace financial wellness program. *Benefits Quarterly*, 34(3), 12-14.

https://www.iscebs.org/Resources/BQ/Pages/BenefitsQuarterly.aspx

- Tuval-Mashiach, R. (2021). Is replication relevant for qualitative research? *Qualitative Psychology*, 8(3), 365–377. https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000217
- Tzenios, N. (2020). Clustering students for personalized health education based on learning styles. *Sage Science Review of Educational Technology*, *3*(1), 22–36. https://journals.sagescience.org/index.php/ssret/article/view/22
- Vaismoradi, M., & Snelgrove, S. (2019). Theme in qualitative content analysis and thematic analysis. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 20(3), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-20.3.3376
- van der Voet, J., & Steijn, B. (2021). Team innovation through collaboration: How visionary leadership spurs innovation via team cohesion, *Public Management Review*, 23(9), 1275-1294. https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2020.1743344
- van der Vyver, C. P., & Geduld, B. W. (2022). Self-determination theory as a lens to explore motivational factors and leadership influences in sustainable school improvement: A South African case. South African Journal of Education, 42(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.15700/saje.v42n1a2049
- van Vuren, F. J., Fouché, J., Barnard, J., & de Beer, L. (2018). Modelling personal financial wellbeing on employee cost in the South African manufacturing sector.

 International Journal of Business and Management Studies, 10(1), 80-95.

 https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/journal
- Vasileiou, K., Barnett, J., Thorpe, S., & Young, T. (2018). Characterising and justifying sample size sufficiency in interview-based studies: Systematic analysis of

- qualitative health research over a 15-year period. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 18, 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-018-0594-7
- Vaughn, P., & Turner, C. (2016). Decoding via coding: Analyzing qualitative text data through thematic coding and survey methodologies. *Journal of Library Administration*, 56(1), 41–51. https://doi.org/10.1080/01930826.2015.1105035
- Verheyen, T., Kohn, T., & Diersch, B. (2018). A practical guide to workplace financial wellness considerations, assessment, and implementation. *Journal of Pension Planning & Compliance*, 44(1), 78–90. https://lrus.wolterskluwer.com/
- Verne, J. (2014). Financial wellness programs to reduce employee stress. *Compensation and Benefits Review*, 46(5–6), 304–308. https://doi.org/
 10.1177/0886368714566150
- Vu, T. T. N. (2021). Understanding validity and reliability from qualitative and quantitative research traditions. VNU Journal of Foreign Studies, 37(3). 1-9. https://doi.org/10.25073/2525-2445/vnufs.4672
- Vuban, J. A., & Eta, E. A. (2019). Negotiating access to research sites and participants within an African context: The case of Cameroon. *Research Ethics Review*, 15(1), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1177/1747016118798874
- Wadams, M., & Park, T. (2018). Qualitative research in correctional settings: Researcher bias, western ideological influences, and social justice. *Journal of Forensic Nursing*, 14(2), 72–79. https://doi.org/10.1097/JFN.00000000000000199
- Wahyuny, I. N., Murtini, W., & Hakim, L. (2018). Effectiveness of education module implementation on increasing Islamic financial literacy and halal literacy of

- MSMEs perpetrators. *Jurnal Dinamika Akuntansi*, 10(1), 51-58. http://dx.doi.org/10.15294/jda.v10i1.12516
- Walstad, W., Urban, C., J. Asarta, C., Breitbach, E., Bosshardt, W., Heath, J., O'Neill, B., Wagner, J., & Xiao, J. J. (2017). Perspectives on evaluation in financial education: Landscape, issues, and studies. *Journal of Economic Education*, 48(2), 93–112. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220485.2017.1285738
- Wambugu, L., & Njoroge, N. (2022). The search for understanding of mixed method research among graduate students: A case of learners in the School of Continuing and Distance Education, University of Nairobi, Kenya. *Quality & Quantity:*International Journal of Methodology, 56(2), 843–855.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-021-01150-6
- Wang, C., Zhang, Y., Moss, J. D., Bonem, E. M., & Levesque-Bristol, C. (2020).
 Multilevel factors affecting college students' perceived knowledge transferability:
 From the perspective of self-determination theory. *Research in Higher Education*,
 61(8), 1002–1026. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11162-020-09592-x
- Wang, X., Lin, X., & Spencer, M. K. (2019). Exploring the effects of extrinsic motivation on consumer behaviors in social commerce: Revealing consumers' perceptions of social commerce benefits. *International Journal of Information Management*, 45, 163-175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2018.11.010
- Ward, G. (2017). Calculating ROI: Measuring the benefits of workplace financial wellness. *Pension Section News*, 24–27. www.soa.org

- Weinstein, N., & Stone, D. N. (2018). Need depriving effects of financial insecurity:

 Implications for well-being and financial behaviors. *Journal of Experimental*Psychology: General, 147 (10), 1503-1520. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/xge0000436
- Whiffin, C. J., Smith, B. G., Selveindran, S. M., Bashford, T., Esene, I. N., Mee, H.,
 Barki, M. T., Baticulon, R. E., Khu, K. J., Hutchinson, P. J., & Kolias, A. G.
 (2022). The value and potential of qualitative research methods in neurosurgery.
 World Neurosurgery, 161, 441–449. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2021.12.040
- Williams, P. (2020) 'It all sounds very interesting, but we're just too busy!': Exploring why 'gatekeepers' decline access to potential research participants with learning disabilities. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 35(1), 1-14.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/08856257.2019.1687563
- Winick, K. (2019). Pioneering workplace financial wellness. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 33(1), 151–153. https://doi.org/10.1177/0890117118812822c
- Wiseman, N., Rossmann, C., & Harris, N. (2019). A systematic review of data collection techniques used to measure preschool children's knowledge of and preference for physical activity. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16(6), 1–15. https://doi:10.3390/ijerph16060964
- Xu, J. (2022). A profile analysis of online assignment motivation: Combining achievement goal and expectancy-value perspectives. *Computers & Education*, 177, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2021.104367

- Yao, R., Wu, W., & Mendenhall, C. (2020). Use of advisors and retirement plan performance. *Journal of Financial Counseling and Planning*, 31(2), 342-356. http://dx.doi.org/10.1891/JFCP-18-00087
- Yean, T. F., Lee chin, T., & Sanjeevkumar, V. (2020). Determinants of presenteeism and intention to stay: A two-wave study. *Global Business & Management Research*, 12(4), 384–391. http://www.gbmrjournal.com/
- Yee, T., & Smith, R. P. (2022). Utilizing self-determination theory in teaching the research and evaluation course. *Journal of Counselor Preparation & Supervision*, 15(2), 557–575. https://digitalcommons.sacredheart.edu/jcps/vol15/iss2/17
- Yu, R., Small, D. S., Harding, D., Aveldanes, J., & Rosenbaum, P. R. (2021). Optimal matching for observational studies that integrate quantitative and qualitative research. *Statistics and Public Policy*, 8(1), 42–52.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/2330443X.2021.1919260
- Yue, C., & Xu, X. (2019). Review of quantitative methods used in Chinese educational research, 1978-2018. ECNU *Review of Education*, 2(4), 515–543. https://doi.org/10.1177/2096531119886692
- Yusof, M. Y. P. M., Teo, C. H., & Ng, C. J. (2022). Electronic informed consent criteria for research ethics review: A scoping review. *BMC Medical Ethics*, 23(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12910-022-00849-x
- ZHang, X., & Xiong, X. (2020). Is financial education an effective means to improve financial literacy? Evidence from rural China. *Agricultural Finance Review*, 80(3), 305–320. https://doi.org/10.1108/AFR-03-2019-0027

- Zhang, Y., & Liu, S.-M. (2022). Balancing employees' extrinsic requirements and intrinsic motivation: A paradoxical leader behaviour perspective. *European Management Journal*, 40(1), 127–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2021.11.008
- Zutlevics, T. L. (2016). Could providing financial incentives to research participants be ultimately self-defeating? *Research Ethics*, *12*(3), 137–148.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1747016115626756

Appendix: Interview Protocol

Interview Protocol	
What you will do	What you will say—script
Introduce the interview and set the stage—often over a meal or coffee	Thank you for taking the time to meet with me today. Today's session should last about an hour.
 Watch for non-verbal queues Paraphrase as needed Ask follow-up probing questions to get more in depth 	1. What were the motivating factors that caused you to implement strategies to address employee financial stress/wellness? 2. What types of strategies do you utilize to address employee financial stress/wellness? 3. How do you determine the effectiveness of these strategies? 4. What strategies are the most effective to address employee financial stress/wellness? 5. What strategies are the least effective to address employee financial stress/wellness? 6. What do you hope that employees gain from participating in strategies that address financial stress? 7. What do you hope to gain by offering strategies that address financial stress/wellness? 8. What do you think you could do to improve the effectiveness of your financial stress/wellness strategies? 9. What role do any external partners play in participating in your financial stress/wellness strategies? 10. What else would you like to share about your financial stress/wellness strategies?
Wrap up interview thanking participant	Thank you very much for taking the time to meet with me today. I appreciate you sharing your comments about how you are helping your employees deal with their financial issues.